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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 1-10485

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 75-2303920
(I.R.S. employer
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) identification no.)
5101 Tennyson Parkway
Plano, Texas 75024
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (972) 713-3700
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading_symbol Name of each exchange on which registered

COMMON STOCK, $0.01 PAR VALUE TYL New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes O nNo

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No [J

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filer pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information
statements incorporated by reference in Part Ill of the Form 10-K or any amendment to the Form 10-K. Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically, and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data file required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation

S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes No I
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer",
"accelerated filer”, "smaller reporting company", and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer Accelerated Filer O
Non-accelerated Filer (Do not check if smaller reporting company) O Smaller Reporting Company O
Emerging Growth Company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial

accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting
under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of

an error to previously issued financial statements. g

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant
recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). Yes 0 No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act.) Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report Yes X No O

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was $13,686,594,900 $17,373,822,183 based on the reported last sale price of common stock on June 30, 2022 June 30, 2023, which is the
last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter.
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The number of shares of common stock of the registrant outstanding on February 21, 2023 February 20, 2024 was 41,819,280. 42,276,136.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain information required by Part Il of this annual report is incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 11, 2023 May 9, 2024.
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Tyler Technologies, Inc. (“Tyler”) is a major leading provider of integrated information software and technology management solutions and services for the public sector. Our
solutions empower local, state, and federal government entities to create smarter, safer, and stronger communities. We partner with clients to make government more accessible

to offer the public, more responsive to the needs of citizens and more efficient in its operations. We have a broad line broadest range of software solutions and services designed for
every level of public sector government agency. Our solutions deliver mission-critical technology to address support the essential functions of government, including public safety,
justice, public health, taxation and budgeting, infrastructure and land use, outdoor recreation, utility and civic services, regulation, K-12 education, and social services. We provide
both the back-office systems-of-record that serve the operational needs of specific government agencies, as well as platform technology solutions that are designed to integrate with
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our back-office solutions and be deployed and connected across many agencies. Examples of transformative platform technologies include our market-leading payments platform,
data platform, low-code application development platform, and digital resident experience solutions.

We maintain deep, long-term relationships with state and local government agencies, including dedicated state-level offices in the 28 states in which we have enterprise contracts.
Our professional information technology (“IT") needs of major areas of operations for cities, counties, schools and other government entities. We offer clients delivery of our services
include cloud-based software applications through software as a service (“SaaS”) and on-premise solutions. In recent years, substantially all of the Tyler’s products are sold through
subscriptions delivered as SaaS. We provide professional IT services to our clients, including software and hardware installation, deployment, data conversion, training and at times,
product madifications. In addition, we are the nation’s largest provider of outsourced property appraisal services for taxing jurisdictions. training. We also provide continuing client
support services to ensure product performance and reliability, which provides providing us with long-term client relationships and a significant base of recurring maintenance
revenue. We provide digital government services and payment solutions. In addition, we provide electronic document filing (“e-filing”) solutions, which simplify the filing and
management of court documents.

MARKET OVERVIEW

The federal, state, and local government public sector market is one of the largest and most decentralized IT markets in the country, consisting of hundreds of federal agencies, all
50 states, approximately 3,000 counties, 36,000 cities and towns, and 12,900 12,600 school districts. This market is also comprised of approximately 38,000 40,000 special districts
and other agencies, each with specialized delegated responsibilities and unique information management requirements.

Traditionally, local Today, government bodies agencies play an essential role in all aspects of society, including providing protection and agencies performed state-mandated duties,
including property assessment, record keeping, road maintenance, law enforcement, administration of election security, delivering public services, ensuring public health, effectively
administrating public resources, developing and judicial functions, enforcing regulations, and maintaining engagement with the provision of welfare assistance. Today, a host of
emerging and urgent issues are confronting local governments, each of which demands a service response. These areas include criminal justice and corrections, administration and
finance, public safety, health and human services, planning, regulatory and maintenance and records and document management. Transfers of responsibility from the federal and
state governments to county and municipal governments and agencies in these and other areas also place additional service and financial requirements on these local government
units. public. In addition, an increasingly digital world, constituents of local governments are increasingly demanding improved expect more transparency, frictionless service, and
better access to information online experiences from public entities. As a result, local governments government entities recognize the increasing value of information management
systems and services to, among other things, improve transactional revenue collection, provide transparency and increased access to information, and streamline the delivery of
services to their constituents. Local government Government bodies are now recognizing that “e-government” recognize “digital government” is an additional responsibility not just a
modern convenience, but a requirement for community development. good governance. From integrated tax systems to integrated civil public safety and criminal justice information
systems to systems that integrate tax, finance, infrastructure, and land use processes, many counties and cities jurisdictions have benefited significantly from the implementation of
jurisdiction-wide systems that allow different agencies or government offices to share data and provide a more comprehensive approach to information management. Many city and
county governmental agencies also have unique individual information management requirements, which must be tailored to the specific functions

Agencies at all levels of each particular office.

Many local governments also have difficulties government face challenges in attracting and retaining the staff necessary to support their IT functions. operations. As a result, they
seek to establish long-term relationships with reliable providers of high quality high-quality IT products and services such as Tyler.

Although local governments often face budgetary constraints in their operations, their primary revenue sources are usually property, taxes, business, and to a lesser extent, utility
billings sales tax revenue, as well as transactional fees and other fees, service charges, which historically tend to be relatively stable. Government agencies increasingly rely on
digital payment solutions to streamline the collection and distribution of government funds. In addition, the acquisition of new modern technology typically enables local governments
to operate more efficiently more and securely and often provides a measurable return on investment that justifies the purchase of software and related services.

Gartner, Inc., a leading information technology research and advisory company, estimates thatthat: state and local government application and vertical specific software spending
will are expected to grow from $27.8 billion $31.8 billion in 2023 2024 to $40.0 billion $46.9 billion in 2026. The 2027; professional services and support segments of the that market
are expected to expand from $33.5 billion $36.4 billion in 2023 2024 to $41.9 billion $46.8 billion in 2026. Application 2027; application and vertical specific software sales in the
primary and secondary education segments of the market is are expected to expand from $5.4 billion $6.2 billion in 20232024 to $6.6 billion $8.6 billion in 2026 2027 while related
professional services and support are expected to grow from $5.1 billion $5.7 billion in 2023 2024 to $6.1 billion $7.5 billion in 2026. 2027. For the national and international
government markets, Gartner estimates that application and vertical specific software sales is are expected to expand from $42.2 billion $48.0 billion in 2023 2024 to $61.5

billion $71.9 billion in 2026 2027, while related professional services and support are expected to grow from $65.6 billion $71.6 billion in 2023 2024 to $82.1 billion $93.5 billion in
2026.2027.

Tyler is a leading provider of integrated solutions for the public sector. Tyler management believes we compete based on several key factors, including:

. The breadth, depth, and quality of our product and service offerings
. Deep industry expertise with proven implementation success

. Technological innovation

. Name recognition, reputation, and references

. Value and return-on-investment

. Financial strength and stability

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We provide a comprehensive and flexible suite of products and services that addresses the information technology needs of cities, counties, states, schools, federal agencies, and
other government entities.

We design, develop, market, and support a broad range of software solutions to serve mission-critical “back-office” functions of the public sector. Many of our back-office software
applications include Internet-accessible integrate with our transformative platform solutions, such as our unified payments platform, data and insights platform, and digital public
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engagement solutions that allow for real-time public access to a variety of information or that allow the public to transact business with governments online. Our software solutions
and services are provided through seven business units, which focus on the following products:

< financial management, education and planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

« financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

¢ courts and justice and public safety software solutions;

« data and insights solutions;

e appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services;
« development platform solutions including case management and business process management; and

« digital government and payments solutions.

Each of our core software solutions consists of several fully integrated applications. For clients who acquire software for use on premises, we generally license our solutions under
standard perpetual license agreements that provide the client with a fully paid, nonexclusive, nontransferable right to use the software. In some of the product areas, such as
financial management and education and property appraisal and tax, we offer multiple solutions designed to meet the needs of different sized governments.

We also offer SaaS arrangements for clients who do not wish to maintain, update and operate these systems or to make up-front capital expenditures to implement these advanced
technologies. For these clients, the software and client data are hosted at our data centers or at third-party locations, and clients typically sign multi-year contracts for these
subscription-based services.

A description of our primary suites of products and services follows:
Financial Management and Education Platform & Transformative Technology Solutions

Our financial management platform and education transformative technology solutions create the foundation for government innovation and enhance our clients’ ability to connect
with constituents, conduct business, collect and disburse funds, safeguard systems, and leverage data to its fullest. Many of these solutions are enterprise resource planning
systems integrated into our products, while others can be leveraged as add-on solutions. Our platform & transformative technology solutions include:

* Cybersecurity: Augments government agencies’ resources with access to advanced expertise for program design, 24/7 threat detection and response, customized
employee training, vulnerability testing, and more.

« Data & Insights: Allows agencies to transform data into insights about financial, operational, and strategic outcomes by making it easier to surface meaningful data for
informing government decisions and citizens.

« Digital Solutions: Provides a seamless cross-department experience so that agencies can deliver a unified citizen experience and achieve better outcomes while helping
workers and policymakers share, communicate, and leverage data more effectively.

e Payments: As the leading platform for public sector payment processes nearly half a billion transactions annually and covers the entire payments life cycle, including billing,
presentment, merchant onboarding, collections, reconciliation, and disbursements.

¢ Platform Technologies: A low-code application development platform purpose-built for the public sector. Enables government workers to quickly build solutions and
applications that suit their needs.

« Outdoor Recreation: Designed specifically for local, state, and federal outdoor agencies, our solutions encompass campsite reservations, activity registrations, licensing
sales and renewals, and real-time data for conservation and park management.

Public Administration Solutions

Our public administration solutions connect the dots between departments, agencies, municipalities, and states to deliver the core business functions of the public sector. By making
it easier to manage the business side of the public sector, which integrate information across all facets of agencies can focus on delivering the resources and services required to
make their community a client organization. place where people want to live. Our financial public administration solutions include:

* Civic Services: Business management and community development solutions include modular fund accounting systems that can be tailored to meet the needs of virtually
any government agency or not-for-profit entity. Our financial management systems include modules for general ledger, budget preparation, fixed assets, requisitions,
purchase orders, bid management, accounts payable, contract management, accounts receivable, investment management, inventory control, project manage permitting,
enforcement, health and grant accounting, safety inspections, compliance, maintenance and work orders, job costing, GASB reporting, payroll 311 requests, and more.

* ERP: Integrates core financial applications with human resources. All of our financial resources, revenue management, systems are intended to conform to government
auditing and financial reporting requirements and generally accepted accounting principles.

We sell utility tax billing, systems that support the billing and collection of metered and non-metered services, along with multiple billing cycles. Our Web-enabled utility billing
solutions allow clients to access information online such as average consumption and transaction history. In addition, our systems can accept secured Internet payments via credit
cards and checks.

We also offer specialized products that automate numerous city and county functions, including municipal courts, parking tickets, equipment and project costing, animal licenses,
business licenses, permits and inspections, code enforcement, citizen complaint tracking, ambulance billing, fleet maintenance, and cemetery records management.

In addition to providing financial management systems to K-12 schools, we sell student information systems for K-12 schools, which manage such activities as scheduling, grades
and attendance. We also offer student transportation solutions to manage school bus routing optimization, fleet management, field trips and other related functions.

Tyler's financial utilities, asset management, and education solutions include Web components that enhance governments’ service capabilities by facilitating online access to
information for both employees and citizens and enabling online transactions. payment processing.

Courts and Justice
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We offer a complete, fully integrated suite of judicial solutions designed to handle complex, multi-jurisdictional county or statewide implementations as well as single county systems.
Our solutions help eliminate duplicate data entry, promote more effective business procedures, and improve efficiency across the entire justice process.

Our unified court case management system is designed to automate the tracking and management of information involved in all case types, including criminal, traffic, civil, family,
probate and juvenile courts. It also tracks the status of cases, processes fines and fees and generates the specialized judgment and sentencing documents, notices and forms
required in the court process. Documents received by the court can be scanned into the electronic case file and easily retrieved for viewing. Documents generated by the court can
be electronically signed and automatically attached to the electronic case file. Additional modules automate the management of court calendars, coordinate judges' schedules and
generate court dockets. Our targeted courtroom technologies allow courts to rapidly review calendars, cases and view documents in the courtroom. Courts may also take advantage
of our related jury management system. We also offer a solution for online dispute resolution that automates the flow and resolution of common and historically time-consuming
disputes including debt, landlord, tenant, small claims, child custody and other case types.

Our court and law enforcement systems allow the public to access, via the Internet, a variety of information, including non-confidential criminal and civil court records, jail booking
and release information, bond and bondsmen information, and court calendars and dockets. In addition, our systems allow cities and counties to accept payments for traffic and
parking tickets over the Internet, with a seamless and automatic interface to back-office justice and financial systems.

Our prosecutor system enables state attorney offices to track and manage criminal cases, including detailed victim information and private case notes. Investigative reports and
charging instrument documents can be generated and stored for later viewing. Prosecutors can schedule and record the outcome of grand jury hearings. When integrated with the
court system, prosecutors can view the electronic case file and related documents, as well as manage witness lists and subpoenas needed for court hearings.

Our supervision system allows pre-trial and probation offices to manage offender caseloads. Supervision officers can track contact schedules, risk/needs assessments and
reassessments, detailed drug test results, employment histories, compliance with conditions and payments of fees and restitution. Documents and forms, like pre-sentence
investigations or revocation orders, can be generated and stored for easy viewing. When integrated with the jail and court systems, supervision officers obtain easy access and
quick notification of offenders that have court hearings scheduled, are arrested locally, and have new warrants issued.

We also offer a court case management solution that automates and trackse  Property & Recording: Manages all aspects of municipal the property tax life cycle, including
appraisal services, valuation, tax billing and collections, assessment administration, and land and official records.

* Regulatory: Permitting, licensing and regulatory management help local, state, and federal government agencies and departments of any size simplify every aspect of
regulatory compliance.

Courts & Public Safety Solutions

Our integrated courts and offices. It is a fully integrated, graphical application that provides effective case management, document processing and cash/bond management. This
system complies with all state reporting and conviction reports and includes electronic reporting and also integrates with certain of our financial management solutions and public
safety solutions.

Also our product solutions provide a suite of financial and communications applications ranging from deposit technologies for commissary, ordering, and warehouse technology to a
host of informational, electronic communications, security, accounting, and financial trust management components for correctional facilities.

Public Safety

Our public safety software is a fully unified and comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911 / computer aided dispatch (“CAD"), records management,
mobile computing, corrections management, Web-based information sharing and decision support. The modules are fully integrated, utilizing a common database and providing full
functionality between modules, reducing data entry. The software provides fast, efficient dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actionable information from an
agency’s database.

Our 911 / CAD solutions provide real-time, critical response dispatch functions in either single- or multi-jurisdictional environments. When integrated with our records management

software, a vital link exists between dispatch and the most comprehensive records database available. Within seconds, the dispatch operator and the officer in the field can access
critical information, such as prior incidents and outstanding warrants, increasing officer knowledge and safety. The solutions offer strong geographic information systems integration
to help dispatchers quickly locate and send the best response during an emergency. Our 911 / CAD solutions dramatically improve performance, response time and unit safety.

Our records management solutions for law enforcement and fire track statistical, operational, investigative and management data for inquiry and reporting. The systems create an
efficient case processing workflow and help solve crimes with an accessible database that maintains central files on people, places, property, vehicles and criminal activity. Our
public safety records management solutions enable easy access to information and simplify reporting.

Our mobile computing solutions for law enforcement and fire provide instant access to local, state, regional and federal databases via mobile devices. Officers and firefighters can
experience the benefits of obtaining critical, real-time information in the field, while saving time by preparing reports directly in their vehicles.

Our jail management systems document and manage information that meets the requirements of a modern jail facility. This includes the booking and housing of persons in custody,
supervising defendants on a pre-trial release, maintaining offenders sentenced to local incarceration and billing other agencies for housing inmates. Searching, reporting and
tracking features are integrated, allowing reliable, up-to-date access to current arrest and incarceration data, including digital mug shots. Our systems also provide warrant checks
for visitors or book-ins, inmate classification and risk assessment, commissary, property and medical processing, automation of statistics, and state and federal reporting.

Our civil processing solutions manage civil process needs from document receipt through service, payment process and final closeout. We also have a mobile electronic citation
solution through which law enforcement officers can easily enter citation information in a mobile device, which is automatically uploaded into the court or public safety records
management systems, rather than hand-writing citations that must be re-entered into the systems.

Property Appraisal and Tax

We provide systems and software that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property, including record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and protest tracking,
appraisal and tax roll generation, tax statement processing, and electronic state-level reporting. These systems are image and video-enabled to facilitate the storage of and access
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to the many property-related documents and for the online storage of digital photographs of properties for use in defending values in protest situations. Other related tax applications
are available for agencies that bill and collect taxes, including cities, counties, school tax offices, and special taxing and collection agencies. These systems support billing,
collections, lock box operations, mortgage company electronic payments, and various reporting requirements.

Planning, Regulatory and Maintenance

Our planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions are designed for public sector agencies such as community development, planning, building, code enforcement, tax
and revenues, public works, transportation, land control, environmental, fire safety, storm water management, regulatory controls and engineering. These solutions help public
sector agencies better manage their day-to-day business functions while streamlining and automating used at the many aspects of their land management, permitting and planning
systems. Our mobile solutions extend automation to the field and Web access brings online services to citizens 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.

Land and Vital Records Management

We also offer a number of specialized software applications designed to help local governments enhance and automate operations involving records and document management.
These systems record, scan and index information for the many documents maintained by local governments, such as deeds, mortgages, liens, UCC financing statements and vital
records (birth, death and marriage certificates). These applications include fully integrated imaging systems with batch and scan processing capabilities and fully integrated
receipting and cashiering systems, as well as Web-enabled public access.

Our content management solutions allow state and local governments and school districts to capture, deliver, manage and archive electronic information. These solutions streamline
the flow of digital information throughout the organization to increase efficiency by transforming paper forms and documents into electronic images that drive key business
processes.

Data and Insights

Our data and insights solutions make existing government data discoverable, usable, and actionable for government workers and the people they serve. The data and insights
solution includes a data-as-a-service platform and cloud applications for open data and citizen engagement, exclusively for city, municipal, county, state, and federal government
organizations. Our data and insights solutions allow government levels to analyze, visualize, and securely share data across multiple help courts, prosecutors, defenders, jails,
sheriff's offices, police departments, and programs. These probation officers keep their communities safe. Our courts and public safety solutions deliver data-driven

innovation include:

« Corrections: Connects courts, public safety, and cost-savings by bringing together disparate systems supervision agencies to ensure safer and leveraging the cloud to
dramatically enhance the effectiveness of government programs, to improve quality of life more efficient operations for residents, to positively impact local economies, and to
achieve excellence in government operations. correctional facilities.

Platform Technologies

We offer a low-code application development platform solution fors  Courts & Justice: Provides case management and business process management. Whether based on
premises or in shares data with all justice partners by connecting courts, prosecutors, public defenders, and the cloud, its Data-First™ approach allows the application filing
community.

« Public Safety: Integrated public safety solutions designed to be implemented immediately comply with state and configured continuously, enabling clients federal reporting
mandates, provide real-time information and instant data sharing across jurisdictions, and promote intelligence-led responses so that help arrives faster and more prepared.

K-12 Education Solutions

Our integrated school solutions enable districts to get operate as a single system across campuses and functions. By bringing data together and making it accessible as needed to
work quickly while keeping costs low. Our low code application platform allows government agencies the administrators, teachers, students, bus drivers, and parents, we are able to
improve everyone'’s ability to track, collaborate, support the educational journey. Our K—12 Education solutions include:

* School ERP: Manages K-12 schools’ most essential business functions by integrating financial, budgeting, and report on procurement data. Our suite of human resource
management tools helps schools efficiently manage payroll and employee information and hire and retain qualified teachers, staff, and substitutes.

« Student Transportation: Manages every aspect of the student transportation operation with integrated software and telematic hardware solutions to help ensure operational
efficiency and cost-effectiveness.

Health & Human Services Solutions

Our integrated solutions enable health and human service agencies to leverage data that drives activities forward. and optimize operations to better maintain the well-being of
communities. Our health & human services solutions include:

* Environmental Health: Streamlines the process of issuing permits, performing health inspections, running reports, and investigating complaints.

Digital Government Services

We deliver user-friendly digital services that makes Disability & Benefits: Helps programs and agencies administer benefits and makes it easier to manage the complexity of
services like medical cannabis regulation, veterans’ benefits, vocational rehabilitation, workers’ compensation, and more efficient for citizens and businesses to interact with
government providing valuable conveniences like applying for unemployment insurance, submitting business filings, renewing licenses, accessing information and making secure
payments without visiting a government office. Our digital government services unit designs, builds, and operates digital government services on an enterprise-wide basis on behalf
of state and local governments desiring to provide access to government information and to complete secure government-based transactions through multiple digital channels.
These digital government services consist of websites and applications that allow consumers, such as businesses and citizens, to access government information, complete
transactions and make electronic payments. We also provide payment processing services, software development and digital government services, other than those services
provided under state enterprise contracts, to federal agencies as well as state and local governments. more.

Revenues
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We derive our revenues from five four primary sources:

¢ Subscription-based services

¢ Maintenance and support

* Professional services

« Software licenses and royalties

e Appraisal services

Subscription-Based Services

Subscriptions revenue primarily consists of revenues derived from our SaaS arrangements. arrangements and transactions-based fees. We are able to provide the majority of our
software products through our SaaS model. The clients who choose this model typically do not wish to maintain, update and operate these systems or make up-front capital
expenditures to implement these advanced technologies. The contract terms for these arrangements range from one to ten years but are typically contracted for initial periods of
three to five years. The majority of our SaaS or hosting arrangements include additional professional services as well as maintenance and support services. In certain
arrangements, the client may also acquire a license to the software.

Other sources of subscriptions revenue are derived from transaction-based fees primarily related to digital government services, online payment solutions, which are sometimes
offered with the assistance of third-party vendors, and online dispute resolution solutions. We also provide electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”) that simplify the filing and
management of court related documents for courts and law offices. E-filing revenue is derived from transaction fees and fixed fee arrangements.

Maintenance and Support

Following the implementation of our software systems, we provide ongoing software support services to assist our clients in operating the systems and to periodically update the
software. Support is provided to clients over the phone or via the Web through help desks staffed by our client support representatives. For more complicated issues, our staff, with
the clients' permission, can log on to clients’ systems remotely. We maintain our clients’ software largely through releases that contain improvements and incremental additions of
features and functionality, along with updates necessary because of legislative or regulatory changes.

Virtually Nearly all of our on-premises software clients contract with us for maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant source of recurring revenue. We generally
provide maintenance and support for our on-premises clients under annual, or in some cases, multi-year contracts, with a typical fee based on a percentage of the software
product’s license fee. These fees can generally be increased on renewal and may also increase as new license fees increase. Maintenance and support fees are generally paid
annually in advance. Most maintenance contracts automatically renew unless the client or Tyler gives notice of termination prior to expiration. Similar support is provided to our
Saas clients and is included in their subscription fees, which are classified as subscription-based revenue.

Professional Services

We provide a variety of professional services to clients who utilize our software products. Virtually all of our Our clients contract with us for installation, training, and data conversion
services in connection with their implementation of Tyler’s software solutions. solutions, whether through a SaaS arrangement or on-premise software license. The complete
implementation process for a typical system includes planning, design, data conversion, set-up and testing. At the culmination of the implementation process, a data implementation
team is generally onsite at the client’s facility or available via remote video conferencing to help ensure the smooth go-live with the new system. Implementation fees are charged
separately to clients on either a fixed-fee or hourly charge basis, depending on the contract.

Both in connection with the installation of new systems and on an ongoing basis, we provide extensive training services and programs related to our products and services. Training
can be provided in our training centers, onsite at clients’ locations, at meetings and conferences, or remotely, and can be customized to meet clients’ requirements. The vast
majority of our clients contract with us for training services, both to improve their employees’ proficiency and productivity and to fully utilize the functionality of our systems. Training
services are generally billed on an hourly or daily basis, along with travel and other expenses.

Software Licenses and Royalties

Many of our software arrangements involve “off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to “off-the-shelf” software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time
when control of the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct. We consider "off-the-shelf" software to be distinct when it can be added
to an arrangement with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training
are not considered highly interdependent or interrelated to the product's functionality.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinct, we
recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control
to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total
cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to
total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first
determine that a loss is apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access to the software license is made available to the customer
and the remainder of the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or
revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We recognize royalty revenue when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements. Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estimated basis
and adjusted if needed, when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenue we are entitled to and billed on a quarterly basis
in the quarter immediately following the royalty reporting period and adjustments have not been significant.

Appraisal Services

We are the nation’s largest provider of property appraisal outsourcing services for local government taxing authorities. These services include:
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¢ The physical inspection of commercial and residential properties
» Data collection and processing

e Sophisticated computer analyses for property valuation

* Preparation of tax rolls

¢ Community education regarding the assessment process

* Arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction

Local government taxing authorities normally reappraise properties from time to time to update values for tax assessment purposes and to maintain equity in the taxing process. In
some jurisdictions, law mandates reassessment cycles; in others, they are discretionary. While some taxing jurisdictions perform reappraisals in-house, many local governments
outsource this function because of its cyclical nature and because of the specialized knowledge and expertise requirements associated with it. Our appraisal services business unit
has operated in this business since 1938.

In some instances, we also provide property tax and / or appraisal software products in connection with appraisal outsourcing projects, while other clients may only engage us to
provide appraisal services. Appraisal outsourcing services are somewhat seasonal in nature to the extent that winter weather conditions reduce the productivity of data collection
activities in connection with those projects.

STRATEGY
Our objective is to grow our revenues and earnings organically, supplemented by focused strategic acquisitions. The key components of our business strategy are to:

«  Provide high quality, value—added products and services to our clients. We compete on the basis of, among other things, delivering to clients our deep domain expertise
in government operations through the highest high value products and services in the market. We believe we have achieved a reputation as a premium product and
service provider to the government market.

« Continue to expand our product and service offerings. While we already have what we believe to be the broadest line of software products for local governments, the
public sector, we continually strive to upgrade our core software applications and expand our complementary product and service offerings to respond to technological
advancements and the changing needs of our clients. We regularly add new products and services to our portfolio through internal product development as well as
acquisitions. We believe that the addition of new features and applications enhances the market appeal of our core products. We have also broadened our offerings of
consulting and business process reengineering services.

« Accelerate our move to the cloud. We have offered most of our core products in both an on-premises license model and a cloud-based subscription model for several
years and have seen a steady increase in the percentage of new software clients choosing our cloud model in recent years. Beginning in late 2019, we moved our
approach to sales from “cloud-neutral” to “cloud-first,” with an increasing preference to provide our solutions in the cloud. We are making significant investments in
optimizing our products to be deployed efficiently in the public cloud and over a multi-year period are transitioning from hosting clients in Tyler’s proprietary data centers
to utilizing Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) for cloud hosting.

« Expand our client base. We seek to establish long-term relationships with new clients primarily through our sales and marketing efforts. While we currently have clients
in all 50 states, Canada, the Caribbean, the United Kingdom, Australia, and other international locations, some of our solutions have not fully achieved nationwide
geographic penetration. We intend to continue to expand into new geographic markets by adding sales staff and targeting marketing efforts by solutions in those areas.
We also intend to continue to expand our customer base to include larger jurisdictions. While our traditional market focus has primarily been on small and mid-sized
governments, our increased size and market presence, together with the technological advances and improved scalability of certain of our solutions, are allowing us to
achieve increasing success in selling to larger clients. We also expect to expand our presence in international markets by leveraging our leadership position in the
United States through the disciplined pursuit of selected opportunities in other countries.

« Expand our existing_client relationships. Our existing customer base offers significant opportunities for additional sales of solutions and services that we currently offer,
but that existing clients do not fully utilize. Add-on sales to existing clients typically involve lower sales and marketing expense than sales to new clients. In particular, we
believe that since the acquisition of NIC, Inc.( “NIC”) in April 2021, provides us with significant opportunities to sellwe have been successfully selling Tyler software
products into NIC’s client base and to provide in turn providing NIC’s payment services to Tyler’s client base. We expect those opportunities to continue.

«  Grow recurring_revenues. We have a large recurring revenue base from subscription-based services and maintenance and support, and subscription-based services,
which generated revenues of $1.5 billion $1.6 billion, or 80% 83% of total revenues, in 2022.2023. We have historically experienced very low customer turnover
(approximately 2% annually) and recurring revenues continue to grow as the installed customer base increases. Subscription-based revenues have been our fastest
growing revenue category over the past five years, increasing from $220.5 million $296.4 million in 2018 2019 to $1.0 billion $1.2 billion in 2022. 2023. We monitor
Annualized Recurring Revenue (“ARR”"), which is calculated based on quarter-to-date end total recurring revenues multiplied by four. ARR was $1.50 billion $1.61 billion
and $1.39 billion $1.50 billion as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and 2021, 2022, respectively. ARR increased 8% compared to the prior period primarily due
to an increase in subscriptions revenue resulting from an ongoing shift toward SaaS arrangements.

¢ Maximize economies of scale and take advantage of financial leverage in our business. We seek to build and maintain a larger client base to create economies of scale,
enabling us to provide value-added products and services to our clients while expanding our operating margins. In addition, we believe that we have a marketing and
administrative infrastructure in place that can be leveraged to accommodate significant long-term growth without proportionately increasing sales and marketing and
general and administrative expenses.

retain such employees is crucial to our continued growth and success. We believe that our stable management team, financial strength and growth opportunities, as well
as our leadership position in the public sector market, enhance our attractiveness as an employer for highly skilled employees.
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« Pursue strategic acquisitions. We selectively pursue strategic acquisitions that provide us with one or more of the following:

> New products and services to complement our existing offerings
> Entry into new markets related to the public sector

> New clients and/or geographic expansion

« Establish strategic alliances. We have a strategic collaboration agreement with Amazon Web Services ("AWS") for cloud hosting services, which brings together Tyler,
the nation's largest software company exclusively focused on the public sector, and AWS, the broadest and deepest cloud platform. Specifically, the agreement with
AWS provides the framework for development, training and collaboration in order to support next-generation applications that have the scalability, resiliency, and
security AWS offers. AWS is assisting us in accelerating innovation and the development of strategic initiatives. These initiatives will bring the most advanced cloud-
native services to Tyler clients, improving to help improve the flow of information and providing provide a better experience for state, local, and federal governments.

SALES, MARKETING AND CLIENTS

We market our products and services primarily through direct sales and marketing personnel located throughout the United States. Other in-house sales staff focus on add-on sales,
professional services and support. For certain products we also utilize a partner network for both sales and professional services, primarily in the state and federal markets.

Sales of new systems are typically generated from referrals from other government offices or departments within a county or municipality, referrals from other local governments,
relationships established between sales representatives and county or local officials, contacts at trade shows, direct mailings, and direct contact from prospects already familiar with
us. We are active in numerous national, state, county, and local government associations and participate in annual meetings, trade shows, and educational events.

Clients consist primarily of federal, state, county and municipal agencies, school districts and other local government offices. In counties, clients include the auditor, treasurer, tax
assessor/collector, county clerk, district clerk, county and district court judges, probation officers, sheriff, and county appraiser. At municipal government sites, clients include
directors from various departments, including administration, finance, utilities, public works, code enforcement, personnel, purchasing, taxation, municipal court and police. At the
state and federal levels, clients include Chief Information Officers and agency heads. Contracts for software products and services are generally implemented over periods of three
months to one year, although some complex implementations may span multiple years, with annually renewing maintenance and support update agreements thereafter. Although
either the client or we can terminate these agreements, historically almost all support and maintenance agreements are automatically renewed annually. During 2022, approximately
25% of our revenue was attributable to ongoing support and maintenance agreements.

COMPETITION

We compete with numerous local, regional, and national firms that provide or offer some or many of the same solutions and services that we provide. Many of these competitors are
smaller companies that may offer less expensive solutions than ours. Many of these firms operate within a specific geographic area and / or in a narrow product or service niche. We
also compete with national firms, some of which have greater financial and technical resources than we do, including Oracle Corporation, Infor, SAP AG, Workday, Inc.,
CentralSquare Technologies, Thomson Reuters Corporation, Motorola Solutions, Inc., Axon Enterprise, Inc., and Constellation Software, Inc. In addition, we sometimes compete
with consulting and systems integration firms, which develop custom systems, primarily for larger governments. We also occasionally compete with central internal information
service departments of governments, which requires us to persuade the end-user department to discontinue service by its own personnel and outsource the service to us.

We compete on a variety of factors, including price, service, name recognition, reputation, technological capabilities, and the ability to modify existing products and services to
accommodate the individual requirements of the client. Our ability to offer an integrated system of applications for several offices or departments is often a competitive advantage.
Governmental units often are required to seek competitive proposals through a request for proposal process and some prospective clients use consultants to assist them with the
proposal and vendor selection process.

SUPPLIERS

Substantially all of the computers, peripherals, printers, scanners, operating system software, office automation software, and other equipment necessary for the implementation and
provision of our software systems and services are presently available from several third-party sources. Hardware is purchased on original equipment manufacturer or distributor
terms at discounts from retail. We have not experienced any significant supply problems.

BACKLOG

At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our revenue backlog was approximately $1.89 billion, $2.03 billion compared to $1.80 billion $1.89 billion at December 31,
2021 December 31, 2022. The backlog generally represents signed contracts under which the revenue has not been recognized. Approximately $886 million $937 million, or
47% 46%, of the backlog is expected to be recognized during 2023. 2024.

SEASONALITY

Transaction-based fees are generally the result of multi-year contracts with our clients that result in fees generated by payment transactions and digital government services and are
collected on a recurring basis during the contract term. Transaction-based fees are historically highest in the second quarter, which coincides with peak outdoor recreation seasons
and statutory filing deadlines in many jurisdictions, and lowest in the fourth quarter due to fewer business days and lower transaction volumes around holidays.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, AND LICENSES

We regard certain features of our internal operations, software, and documentation as confidential and proprietary and rely on a combination of contractual restrictions, trade secret
laws and other measures to protect our proprietary intellectual property. We generally do not rely on patents. We believe that, due to the rapid rate of technological change in the
computer software industry, trade secrets and copyright protection are less significant than factors such as the knowledge, ability and experience of our employees, frequent product
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enhancements, and timeliness and quality of support services. We typically license our software products under non-exclusive license agreements, which are generally non-
transferable and have a perpetual term.

HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES
Human Capital

Our experienced, collaborative team is one of the most significant contributors to our success in empowering the public sector to create smarter, safer, and stronger communities.
Our effectiveness in attracting and developing talented team members, many of whom spend the majority of their careers at Tyler serving our public sector clients, demonstrates our
commitment to providing a welcoming and safe workplace, with a culture, benefits, and continual growth opportunities for our team members to continually grow and develop their
careers within Tyler. members.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had approximately 7,200 7,300 team members. Approximately 335 95% of these our team members are located in Canada and
the Philippines; the remainder work remotely in the U.S. or are based in one of our nearly 8066 U.S. offices. No Tyler employees offices or remotely in the U.S.Approximately 388 of
our team members are representedin Canada, the Philippines, or India. Race and gender reporting are based on information provided by unions. team members. We define
leadership as positions which are one or two levels removed from our CEO with management responsibility. The tables below represent our workforce demographics as of
December 31, 2023:

Race:
Black or African Native Americans and
White Asian American Hispanic or Latino Two or more races Other Pacific Islanders Not specified

Overall 70.5% 7.6% 4.7% 4.7% 2.1% 0.5% 9.9%
Leadership 96.4% 1.8% —% —% —% 1.8% —%
Gender:

Male Female Non-Binary Not specified
Overall 61.8% 37.2% 0.2% 0.8%
Leadership 60.0% 40.0% —% —%

We believe our efforts in managing and supporting our workforce are effective, as evidenced by current levels of applicants, team member tenure, and high levels of engagement
reported through continuous survey feedback from Tyler team members. Before we returned to office in January, the vast majority of team members, worked remotely. After the
return, 39% of team members became either partially or fully office based. and our low turnover.

Our team continues to work collaboratively with and for our clients and partners across multiple work arrangements: fully office-based, fully remote and a blended approach of office-
based and remote work, which we refer work. Prior to as flex-work. Regardless COVID, 40% of where team members worked remotely, primarily in sales and professional services
roles. As of December 31, 2023, 63% of team members work we do so together to develop for, sell to, implement and support our public sector clients.

At the end of 2022, Tyler’s U.S. workforce was 63% male remotely and 37% female, and women represented 42% of Tyler’s leadership. Our workforce was comprised as follows:
71% White, 7% Asian, 4% Hispanicteam members are either partially or Latino, 5% Black or African American, and 13% Other. For our leadership, the breakdown was 93% White,
5% Asian, 2% Hispanic or Latino. We define leadership as positions which are one or two levels removed from our CEO with management responsibility. Race and gender reporting
are based on information provided by team members. fully office based.

Voluntary workforce turnover (rolling 12-month attrition) was 10% 8% as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, a decrease from 2021 2022 turnover of 12.5%. 10% and a return
to pre-COVID levels of turnover at Tyler which consistently outperforms our industry peers. The average tenure of our team members continues to be approximately seven years
and approximately 27% 28% of our employees have been employed by Tyler for more than ten years. The most frequent factor cited by team members leaving Tyler in 2022 2023
was career opportunities, with compensation also cited as a factor. Job offer compensation levels for roles We continue to invest in the tech sector continued talent development and
making career opportunities clear to increase team members and our 2023 efforts are discussed in 2022 at levels we have not experienced in well over a decade. further detail
below.

Investments in Talent

We are committed to providing Tyler team members with career growth opportunities and the training and resources necessary to continually strengthen their skills. Our talent
assessment and development programs are designed to provide managers and employees with the resources needed to achieve career goals, buildstrengthen management skills
and effectively lead their teams.

For example, in 2022: 2023:

e 974823 Tyler team members participated in close to approximately 11,000 hours of AWS cloud certification training. There were 352 324 AWS accreditations and 228 102
certifications completed, as we continue to invest in developing cloud skills across the Tyler workforce.

« Again this year, over Nearly 200 Tyler managers participated in our 9-month nine-month Tyler Manager Development program which includes more than 50 hours of
interactive, experiential learning, focused on developing skills managers need to lead a high performing team, plus multiple leadership assessments, including 360-degree
feedback, and a dedicated mentor to support their development. To date, 42% 53% of our management leads have participated in the program.

» Division Presidents presidents and Corporate Function Executives corporate function executives conducted annual leadership assessment and talent reviews with their HR
leaders and leadership teams to plan for succession and identify development priorities within their teams.

¢ Our TylerU online training platform was utilized by over 8,100 Tyler team members who and managers completed almost 35,000 over 30,000 hours of Tyler-sponsored AWS,
management and compliance training to support continuous learning, professional training and development.
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Oversight and Management

Our Human Resources human resources team is tasked with leading and supporting our organization in managing employment-related matters, including recruiting and hiring,
onboarding and training, compensation planning, talent management and development. Our executive team is responsible for periodically reviewing team member programs and
initiatives, including healthcare and other benefits, as well as our management development and succession planning practices and our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (“DEI")
efforts. Management periodically reports to the Board of Directors and its committees regarding human capital measures and results that guide how we attract, retain and develop a
workforce to enable our business strategies.

Health & Safety

We invest in the well-being of Tyler team members and their families. We provide a range of offerings in support of mental and emotional, financial, and physical health and wellness
not only for our team members, but also for their family members. Our team members continued to demonstrate elevated levels of mental, physical and financial stress in 2023.
These levels increased during the family members who depend on them. The prolonged stressors of the COVID-19 pandemic continued in 2022, and have been slow to moderate.
Given this, we extended the new benefits introduced in 2020, including enhanced mental health resources for managers and telehealth benefits team members in 2023 and full
coverage for COVID illness and vaccinations.increased the level of financial education resources available to staff at Tyler.

Diversity and Inclusion

We believe thatin the benefits of a diverse workforce is critical to our success, and inclusive culture, and we continue achieved notable improvements in several key areas under our
DEI Strategic Pillars in 2023 including:

« Parity in female hires and three-year improvement in racial diversity from application through to monitor hire for the first time since we began tracking recruiting of diverse
candidates;

* Continued increase through the year in the depth and improve diversity of equity grants across Tyler with over 20% of 2023 grantees representing first time grantees;

* Adecision to redesign our efforts across Tyler to elevate and accelerate our focus on inclusion in alignment with our business objectives through the
application establishment of our hiring, retention, compensation and advancement processes for women and underrepresented populations across our workforce, including
our team members of color, veterans and members of our LGBTQ community. Our networks of support, made up of local diversity, equity, and inclusion committees and
employee resources groups, serve to enhance our inclusive and diverse culture. Tyler-wide Employee Resource Groups “(ERGs") with multiple executive sponsors, which
will be implemented in 2024.

INTERNET WEBSITE AND AVAILABILITY OF PUBLIC FILINGS

We file annual, quarterly, current and other reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act. You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-732-0330. The SEC maintains an
Internet site that contains reports, proxy and other information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including us, that file electronically with the SEC. The address of
this site is http://www.sec.gov.

We also maintain a website at www.tylertech.com. We make available free of charge through this site our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Forms 4
and 5, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to the SEC. In addition, copies of our annual report will be made available, free of charge, upon written request.

Our “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” is also available on our website. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or waivers from, a provision
of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on our website.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Investors evaluating our company should carefully consider the factors described below and all other information
contained in this Annual Report. Any of the following factors could materially harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Additional factors and uncertainties not
currently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial could also harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. This section should be read in conjunction
with the Financial Statements and related Notes and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this Annual Report. We
may make forward-looking statements from time to time, both written and oral. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-
looking statements. Our actual results may differ materially from those projected in any such forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including those set forth below
and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Risks Associated with Our Business, Including Our Software Products
Cyber-attacks and security vulnerabilities can disrupt our business and harm our competitive position.

Threats to IT security can take, and have in the past taken, a variety of forms. Individuals and groups of hackers, and sophisticated organizations including state-sponsored
organizations, may take steps that pose threats to our clients and our IT. They have in the past and may for example, in the future develop and deploy malicious software to gain
access to our internal networks, and/or to attack our products and services, and/or gain access to our networks and data centers we use to host client deployments, or act in a
coordinated manner to launch distributed denial of service or other coordinated attacks. Cyber threats are constantly evolving, thereby increasing the difficulty of detecting and
successfully defending against them. Cyber threats can have cascading impacts that unfold with increasing speed across our internal networks and systems and those of our
partners and clients. Breaches of our internal network or data security have disrupted and could in the future disrupt the security of our internal systems and business applications,
and could impair our ability to provide services to our clients and protect the privacy of their data, result in product development delays, compromise confidential or technical
business information harming our competitive position, result in theft or misuse of our intellectual property or other assets, require us to allocate more resources to improve
technologies, or otherwise adversely affect our business. Our business policies and internal security controls may not keep pace with these evolving threats. Despite the network
and application security, internal control measures, and physical security procedures we employ to safeguard our systems, we may still be vulnerable to a security breach, intrusion,
or loss or theft of confidential client data, transaction data, or proprietary company information, which may harm our business, reputation and future financial results. The lost
revenue and containment, remediation, investigation, legal and other costs could be significant and may exceed our insurance policy limits or may not be covered by insurance at
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all. Further, we may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions and litigation that could result in financial judgments or the payment of settlement amounts and disputes with
insurance carriers concerning coverage.

In September 2020, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K reporting a security incident (the "Incident") involving ransomware disrupting access to some of our internal IT systems
and telephone systems. We promptly notified our clients of the Incident and provided timely updates to our clients through direct communications and updates to our website. There
is no evidence that the environments where we host client applications were affected, and our hosting services to those clients were not interrupted. There was also no evidence of
malicious activity on client networks associated with the Incident. We contained the Incident and recovered from it, resuming normal operations with our clients. We deployed
supplemental remediation efforts as necessary and cooperated with law enforcement’s investigation.

Although we completed our investigation into the Incident and believe we contained and recovered from the Incident, we are subject to risk and uncertainties as a result of the
Incident. There can be no assurance as to what the ongoing impact of the Incident will be, if any. We maintain cybersecurity insurance coverage in an amount that we believe is
adequate.

Disclosure of personally identifiable information and/or other sensitive client data could result in liability and harm our reputation.

We store and process increasingly large amounts of personally identifiable information and other confidential information of our clients. The continued occurrence of high-profile data
breaches provides evidence of an external environment increasingly hostile to information security. Despite our efforts to improve security controls, it is possible our security controls
over personal data, our training of employees on data security, and other practices we follow may not prevent the improper disclosure of sensitive client data that we store and
manage. Disclosure of personally identifiable information and/or other sensitive client data has resulted in obligations to send “data breach” notifications under applicable state laws,
or to assist our clients in doing so, and/or could result in liability and harm our reputation.

We depend on third parties with whom we engage or collaborate for certain projects, deliverables, and/or financial transaction processes. If these parties fail to satisfy their
obligations to us or we are unable to maintain these relationships, our operating results and business prospects could be adversely affected.

To satisfy our obligations under client contracts, we often engage third parties to provide certain deliverables or fulfill certain requirements. We may also use third parties to ensure
that our services and solutions integrate with the software, systems, or infrastructure requirements of other vendors and service providers. Our ability to serve our clients and deliver
our solutions in a timely manner depends on our ability to retain and maintain relationships with third-party vendors and service providers and the ability of these third parties to meet
their obligations in a timely manner, as well as on our effective oversight of their performance. If any third party fails to perform on a timely basis the agreed-upon services, our ability
to fulfill our obligations may be jeopardized. Third-party performance deficiencies could result in breaches of our obligations with respect to, or the termination for default of, one or
more of our client contracts. A breach or termination for default could expose us to liability for damages and have an adverse effect on our business prospects, results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition and our ability to compete for future contracts and orders. A global economic slowdown, the COVID-19 lingering of a pandemic, or similar
circumstances could also adversely affect the businesses of our third-party providers, hindering their ability to provide the services on which we rely. Our agreements with third
parties typically are non-exclusive and do not prohibit them from working with our competitors. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with these third
parties, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenues could be impaired and our business, operating results or financial condition could be adversely affected.

In addition, we may act as a subcontractor to a third-party prime contractor to secure new projects. Subcontracting arrangements where we are not the prime contractor pose unique
risks to us because we may not have control over the customer relationship, and our ability to generate revenues under such subcontracts may depend on the prime contractor, its
performance and relationship with the customer, and its relationship with us. We could suffer losses in the event a prime contract under which we serve as a subcontractor is
terminated, whether for non-performance by the prime contractor or otherwise. Upon a termination of the prime contract, our subcontract would similarly terminate, and the resulting
contract loss could have an adverse effect on our business prospects, results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition and our ability to compete for future contracts and
orders.

We rely on third-party providers—including Amazon Web Services—for hosting services and other technology-related services needed to deliver certain of our cloud solutions. Any
disruption in the services provided by such third-party providers could adversely affect our business and subject us to liability.

A material portion of our business is provided through software hosting services, which are sometimes hosted from and use computing infrastructure provided by third parties,
including Amazon Web Services. Services (AWS). These hosting services depend on the uninterrupted operation of data centers and the ability to protect computer equipment and
information stored in these data centers against damage that may be caused by natural disaster, fire, power loss, telecommunications or Internet failure, acts of terrorism,
unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses, and other similar damaging events. If any of our data centers were to become inoperable for an extended period, we might be unable to
fulfill our contractual commitments. Although we take what we believe to be reasonable precautions against such occurrences, we can give no assurance that damaging events
such as these will not result in a prolonged interruption of our services, which could result in client dissatisfaction, loss of revenues, and damage to our business.

Third-party hosting service providers have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements
on commercially reasonable terms, we may be required to transition to a new provider and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruption in connection with doing
so. In addition, such service providers could decide to close their facilities or change or suspend their service offerings without adequate notice to us. Moreover, any financial
difficulties, such as bankruptcy, faced by such service providers may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficult to predict. Because we
cannot easily switch third-party hosting service providers, any disruption with respect to our current providers would impact our operations and our business could be adversely
impacted. Problems faced by our hosting service providers could adversely affect the experience of our customers. For example, Amazon Web Services AWS has experienced
significant service outages in the past and may do so again in the future.In addition, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted and may continue to disrupt the supply chain of
hardware needed to maintain these third-party systems or to run our business.

Material portions of our business require the Internet infrastructure to be reliable.

Part of our future success continues to depend on the use of the Internet as a means to access public information and perform transactions electronically, including, for example,
electronic filing of court documents. documents and electronic payment processing. This in part requires ongoing maintenance of the Internet infrastructure, especially to prevent
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interruptions in service, as well as additional development of that infrastructure. This requires a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity, security, and
timely development of complementary products for providing reliable Internet access and services. If this infrastructure fails to be sufficiently developed or be adequately maintained,
our business would be harmed because users may not be able to access our government portals. To date, any such outages have been temporary, and any business interruptions
were contained and immaterial.

We employ third-party licensed software and software components for use in or with our solutions, and the inability to maintain these licenses or the presence of errors or security
vulnerabilities in the software we license could limit the functionality of our products and result in increased costs or reduced service levels, which would adversely affect our
business.

We incorporate and include third-party software into and with certain of our products and solutions. We also use third-party software and tools in certain areas of the development
process for our solutions. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on such third-party software and development tools in the future. In addition, there There can be no assurance
that these third parties will continue to make their software or tools available to us on acceptable terms, or at all, not make their products available to our competitors on more
favorable terms, invest the appropriate levels of resources in their products and services to maintain and enhance the capabilities of their software, or remain in business. Any
impairment in our relationship with these third parties or our ability to license or otherwise use their software or tools could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, cash flow, and financial condition. Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party software and tools we currently license, this
may not always be the case, or they may be difficult, time-consuming, or costly to replace. In addition, although we maintain a supplier security evaluation process, if the third-party
software or tools we use has or have errors, security vulnerabilities, or otherwise malfunctions, the functionality of our solutions may be negatively impacted, our customers may
experience reduced service levels, and our business may suffer.

Certain of our solutions utilize open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these open source licenses could adversely affect our business.

Certain of our solutions include software covered by open source licenses. The terms of various open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk
that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market our solutions. It is possible under the terms of certain
open source licenses, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, that we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary
software and make our proprietary software available under open source licenses. In the event that portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to an open
source license, we could be required to publicly release the affected portions of our source code, re-engineer all or a portion of our solutions, or otherwise be limited in the licensing
of our solutions, each of which could reduce or eliminate the value of our solutions. In addition to risks related to license requirements, use of open source software can lead to
greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Many of the risks
associated with the use of open source software cannot be eliminated and could adversely affect our business.

We run the risk of errors or defects with new products or enhancements to existing products.

Our software products are complex and have in the past, and may in the future, contain errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements
are released. Any such defects could result in a loss of revenues or delay market acceptance. Our license agreements typically contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to
potential liability. However, it is possible we may not always successfully negotiate such provisions in our client contracts or the limitation of liability provisions may not be effective
due to existing or future federal, state, or local laws, ordinances, or judicial decisions. Although we maintain errors and omissions and general liability insurance, and we try to
structure contracts to limit liability, we cannot assure you guarantee that a successful claim could not be made or would not have a material adverse effect on our future operating
results.

We must timely respond to technological changes to be competitive.

The market for our products is characterized by technological change, evolving industry standards in software technology, changes in client requirements, and frequent new product
introductions and enhancements. The introduction of products embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards can render existing products obsolete
and unmarketable. As a result, our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability to enhance existing products and develop and introduce new products that keep pace with
technological developments, satisfy increasingly sophisticated client requirements, and achieve market acceptance. We cannot assure you that we will successfully identify new
product opportunities and develop and bring new products to market in a timely and cost-effective manner. The products, capabilities, or technologies developed by others could
also render our products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive. Our business may be adversely affected if we are unable to develop or acquire new software products or
develop enhancements to existing products on a timely and cost-effective basis, or if such new products or enhancements do not achieve market acceptance.

We may be unable to protect our proprietary rights.

Many of our product and service offerings incorporate proprietary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination of contracts,
copyrights, and trade secret laws to establish and protect our proprietary rights in our technology. We cannot be certain that we have taken all appropriate steps to deter
misappropriation of our intellectual property. There has also been an apparent evolution in the legal standards and regulations that courts and the U.S. patent office may apply in
favorably evaluating software patent rights. We are not currently involved in any material intellectual property litigation; however, we may be a party to such litigation in the future to
protect our proprietary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual property rights. We cannot assure you that third parties will not assert infringement or
misappropriation claims against us with respect to current or future products. Any claims or litigation, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, costly, and a diversion to
management. Any such claims and litigation could also cause product shipment delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements. Such royalty or licensing
arrangements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Therefore, litigation to defend and enforce our intellectual property rights could have a material
adverse effect on our business, regardless of the final outcome of such litigation.

Clients may elect to terminate our maintenance contracts and manage operations internally.

It is possible that our clients may elect to not renew maintenance contracts for our software, trying instead to maintain and operate the software themselves using their perpetual
license rights (excluding software applications that we provide on a hosted or cloud software as a service basis). Alternatively, clients may elect to drop maintenance on certain
modules that they ultimately decide not to use. This could adversely affect our revenues and profits. Additionally, they may inadvertently allow our intellectual property or other
information to fall into the hands of third parties, including our competitors, which could adversely affect our business.
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Risks Associated with Selling Products and Services into the Public Sector Marketplace
Selling products and services into the public sector poses unique challenges.

We derive substantially all of our revenues from sales of software and services to state, county, and city governments, other federal or municipal agencies, and other public entities.
We expect that sales to public sector clients will continue to account for substantially all of our revenues in the future. We face many risks and challenges associated with
contracting with governmental entities, including:

* Resource limitations caused by budgetary constraints, which may provide for a termination of executed contracts due to a lack of future funding
¢ Long and complex sales cycles

« Contract payments at times being are subject to achieving implementation milestones, and we may have differences with clients as to whether milestones have been
achieved

» Political resistance to the concept of contracting with third parties to provide IT solutions
* Legislative changes affecting a local government’s authority to contract with third parties
« Varying bid procedures and internal processes for bid acceptance

« Various other political factors, including changes in governmental administrations and personnel
Each of these risks is outside our control. If we fail to adequately adapt to these risks and uncertainties, our financial performance could be adversely affected.
COVID-19
Global health crises, such as a pandemic, may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We expect that the continued global presence of COVID-19 a public health crisis, such as a pandemic, may negatively impact our business and financial results in fiscal year
2023. results. As the virus continues to persist, increased seen with a pandemic, certain infection rates (generally or as the result of new virus strains of the virus) may result in
government authorities returning to stricterimposing measures to contain the virus, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, and business limitations and shutdowns.
While we are unable to accurately predict the full impact that COVID-19 will continue to a health crisis or pandemic would have on our results from operations, financial condition,
liquidity and cash flows due to numerous uncertainties, including the duration and severity of the pandemic and containment measures and associated compliance, the a pandemic
may negatively impact our revenues and other financial results.

Because an increasing portion of our revenues are recurring, the effect of COVID-19 public health-related shutdown on our results of operations may also not be fully reflected for
some time. We may see some more immediate impact on our business should there be new delays in government procurement processes and uncertainty around public sector
budgets, or new delays in implementations caused by travel restrictions, closed offices, or clients shifting focus to more pressing issues.

Appraisal projects and software implementations projects may be delayed if clients put projects on hold or slow projects by extending go-live dates. While we have the ability to
deliver most of our professional services remotely, some of our professional services, including appraisal assessments, are more effective when performed on-site, and certain
clients may continue to insist on on-site services in any event. In addition, our delivery of some professional services requires the availability of client personnel. There may be a
negative impact on our revenues if we are unable to deliver these services. Also, we expect software licenses and subscriptions revenues to be negatively affected if there are
delays in procurement processes. Some clients could request changes to payment terms, negatively impacting the timing of collections of accounts receivables in future periods. For
the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, 80% of our total revenues and earnings are relatively predictable as a result of our subscription and maintenance revenue, which is
recurring in nature; thus the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic may not be fully reflected in our results of operations and overall financial performance until future periods.

We have historically evaluated goodwill for impairment annually as of October 1, or more frequently if impairment indicators arose. Subsequent to our annual goodwill impairment
analysis, we monitor for any events or changes in circumstances, such as significant adverse changes in business climate or operating results, changes in management’s business
strategy, an inability to successfully introduce new products in the marketplace, an inability to successfully achieve internal forecasts or significant declines in our stock price, which
may represent an indicator of impairment. The occurrence of any of these events, which could be caused or impacted by a public health crisis similar to the COVID-19 pandemic,
may require us to record future goodwill impairment charges.

A prolonged economic slowdown could harm our operations.

A prolonged economic slowdown or recession could reduce demand for our software products and services. Governments may face financial pressures that could in turn affect our
growth rate and profitability in the future. There is no assurance that government spending levels will be unaffected by declining or stagnant general economic conditions, and if
budget shortfalls occur, they may negatively impact government IT spending and could adversely affect our business.

The open bidding process creates uncertainty in predicting future contract awards.

Many governmental agencies purchase products and services through an open bidding process. Generally, a governmental entity will publish an established list of requirements
requesting potential vendors to propose solutions for the established requirements. To respond successfully to these requests for proposals, we must accurately estimate our cost
structure for servicing a proposed contract, the time required to establish operations for the proposed prospective client, and the likely terms of any other third-party proposals
submitted. We cannot guarantee that we will win any bids in the future through the request for proposal process, or that any winning bids will ultimately result in contracts on
favorable terms. Our failure to secure contracts through the open bidding process, or to secure such contracts on favorable terms, may adversely affect our revenues and gross
margins.

We face significant competition from other vendors and potential new entrants into our markets.

We believe we are a leading provider of integrated software solutions for the public sector. However, we face competition from a variety of software vendors that offer products and
services similar to those offered by us, as well as from companies offering to develop custom software. We compete based on a number of factors, including:

¢ The attractiveness of our “evergreen” business model
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e The breadth, depth, and quality of our product and service offerings

* The ability to modify our offerings to accommodate particular clients’ needs
¢ Technological innovation

« Name recognition, reputation and references

* Price

* Our financial strength and stability

Our market is highly fragmented with a large number of competitors that vary in size, product platform, and product scope. Our competitors include consulting firms, publicly held
companies that focus on selected segments of the public sector market, and a significant number of smaller, privately held companies. Certain competitors have greater technical,
marketing, and financial resources than we do. We cannot assure you that such competitors will not develop products or offer services that are superior to our products or services
or that achieve greater market acceptance.

We also compete with internal, centralized IT departments of governmental entities, which requires us to persuade the end-user to stop the internal service and outsource to us. In
addition, our clients and prospective clients could elect to provide information management services internally through new or existing departments, which could reduce the market
for our services.

We could face additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the public sector software market and new products and technologies are introduced.
Increased competition could result in pricing pressure, fewer client orders, reduced gross margins, and loss of market share. Current and potential competitors may make strategic
acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties, thereby increasing the ability of their products to address the needs of our prospective
clients. It is possible that new competitors or alliances may emerge and rapidly gain significant market share. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully
against current and future competitors, and the failure to do so would have a material adverse effect upon our business.

Fixed-price contracts may affect our profits.
Some of our contracts are structured on a fixed-price basis, which can lead to various risks, including:

* The failure to accurately estimate the resources and time required for an engagement
* The failure to effectively manage our clients’ expectations regarding the scope of services delivered for a fixed fee

* The failure to timely and satisfactorily complete fixed-price engagements within budget
If we do not adequately assess and manage these and other risks, we may be subject to cost overruns and penalties, which may harm our financial performance.
Changes in the insurance markets may affect our business.

Some of our clients, primarily those for our property appraisal services, require that we secure performance bonds before they will select us as their vendor. In addition, we have in
the past been required to provide letters of credit as security for the issuance of a performance bond. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to secure such performance bonds in
the future on terms that are favorable to us, if at all. Our inability to obtain performance bonds on favorable terms or at all could impact our future ability to win some contract awards,
particularly large property appraisal services contracts, which could negatively impact revenues. In addition, the general insurance markets may experience volatility and/or
restrictive coverage trends, which may lead to future increases in our general and administrative expense and negatively impact our operating results.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Servicing our indebtedness requires a significant amount of cash. We may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our indebtedness, and we may not otherwise have
the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle for cash conversions of the Convertible Senior Notes or to repurchase the Convertible Senior Notes upon a fundamental change, or
to repay our indebtedness obligations under our 2021 Credit Agreement, each of which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had outstanding an aggregate principal amount of $600 million of our Convertible Senior Notes and $395 million $50 million under
our 2021 Credit Agreement. In April 2021, we entered into the 2021 Credit Agreement with significantly increased borrowing capacity of up to $1.4 billion, and on the closing of the
acquisition of NIC Inc. (“NIC”") on April 21, 2021, we borrowed initial loans in the aggregate principal amount of $1.15 billion. The 2021 Credit Agreement also has an option to
increase the amount available up to an additional $500 million subject to our leverage and other factors. The proceeds from the issuance of our Convertible Senior Notes and from
loans under the 2021 Credit Agreement were used as sources of funding for the acquisition of NIC. Our indebtedness may increase our vulnerability to any generally adverse
economic and industry conditions, and we and our subsidiaries may, subject to the limitations in the terms of our existing and future indebtedness, incur additional debt, secure
existing or future debt or recapitalize our debt. If we incur additional indebtedness, the risks related to our business would increase and our ability to service or repay our
indebtedness may be adversely impacted.

Pursuant to their terms, holders may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at their option prior to the scheduled maturities of their Convertible Senior Notes under certain
circumstances. Upon conversion of the Convertible Senior Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in
lieu of delivering any fractional share), we will be obligated to make cash payments. In addition, holders of our Convertible Senior Notes will have the right to require us to
repurchase their Convertible Senior Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture, dated as of March 9, 2021, between the Company and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”) (the “Indenture”)), at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes to be
repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Although it is our intention, and we currently expect to have the ability, to settle the Convertible Senior Notes in cash, there is
a risk that we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are required to make repurchases of Convertible Senior Notes surrendered or
Convertible Senior Notes being converted. In addition, our ability to make payments may be limited by law, by regulatory authority, or by agreements governing our future
indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase Convertible Senior Notes at a time when the repurchase is required by the Indenture or to pay any cash payable on future conversions of
the Convertible Senior Notes as required by the Indenture would constitute a default under the Indenture. A default under the Indenture or the fundamental change itself could also
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lead to a default under agreements governing our other existing or future indebtedness. If the repayment of other indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or
grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay the other indebtedness and repurchase the Convertible Senior Notes or make cash payments upon conversions thereof.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal and interest on our indebtedness when due or to make payments upon conversion or repurchase demands with respect to
our Convertible Senior Notes, or to refinance our indebtedness as we may need or desire, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive,
and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to satisfy our obligations under our existing
indebtedness, and any future indebtedness we may incur, and to make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt
one or more alternatives, such as reducing or delaying investments or capital expenditures, selling assets, refinancing, or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be
onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance existing or future indebtedness will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to
engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our existing or future indebtedness and have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Covenant restrictions under our indebtedness may limit our ability to operate our business and may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, and earnings per
share.

The Indenture governing the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreement do contain, and our future indebtedness agreements may contain covenants that may restrict
our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities. Subject to customary carve-outs, thresholds and baskets, the 2021 Credit
Agreement (and the Indenture by means of a cross-default) restricts, absent consent of the agent and lenders under the 2021 Credit Agreement, our ability and the ability of our
restricted subsidiaries to, among other things:

* Incur additional indebtedness,

« Permit liens on our assets,

* Make certain investments, acquisitions and dispositions,
* Make certain specified fundamental changes, and

* Make certain restricted payments.

In addition, the 2021 Credit Agreement (and the Indenture by means of a cross-default) contains other customary affirmative and negative covenants, and events of default. The
2021 Credit Agreement is unsecured but requires us to maintain certain financial ratios regarding our total leverage and interest coverage and other financial conditions in addition
to the restrictions described above. Events beyond our control, including changes in general economic and business conditions, may result in a breach of any of these covenants
and result in a default under the 2021 Credit Agreement that may, in turn, result in a default under the Indenture. If an event of default under the 2021 Credit Agreement occurs, the
lenders could terminate all commitments to lend and elect to declare all amounts outstanding thereunder, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. If we
were unable to pay such amounts, the lenders could proceed against the guarantees by our direct and indirect material domestic subsidiaries. Should the lenders proceed against
the guarantees, we cannot give assurance that we would have sufficient assets to pay amounts due on the 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes.

Variable rate indebtedness subjects the Company to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase significantly.

Our borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement are, and are expected to continue to be, at variable rates of interest and expose Tyler us to interest rate risk. If interest rates
continue to increase, our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income
would decrease. Revolving credit facility loans and Term A-1 Loans under the 2021 Credit Agreement bear interest at a per annum rate equal to, at our option, either (1) the
administrative agent's prime commercial lending rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) (the “Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-,
or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR SOFR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. Our Term A-2 Loans bear interest, at our option, at a per annum rate of
either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR SOFR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to
1.5%. The margin in each case is based upon our total net leverage ratio, as determined pursuant to the 2021 Credit Agreement. Based on the debt under the 2021 Credit
Agreement, the aggregate principal outstanding balance as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 is $395.0 million $50.0 million, and each quarter of a point change in interest
rates would result in a $1.0 million $125,000 change in annual interest expense.

LIBOR, the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, is currently anticipated to be phased out in June 2023 and is expected to transition to a new standard rate, the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”), which will incorporate certain overnight repo market data collected from multiple data sets. In January 2023, we amended our 2021 Credit Agreement to
replace the LIBOR reference rate with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that
there should be minimal impact on our operations.

The conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Senior Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the notes is triggered, holders of our Convertible Senior Notes will be entitled to convert the Convertible Senior Notes at any time
during specified periods at their option. If one or more holders elect to convert their Convertible Senior Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering solely
shares of our common stock (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we would be required to settle a portion or all of our conversion obligation through the
payment of cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, even if holders do not elect to convert their Convertible Senior Notes, we could be required under applicable
accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result in a material reduction of our net
working capital.

Transactions relating to our Convertible Senior Notes may affect the value of our common stock.

Our Convertible Senior Notes may become convertible in the future at the option of their holders under certain circumstances. If holders of our Convertible Senior Notes elect to
convert their notes, we may settle our conversion obligation by delivering to them a significant number of shares of our common stock, which would cause dilution to our existing
shareholders.

Inflation and interest rates.
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Our liquidity and ongoing access to capital could be materially and negatively affected by increased volatility in the financial and securities markets, including increased inflation and
interest rates. - Our continued access to sources of liquidity depends on multiple factors, including global macroeconomic conditions, the condition of global financial markets, the
availability of sufficient amounts of financing and our operating performance. There has been increased volatility in the financial and securities markets, as well as increased inflation
and interest rates, which generally has made access to capital less certain and has increased the cost of obtaining new capital. We may need to obtain equity, equity-linked, or debt
financing in the future to fund our operations, including our acquisition strategy, and there is no guarantee that such debt financing will be available in the future, or that it will be
available on commercially reasonable terms, in which case we may need to seek other sources of funding.

Risks Associated with Our Periodic Results and Stock Price
Fluctuations in quarterly revenues could adversely impact our operating results and stock price.
Our revenues and operating results are can be difficult to predict and may fluctuate substantially from quarter to quarter for a variety of reasons, including:

* The size of license transactions can vary significantly
« Clients may unexpectedly postpone or cancel procurement processes due to changes in strategic priorities, project objectives, budget, or personnel

< Client purchasing processes vary significantly and a client’s internal approval, expenditure authorization, and contract negotiation processes can be difficult and time
consuming to complete, even after selection of a vendor

«  The number, timing, and significance of software product enhancements and new software product announcements by us and our competitors may affect purchase
decisions

* We may have to defer revenues under our revenue recognition policies and GAAP

« Clients may elect subscription-based arrangements, which result in lower software license revenues in the initial year as compared to traditional, on-premise software license
arrangements, but generate higher recurring revenues over the term of the contract

In each fiscal quarter, our expense levels, operating costs, and hiring plans staffing levels are based to some extent on projections of future revenues and are relatively fixed. If our
actual revenues fall below expectations, we could experience a reduction in operating results. earnings. Also, if actual revenues or earnings for any given quarter fall below
expectations, it may lead to a decline in our stock price.

Increases in our investment in research and development could decrease overall margins.

An important element of our corporate strategy is to continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to research and development and related product and service
opportunities, both through internal investments and the acquisition of intellectual property from companies that we have acquired. We believe that we must continue to dedicate a
significant amount of resources to our research and development efforts to maintain our competitive position, and research and development expense could adversely affect
operating margins.

Our stock price may be volatile.
The market price of our common stock may be volatile. Examples of factors that may significantly impact our stock price include:

« Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results

* Announcements of technological innovations, new products, or new contracts by us or our competitors

« Developments with respect to patents, copyrights, or other proprietary rights

« Conditions and trends in the software and other technology industries

* Changes in financial estimates by securities analysts

* Changes in interest rates

* General economic and market conditions and other factors
In addition, the stock market has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of technology company
stocks and may in the future adversely affect the market price of our stock. Sometimes, securities class action litigation is filed following periods of volatility in the market price of a

particular company’s securities. We cannot assure you that similar litigation will not occur in the future with respect to us. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect upon our financial performance.

Our financial outlook may not be realized.

From time to time, in press releases and otherwise, we may publish forecasts or other forward-looking statements regarding our results, including estimated revenues or earnings.
Any forecast of our future performance reflects various assumptions. These assumptions are subject to significant uncertainties, and as a matter of course, any number of them may
prove to be incorrect. Further, the achievement of any forecast depends on numerous risks and other factors (including those described in this discussion), many of which are
beyond our control. As a result, we cannot be certain that our performance will be consistent with any management forecasts or that the variation from such forecasts will not be
material and adverse. Current and potential stockholders are cautioned not to base their entire analysis of our business and prospects upon isolated predictions, but instead are
encouraged to utilize our entire publicly available mix of historical and forward-looking information, as well as other available information regarding us, our products and services,
and the software industry when evaluating our prospective results of operations.

Risks Associated with Our Growth Strategy and Other General Corporate Risks

We may experience difficulties in executing our acquisition strategy.
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A material portion of our historical growth has resulted from strategic acquisitions. Although our current focus is on organic internal growth, we will continue to identify and pursue
strategic acquisitions with suitable candidates. These transactions involve significant challenges and risks, including risks that a transaction does not advance our business strategy;
that we do not achieve the expected return on our investment; that we have difficulty integrating business systems and technology; that we have difficulty retaining or integrating
new employees; that the transactions distract management from our other businesses; that we acquire unforeseen liabilities; and other unanticipated events. Our future success will
depend, in part, on our ability to successfully integrate future acquisitions into our operations. It may take longer than expected to realize the full benefits of these transactions, such
as increased revenue, enhanced efficiencies, or increased market share, or the benefits may be ultimately less than we expected. Although we conduct due diligence reviews of
potential acquisition candidates, we may not identify all material liabilities or risks related to acquisition candidates. There can be no assurance that any such strategic acquisitions
will be accomplished on favorable terms or will result in profitable operations.

Our failure to properly manage growth could adversely affect our business.

We continue to expand our operations by pursuing existing and potential market opportunities. This growth places significant demands on management and operational resources.
In order to manage growth effectively, we must implement and improve our operational systems, procedures, and controls on a timely basis. If we fail to implement these systems,
our business may be materially adversely affected.

Increases in labor costs, including wages, and an overall tightening of the labor market, could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.

The labor costs associated with our business are subject to several external factors, including unemployment levels and the quality and the size of the labor market, prevailing wage
rates, minimum wage laws, wages and other forms of remuneration and benefits offered to prospective employees by competitor employers, health insurance costs and other
insurance costs and changes in employment and labor legislation or other workplace regulation. If we are unable to mitigate wage rate increases driven by increases to the
competitive labor market through automation and other labor savings initiatives, our labor costs may increase. Furthermore, high inflation rates could also push up our labor costs.
There is no assurance that our revenues will increase at the same rate as these labor cost increases to maintain the same level of profitability.

In the event we must offer increased wages or other competitive benefits and incentives to attract and retain qualified personnel and fail to do so, the quality of our workforce could
decline, causing certain aspects of our business to suffer. Increases in labor costs could force us to increase our prices, which could adversely impact sales. Although we have not
experienced any material labor shortage to date, we have observed an overall tightening and increasingly competitive labor market and have recently experienced and expect to
continue to experience some labor cost pressures. If we are unable to hire and retain capable employees, manage labor cost pressures, or if mitigating measures we take in
response to increased labor costs, have unintended negative effects, including on client service or retention, our business would be adversely affected. If competitive pressures or
other factors prevent us from offsetting increased labor costs, our profitability may decline and could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial
condition.

We may be unable to hire, integrate, and retain qualified personnel.

Our continued success will depend upon the availability and performance of our key management, sales, marketing, client support, and product development personnel. The loss of
key management or technical personnel could adversely affect us. We believe that our continued success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract, integrate, and retain
such personnel. We have at times experienced and continue to experience challenges in recruiting qualified personnel. Competition for qualified software development, sales, and
other personnel is intense, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel. In addition, competitive job markets may increase our
costs relating to compensation packages due to higher salary expectations and pressures.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance may result in additional expenses.

Changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance, compliance, and public disclosure can create uncertainty for public companies. The costs required to
comply with such evolving laws across the various states and at the federal level are difficult to predict and/or harmonize. To maintain high standards of corporate governance,
compliance, and public disclosure, we intend to invest all reasonably necessary resources to comply with evolving standards. This investment may result in an unforeseen increase
in general and administrative expense and a diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities, which may harm our operating results.

We do not foresee paying dividends on our common stock.

We have not declared nor paid a cash dividend since we entered the business of providing software solutions and services to the public sector business in 1998. We intend to retain
earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, and Delaware law could deter takeover attempts.

Our board Board of directors Directors may issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and may determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including
voting and conversion rights, of these preferred shares. These determinations may be made without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The rights of the holders of our
common stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The issuance of preferred stock
may make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock. In addition, some provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, and the
Delaware General Corporation Law could also delay, prevent, or make more difficult a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest involving us.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

Not applicable.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY.

Tyler is committed to remaining vigilant in an ever-changing security environment. Our public sector clients are attractive, data-rich targets for threat actors. We partner closely with
our clients to assist them in following evolving best practices, and constantly evaluate our own policies and procedures to help ensure that we are implementing safeguards that
protect their data and ours.
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The same cybersecurity threats that predominate across most industries challenge Tyler and our clients as well. These threats range from crude phishing attempts to distributed
denial-of-service disruptions to sophisticated malware and ransomware, among others. We are acutely aware that these same threats exist for our acquisition targets, our suppliers,
and our third-party business partners, and a cybersecurity incident or vulnerability experienced by any of these entities could also materially and/or adversely impact our business
operations and/or performance, both operational and financial, and could harm our reputation and/or competitive position. Given the criticality of a strong cybersecurity posture, we
continuously and conscientiously invest in our security infrastructure, tooling, and related resources.

Cyber Risk Management Strategy.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing Tyler's senior management in the execution of its risk-management responsibilities and for assessing Tyler’s overall approach
to risk management. The Board exercises these responsibilities periodically as part of its meetings and through its committees, each of which examines various components of
enterprise risk. The Audit Committee oversees management of financial risks, as well as Tyler's policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management, including but not
limited to information security risk.

Tyler’s Chief Information Security Office (“CISO”) leads the information security responsibility at Tyler. He has spent his career in information security, joining Tyler in 2018 and
previously working in the payments and semiconductor manufacturing industries. He is a Certified Information Systems Security Professional (‘CISSP”) and a Certified Data Privacy
Solutions Engineer (“CDPSE”).

The CISO reports directly to Tyler's Chief Operations Officer (“COQ”), who in turn reports to the President & Chief Executive Officer. Tyler believes this organizational structure
provides a holistic and collaborative approach to cybersecurity risk management, as the COO also oversees Tyler’s information technology, technology, and cloud operations teams,
with whom the CISO works regularly and closely. The CISO also has a dotted line to the Chair of the Audit Committee.

The CISO leads a full-time Security Risk & Compliance team that assesses, identifies and manages material risks from cybersecurity threats and oversees our Information Security
Risk Management Program. These efforts include the identification, assessment, and treatment of potential harms to Tyler’s technology, data, and intellectual property. The team
continually monitors the potential for harm to help manage the level of risk.

To help protect client information and Tyler data, Tyler leverages both internal and external resources, including third-party assessments, to work to identify and respond to
information security risks. For example:

Internal Resources: Our full-time information security team focuses on managing incoming security risks and developing preventative responses to potential future risks, using tools
targeted at people, processes, and technology. These efforts include security training for all employees at hire and on an annual basis thereafter, unannounced security testing
(particularly on topics such as phishing), and periodic security alert messages for education or urgent security communications.

We repeatedly test our software, during the development cycle and once out in the field, including internal assessments of our flagship solutions. We work closely with Tyler's Data
Privacy Officer and her team to educate Tyler team members on complementary privacy-by-design principles. We continuously iterate on access management policies for both
technological and physical resources.

Tyler staffs an internal incident response team designed to launch when a potential or suspected security incident is reported to or identified by Tyler. That team is composed of a
multi-disciplinary group of Tyler team members, including representatives from the security, privacy, communications, and relevant business unit teams, as well as outside forensic
and legal advisors that are called on as needed. The incident response team’s goal is to confirm, contain, mitigate, and remediate the incident, as applicable, and conducts a
“lessons learned” process when the incident response is completed.

To help ensure disaster recovery and business continuity, Tyler maintains a business continuity plan with comprehensive procedures designed to recover Tyler and client assets
quickly and effectively following a service disruption. Tyler’s policies and procedures with respect to disaster recovery, as well as its process to help recover critical technology
platforms, data center infrastructure, and operations, are updated regularly, tested annually, and reviewed by third-party auditors. We also partner with our Internal Audit team to
regularly assess and respond to evolving risk management findings.

External resources: Tyler leverages third-party assessments, audits, and reporting obligations to provide additional layers of accountability, monitoring and testing. This includes a
bug reporting program that we publish that invites any third party to report a security vulnerability they have identified. We also use a Qualified Security Assessor to perform an
annual Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards assessment that tests our credit card data controls, and we undergo an annual System & Organizational Control audit to
generate a report of our key compliance controls and objectives, among other things. Given our technology in the courts and public safety markets, we also manage compliance with
Criminal Justice Information Systems security standards that are established by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”), and we partner with our clients and third-party Criminal
Justice Information Services (“CJIS”) compliance consultants to ensure that we adhere to the requirements applicable to us.

Technology: Tyler also utilizes technology to help harden our environment from internal and external threats. We leverage a third-party endpoint detection management solution and
threat intelligence software, as well as web-filtering tools, a multi-factor authentication tool, and related tools that support our “defense-in-depth” strategy. These tools are operated
by subject-matter experts that report to the CISO, and Tyler employees are educated on the tooling to the extent applicable.

Third Parties: Our management of third-party security risks is an area of heightened focus for us. Over the past several years, we have worked to formalize our security due
diligence process for each acquisition target, such that security is a formally embedded component of our due diligence and typically involves our independent testing of the target
technology prior to closing the acquisition. Where a vulnerability or risk is identified, we generally require remediation by the target or attempt to ensure a remediation path post-
closing, with contractual protections and liability parameters set forth in the purchase agreement.

We strive to enhance our vendor risk analysis, with a goal of universalizing the use of form cybersecurity questionnaires and/or security addenda where applicable. We consider the

results of a security and privacy review of material vendor contracts, as well as our material contracts with business partners. Our goal is to proactively identify and manage potential
security risks and vulnerabilities, and to clearly articulate the responsibility — whether shared, divided, flow-down, or otherwise — of Tyler, our acquisition targets, our vendors, and/or

our business partners. We expect third parties — including our clients — to report cybersecurity incidents to us so that we can assess the impact of the incident on us.

Cybersecurity Governance
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In 2022, we formalized a multi-layered security governance structure, with the goal of ensuring that responsibilities are clear, information is effectively communicated, priorities are
coordinated, and proper oversight is provided. Each “layer” of the governance structure has unique meeting, reporting, and action cadences to help ensure consistent
communication between our security working groups, our leadership team, and our Board of Directors.

On at least a quarterly basis, Tyler's CISO provides a formal report to the Audit Committee and to the Board of Directors. Our Audit Committee Chair and CISO also communicate
on an as-needed basis between those quarterly reports. In 2022, Tyler’s Lead Independent Director completed the requirements to receive the CERT Certificate in Cybersecurity
Oversight from the Software Engineering Institute at Carnegie Mellon University. Another Tyler director possesses more than 37 years of Department of Defense experience in
cyberspace operations and major computer network architectures.

Tyler’s governance practices are supported by several segments of Tyler’s senior leadership, management, and teams. This includes security working groups and a security
governance committee. The security governance committee, which meets on a quarterly basis to review the threat landscape and security initiatives at Tyler, is led by the CISO and
includes senior leadership from Tyler’s legal and operational teams, as well as the president of each of Tyler’s three operating groups and Tyler’s President & CEO.

We firmly believe — and communicate regularly — that all Tyler team members have a vital role to play in cybersecurity risk management. We identify their responsibilities as falling
into three key areas:

e Participating in training to identify and promptly report risks;
e Staying informed by reading all pertinent information and security communications; and

« Actively engaging in ongoing training initiatives.

We observe Cybersecurity Awareness month with interactive weekly training, workshops, and additional resources on strong cybersecurity practices. In addition to Cybersecurity
Awareness month, additional cybersecurity training and awareness initiatives occur throughout the calendar year, including annual security compliance training; a monthly
Cybersecurity Awareness Series composed of articles and training highlighting current cybersecurity concerns; company-wide communication as necessary to alert team members
of potential threats; and weekly security-related videos with opportunities to win prizes through participation. We track participation in training events and boast high participation
rates, with continuous reflection on strategies for driving participation yet higher.

In 2022, we expanded our Security Champions Program to identify a resource on our various application teams who proactively operationalizes security best practices on their
team. This program helps to ensure that security measures are built into our programs from development to deployment. We have over 100 security champions who can
collaboratively advocate security tools throughout the lifecycle of our applications.

Measuring_Cybersecurity Risks

In order to evaluate whether a cybersecurity risk is material to Tyler, we take a multi-disciplinary approach to assessing qualitative and quantitative factors. The cross-functional
team includes senior leadership from Tyler’s information security, legal, finance, and accounting teams, as well as senior leadership from the impacted business unit(s).

When an incident is reported, Tyler assembles its incident response team and initiates its incident response process as soon as possible. Working with the incident response team,
the CISO aims to take an initial measurement of qualitative and quantitative metrics, typically within 24 hours of the incident report, to help determine whether Tyler’'s Chief Financial
Officer (“CFQO”) and Chief Accounting Officer (“CAQ”) should be engaged to do a deeper analysis of quantitative factors. The CFO and CAO are expected to engage with the
Company’s Chief Legal Officer (“CLO”) and Audit Chair to evaluate, holistically, not just the quantitative factors but the qualitative factors as well. If that team determines that the
incident may represent a risk of national security, the CLO may contact the US attorney general for a disclosure delay of up to 30 days, or if applicable the team may coordinate to
prepare and publish an 8-K, if management believes the materiality threshold has been reached. Whether or not the incident is deemed material, the incident response team will
monitor the incident on an ongoing basis to attempt to ensure containment, mitigation, and remediation, as well as to monitor for evolving factors that subsequently push the incident
to a materiality threshold that requires disclosure and reporting.

Quantitative metrics for evaluating a security incident include the potential or actual financial loss, the costs of impacted data records, remediation costs, and/or third-party
expenses. Qualitative factors include potential or actual impacts to Tyler’s reputation and/or competitiveness, disruptions to Tyler’s business, and/or risk of litigation or regulatory
action. In evaluating an incident, Tyler also works to assess whether the incident is related to another recent incident and whether the incident may represent a threat to national
security. Tyler does not expect an incident to rise to that level unless Tyler infrastructure is deemed “critical infrastructure” by the Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency
(“CISA").

Notwithstanding these ongoing efforts and our multi-layered approach to cybersecurity, we may not be successful in preventing or mitigating a cybersecurity incident that could have
a material adverse effect on us. While Tyler maintains cybersecurity insurance, the costs related to cybersecurity threats or disruptions may not be fully insured.

Please see Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” for a discussion of cybersecurity risks.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

We occupy a total of approximately 1.3 million square feet of office space, of which approximately 746,000 762,000 square feet is in various office facilities we own. We own or lease
offices for our major operations in the states of Arkansas, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, lllinois, Indiana, Kansas, Massachusetts, Maine, Michigan, Missouri,
Montana, North Carolina, New York, Ohio, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, Washington, Washington D.C., Wisconsin, Ontario and British Columbia, Canada, the Philippines and the
Philippines. India.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

During the first quarter of 2022, the Company we received a notice of termination for convenience for professional services under a contractual arrangement with a state
government client. Upon receipt of the termination notice, we ceased performing services under the contractual arrangement and sought payment of contractually owed fees of
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approximately $15 million in connection with the termination for convenience. As of December 31, the total exposure in our financial statements included the remaining balance of
net billed accounts receivable for licenses and services rendered under the contract of approximately $12 million.

The client was unresponsive to company our outreach for several months. On August 23, 2022, the Company we filed a lawsuit to enforce our rights and remedies under the
applicable contractual arrangement. The arrangement, and since then have been engaged directly with the client has not filed responsive pleadings and no other significant activity
has occurred in the lawsuit. on payment resolution. Although we believe our products and services were delivered in accordance with the terms of our contract and that we are
entitled to payment in connection with the termination for convenience, at this time the matter remains unresolved. We are unable to estimate the probability of a favorable or
unfavorable outcome with respect to the dispute or estimate the amount of potential loss, if any, related to this matter. We can provide no assurances that we will not incur additional

costs as we pursue our rights and remedies under the contract.

ITEM 4.

Not applicable.

ITEM 5.

PART Il

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TYL". At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had approximately 1,065 1,039 stockholders
of record. Most of our stockholders hold their shares in street name; therefore, there are substantially more than 1,065 1,039 beneficial owners of our common stock.

We did not pay any cash dividends in 2022 2023 or 2021. 2022. Our bank credit agreement contains restrictions on the payment of cash dividends. We intend to retain earnings for
use in the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable future.

The following table summarizes certain information related to our stock incentive plan, restricted stock units and our employee stock purchase plan. There are no warrants or rights
related to our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

initial column Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of

Number of
securities Number of
to be securities
issued remaining
upon available for
exercise of Weighted future
outstanding  average issuance
options, exercise  Under equity
warrants, . compensation
price of
purchase plans
rights and outstanding  (excluding
vesting of  options securities
restricted and reflected in
stock units
unvested
as of ) as of
December  estricted  pecember 31,
31,2022 stock units 2022)
Plan Plan
Category Category.
Equity Equity
compensation compensation
plans plans
approved by approved by
security security
shareholders: shareholders:
Equity compensation plans
approved by security
shareholders:
Equity compensation plans
approved by security
shareholders:
2018 Incentive Stock
Plan
2018 Incentive Stock
Plan
2018 2018
Incentive Incentive
Stock Plan  Stock Plan 2,078,261 263.59 1,254,531

outstanding options, warrants, purchase rights and
vesting of restricted stock units as of
December 31, 2023
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Employee Employee

Stock Stock

Purchase Purchase

Plan Plan 11,092 274.05 576,343
Equity Equity

compensation compensation

plans not plans not

approved by approved by

security security

shareholders shareholders — = —

2,089,353 $ 263.64 1,830,874

1,880,809

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had authorization to repurchase up to approximately 2.3 million additional shares of Tyler common stock. During 2022, 2023, we
purchased nodid not purchase any shares of our common stock.

A summary of the repurchase activity during 2022 2023 is as follows:

Additional number of shares Maximum number of shares
Total number of shares authorized that may be that may be repurchased

Period repurchased repurchased Average price paid per share  under current authorization
Three months ended March 31 — — — 2,344,200 2,270,091
Three months ended June 30 — — — 2,344,200 2,270,091
Three months ended September 30 — — — 2,344,200 2,270,091
October 1 through October 31 — — — 2,344,200 2,270,091
November 1 through November 30 — — — 2,344,200 2,270,091
December 1 through December 31 — — — 2,344,200 2,270,091

The repurchase program, which was approved by our board Board of directors, Directors, was announced in October 2002, and was amended at various times from 2003 through
2019. There is no expiration date specified for the authorization, and we intend to may repurchase stock under the program from time to time.

As of February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024, we had remaining authorization to repurchase up to 2.3 million additional shares of our common stock.

Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that we
specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following table compares total shareholder returns for Tyler over the last five years to the Standard and Poor’s 500 Stock Index and the Standard and Poor’s 600 Information
Technology Index assuming a $100 investment made on December 31, 2017 December 31, 2018. Each of the three measures of cumulative total return assumes reinvestment of
dividends. The stock performance shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.

|#.2405
Company/ Company /
Index Index 12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22 Company. / Index 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22 12/31/23
Tyler Tyler
Technologies, Technologies,
Inc. Inc. 100 104.95 169.45 246.55 303.84 182.10
S&P 500 S&P 500
Stock Index Stock Index 100 95.62 12572 148.85 191.58 156.88

S&P 600 S&P 600
Information  Information
Technology  Technology
Index Index 100 91.07 127.12 162.47 206.09 160.00

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

This section has been eliminated as a result of adopting the November 19, 2020, amendment to Item 301 of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K. For a comparison of our Results of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, and 2020, 2021, and our Cash Flow discussion for the year ended
December 2021, 2022, see “Part Il, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, as filed with the SEC on February 23, 2022 February 21, 2023.

CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that
are not historical in nature and typically address future or anticipated events, trends, expectations or beliefs with respect to our financial condition, results of operations or business.
Forward-looking statements often contain words such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “foresees,” “forecasts,” “estimates,” “plans,” “intends,” “continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,”
“projects,” “might,” “could” or other similar words or phrases. Similarly, statements that describe our business strategy, outlook, objectives, plans, intentions or goals also are
forward-looking statements. We believe there is a reasonable basis for our forward-looking statements, but they are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties and actual results
could differ materially from the expectations and beliefs reflected in the forward-looking statements. We presently consider the following to be among the important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations and beliefs: (1) the continuing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including its potential effects on the economic
environment, our customers and our operations, as well as any changes to federal, state or local government laws, regulations or orders in connection with the pandemic; (2)
changes in the budgets or regulatory environments of our clients, primarily local and state governments, that could negatively impact information technology spending; (3) (2)
disruption to our business and harm to our competitive position resulting from cyber-attacks and security vulnerabilities; (4) (3) our ability to protect client information from security
breaches and provide uninterrupted operations of data centers; (5) (4) our ability to achieve growth or operational synergies through the integration of acquired businesses, while
avoiding unanticipated costs and disruptions to existing operations; (6) (5) material portions of our business require the internet Internet infrastructure to be adequately maintained;
(7) (6) our ability to achieve our financial forecasts due to various factors, including project delays by our clients, reductions in transaction size, fewer transactions, delays in delivery
of new products or releases or a decline in our renewal rates for service agreements; (8) (7) general economic, political and market conditions, including continued inflation and
changes inrising interest rates; (9) (8) technological and market risks associated with the development of new products or services or of new versions of existing or acquired
products or services; (10) (9) competition in the industry in which we conduct business and the impact of competition on pricing, client retention and pressure for new products or
services; (11) (10) the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel and dealing with rising labor costs, the loss or retirement of key members of management or other key
personnel; and (12) (11) costs of compliance and any failure to comply with government and stock exchange regulations. A detailed discussion of these These factors and other
risks that affect our business are described in Item 1A, “Risk Factors”. We expressly disclaim any obligation to publicly update or revise our forward-looking statements.

" " " " "

OVERVIEW
General

We provide integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector. We develop and market a broad line of software products and services to address the IT
needs of public sector entities. We provide subscription-based services such as software as a service (“SaaS”), and transaction-based fees primarily related to digital government
services and online payment processing, and electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”), which simplify the filing and management of court related documents. processing. In
addition, we provide professional IT services to our clients, including software and hardware installation, data conversion, training, and for certain clients, product modifications,
along with continuing maintenance and support for clients using our systems. Additionally, we provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions. jurisdictions.

We provide our software systems and related professional services and appraisal services through seven business units, which focus on the following products:
« financial management, education and planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;
« financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;
« courts and justice and public safety software solutions;
¢ data and insights solutions;
* appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services;
* development platform solutions including case management and business process management; and
« digital government and payments solutions.

In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting,, we report our results in two reportable segments. Business units that have met the aggregation criteria have been combined
into our two reportable segments. The Enterprise Software (“ES” ("ES") reportable segment provides public sector entities with software systems and services to meet their
information technology and automation needs for mission-critical “back-office” functions such as: financial management and education; planning, regulatory and maintenance; public
administration solutions; courts and justice; public safety; data and insights; appraisal and tax software safety solutions; land and vital records management software

solutions; education solutions, and property appraisal services. and recording solutions. The Platform Technologies (“PT" ("PT") reportable segment provides public sector entities
with software solutions to perform transaction platform and transformative solutions including digital solutions, payment processing, streamline data processing, and improve
operations and workflows such as digital government workflows.

As of January 1, 2023, our data and payments insights solutions and development platform solutions. business unit was integrated into the remaining business units across both
reportable segments with no material change to the results of the reportable segments.

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating income. We define segment operating income for our
business units as income before non-cash amortization of intangible assets associated with their acquisitions, interest expense, and income taxes. Segment operating income
includes intercompany transactions. The majority of intercompany transactions relate to contracts involving more than one unit and are valued based on the contractual
arrangement. Corporate segment operating loss primarily consists of compensation costs for the executive management team, certain shared services staff, and share-based
compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income loss also includes revenues and expenses related to a company-wide user conference.
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As of January 1, 2022, the appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal service business unit, which was
previously reported in the Appraisal & Tax ("A&T") reportable segment, was moved to the ES reportable segment. The digital government and payments solutions, which was
previously reported in the NIC reportable segment, and development platform solutions moved to the PT reportable segment to reflect changes in the way in which management
makes operating decisions, allocates resources, and manages the growth and profitability of the Company. As a result of the changes in our reportable segments, the former A&T
and NIC reportable segments are no longer considered separate segments. Prior period amounts for the ES and PT reportable segments have been adjusted to reflect the segment
change. See Note 17, "Segment and Related Information," in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. We Beginning January 1, 2023, we no longer report the appraisal services
revenue and related costs as separate categories in the statement of income due to less significance on our overall operating results. Therefore, we have elected to present
amortization combined the appraisal services revenue category with the professional services revenue category; and the related cost of software development, previously included
inrevenue category for appraisal services is now combined with the cost of revenues software licenses revenue category related to subscriptions, maintenance and royalties line
item, in a separate category line item on the consolidated statements of income for all reporting periods presented. Previously disclosed as selling, general and administrative
expense is now disclosed in separate line items: sales and marketing expense and general and administrative expense professional services on the consolidated statements of
income for all reporting periods presented.

Recent Acquisitions
2023

On October 31, 2023, we acquired Resource Exploration, Inc. (“ResourceX”), a leading provider of budgeting software to the public sector. The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $48,000, was approximately $16.3 million, consisting of $9.1 million paid in cash, $5.7 million of common stock and $1.5 million related to working capital and indemnity
holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

On October 31, 2023, we acquired ARInspect, Inc. (“ARInspect”), a leading provider of Al powered machine learning solutions for public sector field operations. The total purchase
price, net of cash acquired of $1.0 million, was approximately $20.5 million, consisting of $19.1 million paid in cash and $2.4 million related to working capital and indemnity
holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

On August 8, 2023, we acquired Computing System Innovations, LLC (“CSI"), a leading provider of artificial intelligence automation, redaction, and indexing solution for courts,
recorders, attorneys, and others. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $415,000, was approximately $36.2 million, consisting of $33.4 million paid in cash and $3.3
million related to working capital and indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

The actual operating results of CSI and ResourceX, from their respective dates of acquisition, are included in the operating results of the ES segment. The operating results of
ARInspect are included in the operating results of the PT segment since the date of acquisition.

2022

On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC (“Rapid”), a principal provider of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with best-in-class card issuance and
digital disbursement capabilities. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, was approximately $67.7 million $67.4 million, consisting of $51.2 million $51.5
million paid in cash and, $18.2 million of common stock, and $500,000 related to working capital holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. stock.

On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. (US eDirect) (“US eDirect”), a leading provider of technology solutions for campground and outdoor recreation management. The
total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $6.4 million, was approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $118.8 million $122.9 million paid in cash and approximately $4.1 million
related to indemnity holdbacks.

2021

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate Information Systems, Inc. (dba Arx). Arx is a cloud-based platform which creates accessible technology to
enable a modern-day police force that is fully transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource to the community it serves. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was
approximately $12.8 million.

On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine, Inc (VendEngine), a cloud-based software provider focused on financial technology for the corrections market. The total purchase
price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, was approximately $83.6 million, consisting of $81.6 million paid in cash, and approximately $3.8 million related to indemnity holdbacks.

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, a leading digital government solutions and payment company that primarily serves federal and state government agencies. The total purchase
price, net of cash acquired of $331.8 million, was approximately $2.0 billion, consisting of cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase consideration related to the
conversion of unvested restricted stock awards.

On March 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions, Glass Arc, Inc. (dba ReadySub) and DataSpec, Inc. (DataSpec), for the combined purchase price of $12.1 million.

2022 Operating Results

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, total revenues increased 16% compared to the prior period. Excluding the 2022 impact of recent acquisitionsz, total revenues
increased 4% compared to prior period. Revenues from acquisitions contributed 12.4% of growth for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.

Subscriptions revenue grew 29.0% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, due to an ongoing shift toward a cloud-based, software as a service business model, as well
as the inclusion of transaction-based revenue from NIC's digital government and payments processing businesses. Excluding the 2022 impact of recent acquisitions:, subscriptions
revenue increased 6.3% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. cash.

The majority actual operating results of our revenues Rapid and US eDirect, from their respective dates of acquisition, are comprised included in the operating results of revenues
from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider to be recurring revenues. Annualized recurring revenues ("ARR") is calculated based on quarter-to-date end total recurring
revenues multiplied by four. ARR was $1.50 billion and $1.39 billion as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. ARR increased 8% compared to the prior period, due to an
increase in subscriptions revenue due to an ongoing shift toward SaaS arrangements. PT segment.
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2023 Operating Results

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, total revenues include COVID-related subscriptions revenue increased 5.5% compared to the prior
period. Revenues from recent acquisitions comprised $22.3 million or 1.2%, of $10.8 million the increase.

Subscription revenues grew 14.5% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to an ongoing shift to SaaS in the mix of new arrangements; an increase in
revenues associated with the conversion of on-premises clients to SaaS; and growth in our transaction-based revenues such as e-filing and payments, offset by the absence of
COVID pandemic related transaction-based revenue. Subscription revenues from NIC’s Tour Health offering and professional services revenue recent acquisitions comprised $18.3
million or 1.8%, of $40.2 million from pandemic unemployment and Virginia rent relief offerings. These programs all ended in 2022 and we do not expect to generate COVID-related
subscriptions revenue and professional services revenue in future periods.

the increase. We monitor and analyze several key performance indicators in order to manage our business and evaluate our financial and operating performance. These indicators
include the following:

Revenues — We derive our revenues from five four primary sources: subscription-based arrangements; arrangements from SaaS and transaction-based fees; maintenance;
professional services; sale of and software licenses and royalties; and appraisal services. royalties. Subscriptions and maintenance are considered recurring revenue sources
and comprised approximately 80% 83% of our revenues in 2022.2023. The number of new Saas clients and the number of existing clients who convert from our traditional
software arrangements to our SaaS model are a significant driver of our revenue growth, together with new software license sales transaction-based revenues and maintenance
rate increases. We monitor ARR which is calculated based on quarter-to-date end total recurring revenues multiplied by four. As of December 31, 2022, ARR was $1.50 billion.
In addition, we also monitor our customer client base and turnover, attrition, which historically is very low. During 2022, 2023, based on our number of customers,

turnover attrition was approximately 2%.

Annualized Recurring Revenue - The majority of our revenues are comprised of revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider to be recurring revenues
sources. Annualized recurring revenue (ARR) is calculated by annualizing the current quarter's recurring revenues from maintenance and subscriptions as reported in our
statement of income. Management believes ARR is an indicator of the annual run rate of our recurring revenues, as well as a measure of the effectiveness of the strategies we
deploy to drive revenue growth over time. ARR is a metric we believe is widely used by companies in the technology sector and by investors, which we believe offers insight to
the stability of our maintenance and subscription revenues to be recognized within the year, which are considered recurring in nature, with some seasonality.

Subscription revenues primarily consists of revenues derived from our SaaS arrangements and transaction-based fees, which relate to digital government services, including e-
filing transactions and payment processing. These revenues are considered recurring because revenues from these sources are expected to reoccur in similar annual amounts
for the term of our relationship with the client. Transaction-based fees are generally the result of multi-year contracts with our clients that result in fees generated by payment
transactions and digital government services and are collected on a recurring basis during the contract term. Transaction-based fees are historically highest in the second
quarter, which coincides with peak outdoor recreation seasons and statutory filing deadlines in many jurisdictions, and lowest in the fourth quarter due to fewer business days
and lower transaction volumes around holidays. Because ARR is an annualized revenue amount, the metric can fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to this seasonality. ARR
was $1.61 billion and $1.50 billion as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. ARR increased 8% compared to the prior period primarily due to an increase in
subscriptions revenue resulting from an ongoing shift toward SaaS arrangements.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins — Our primary cost component is personnel expenses in connection with providing software implementation, subscription-based services
and maintenance and support and appraisal services to our clients. We can improve gross margins by controlling headcount and related costs and by expanding our revenue
base, especially from those products and services that produce incremental revenue with minimal relatively low incremental cost, such as software licenses and royalties,
subscription-based services, and maintenance and support. Our appraisal projects are cyclical in nature, and we often employ appraisal personnel on a short-term basis to
coincide with the life of a project. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our total employee count included in cost of revenues increased to 5,129 from 5,021 from 4,746
at December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, including 56 61 employees who joined us through acquisitions completed since December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022.

Sales and Marketing (“S&M”) Expense — The primary components of S&M expense include sales personnel salaries and share-based compensation expense, sales
commissions, travel-related expenses, advertising and marketing materials, and allocated depreciation, facilities, and IT support. Sales commissions typically fluctuate with
revenues and share-based compensation expense generally increases based on increased levellevels of awards issuesissued during the period and as the market price of our
stock increases. Other administrative expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than revenues.

General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expense — The primary components of G&A expense include personnel salaries and share-based compensation expense for general
corporate functions, including senior management, finance, accounting, legal, human resources and corporate development, third party third-party professional fees, travel-
related expenses, insurance, allocation of depreciation, facilities and IT support costs, acquisition-related expenses and other administrative expenses. Share-based
compensation expense generally increases based on increased level of awards issued during the period and as the market price of our stock increases. Other administrative
expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than revenues.

Liquidity and Cash Flows — The primary driver of our cash flows is net income. Uses of cash include acquisitions, capital investments in property and equipment and software
development, and discretionary purchases of treasury stock. Our working capital needs are fairly stable throughout the year with the significant components of cash outflows
being payment of personnel expenses offset by cash inflows representing collection of accounts receivable and cash receipts from clients in advance of revenue being earned.
In recent years,

1 Excludes the 2022 incremental impact as a result of not having the recent acquisition for a full fiscal year.

we have also received significant amounts of cash from employees exercising stock options and contributing to our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Balance Sheet — Cash, accounts receivable and days sales outstanding and deferred revenue balances are important indicators of our business.

Outlook
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The local government software market continues to be active with sales activity indicators generally trending at or near above pre-pandemic levels in most sectors of our business,
and our backlog at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 reached $1.89 billion $2.03 billion, a 5% an 8% increase from the prior period. We expect to continue to achieve solid
growth in revenues and earnings. With our strong financial position and cash flow, we plan to continue to make significant investments in product development and

accelerating continue to accelerate our move to the cloud to better position us to continue to expand our addressable market and strengthen our competitive position over the long
term. The expenses associated with the cloud transition are expected to pressure operating margins in 2023 and 2024.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (“‘GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues, cost of revenues and expenses during the reporting period, and related
disclosure of contingencies. The Notes to the Financial Statements included as part of this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the
financial statements. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the application of the progress toward completion methods of revenue recognition,
estimated standalone selling price ("SSP") estimation for distinctrevenue recognition and multiple performance obligations, obligation arrangements, and the fair value

amount recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets and estimated useful lives of intangible assets, determination of share-based compensation expense and allowance for
losses and sales adjustments. assets. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies require significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition. We earn the majority of our revenues from software licenses, royalties, subscription-based services professional services, and post-contract customer support
(“PCS” or “maintenance”), . Other sources of revenue are professional services, software licenses and royalties, and hardware and appraisal services. other. Revenue is recognized
upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services.
We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

« Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

« Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

« Determination of the transaction price

« Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
« Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Our software arrangements with customers contain multiple performance obligations that range from software licenses, and SaaS arrangements, installation, training, and consulting
related to software modification and customization to meet specific customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. For these contracts, we account for individual performance
obligations separately when they are distinct. We evaluate whether separate performance obligations can be distinct or should be accounted for as one performance obligation.
Arrangements that include professional services, such as training or installation, are evaluated to determine whether the customer can benefit from the services either on their own
or together with other resources readily available to the customer and whether the services are separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Many of our software
arrangements involve “off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to "off-the-shelf" software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when control of the
software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct. We consider off-the-shelf software to be distinct when it can be added to an arrangement
with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not considered
highly interdependent or highly interrelated to the product's functionality.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinct, we
recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control
to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total
cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to
total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first
determine that a loss is apparent. When professional services are distinct, the fee allocable to the service element is recognized over the time we perform the services and is billed
on a time and material or milestones basis.

Subscription-based services consist primarily of revenues derived from SaaS arrangements transaction and transactions from digital government services; payment

processing, processing; and electronic filing transactions, and digital government services. (“e-filing”). Revenue from subscription-based services is generally recognized over time
on a ratable basis over the contract term, beginning on the date that our service is made available to the customer. For SaaS arrangements, we evaluate whether the customer has
the contractual right to take possession of our software at any time during the hosting period without significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the software
on the customer’s hardware or enter into another arrangement with a third-party third party to host the software. We allocate contract value to each performance obligation of the
arrangement that qualifies for treatment as a distinct element based on estimated SSP. We recognize SaaS arrangements ratably over the terms of the arrangements, which range
from one to ten years, but are typically for periods of three to five years. For professional services associated with certain SaaS arrangements, we have concluded that the services
are not distinct, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining contractual period once we have provided the customer access to the software. We record amounts that
have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

For transaction and payments revenue and e-filing transaction fees, transaction-based revenues, we have the right to charge the customer an amount that directly corresponds with
the value to the customer of our performance to date. Therefore, we recognize revenue for these services over time based on the amount billable to the customer in accordance with
the 'as invoiced' practical expedient in ASC 606-10-55-18. In some cases, we are paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period. Typically,
the structure of our arrangements does not give rise to variable consideration. However, in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in our estimates,
additional revenue for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable.
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The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into
consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our
contracts. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP stand- alone selling price (“SSP”) when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to determine whether
there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell
the product or service separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for losses and sales adjustments and
any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against revenues at the time the loss is incurred. Since most of our clients are domestic
governmental entities, we rarely incur a credit loss resulting from the inability of a client to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying
amount for the allowances for losses and sales adjustments may require revision, include, but are not limited to, managing our client’s expectations regarding the scope of the
services to be delivered and defects or errors in new versions or enhancements of our software products. Our allowance for losses and sales adjustments of $22.8 million and $14.8
million and $12.1 million at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively, does not include provisions for credit losses. As of
January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, and primarily evaluated our historical experience with credit losses related to trade and other
receivables. Because we rarely experience credit losses with our clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credit losses.

In connection with certain of our contracts, we have recorded retentions receivable or unbilled receivables consisting of costs and estimated profit in excess of billings as of the
balance sheet date. Many of the contracts which give rise to unbilled receivables at a given balance sheet date are subject to billings in the subsequent accounting period. We
review unbilled receivables and related contract provisions to ensure we are justified in recognizing revenue prior to billing the customer and that we have objective evidence which
allows us to recognize such revenue. In addition, we have a sizable amount of deferred revenue, which represents billings in excess of revenue earned. The majority of this liability
consists of subscriptions and maintenance billings for which payments are made in advance and the revenue is ratably earned over the subscription or maintenance billing period,
generally one year. We also have deferred revenue for those contracts in which we receive a deposit and the conditions in which to record revenue for the service or product have
not been met. On a periodic basis, we review by customer the detail components of our deferred revenue to ensure our accounting remains appropriate.

Business Combinations. Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their
respective fair values. The determination of fair value requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, and in making these determinations, management uses all available
information.

For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination, management estimates the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on quoted
market prices, the carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. The assumptions
made in performing these valuations include, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and operating costs, projections of capital costs, and other assumptions believed
to be consistent with those used by principal market participants.

Due to the specialized nature of these calculations, we engage third-party specialists to assist management in evaluating our assumptions as well as appropriately measuring the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. We adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain
new information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the closing date. If actual results are materially different than the assumptions we used to determine fair value of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed through a business combination as well as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible assets, it is possible that adjustments to
the carrying values of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact on our financial position and results of operations.

Gooawill and Other Intangible Assets and Goodwill. Our business acquisitions typically result in the creation of goodwill and other intangible asset balances, and these balances
affect the amount and timing of future period amortization expense, as well as expense we could possibly incur as a result of an impairment charge. The cost of acquired companies
is allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets based on estimated fair value, with the excess allocated to goodwill. Accordingly, we have a significant balance of
acquisition date intangible assets, including software, customer related intangibles, trade name, leases and goodwill. These intangible assets (other than goodwill) are amortized
over their estimated useful lives. We currently have no intangible assets with indefinite lives other than goodwiill.

We assess goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable. We begin with the
qualitative assessment of whether the likelihood of impairment of each reporting unit. If the conclusion of this assessment is that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair
value is less more than its carrying value, before applying the we are not required to perform a quantitative assessment described below. impairment test. When testing goodwill for
impairment quantitatively, we first compare the estimated fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit goodwill exceeds the
implied fair value of that goodwill, reporting unit, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values calculated in our impairment tests are determined using discounted cash flow
models involving several assumptions (Level 3 inputs). The assumptions that are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in
estimating fair value. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. We evaluate the
reasonableness of the fair value calculations of our reporting units by comparing the total of the fair value of all of our reporting units to our total market capitalization.

During the fourth quarter, as part of our annual impairment test as of October 1, we performed only qualitative assessments for the reporting units containing the recently acquired
data and insights, digital government and payments solutions, and development platform solutions, and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date.
Approximately $1.7 billion, or 70%, of total goodwill as of December 31, 2022, relates to these reporting units, which as that have significant excess fair value over carrying value. As
a result of these recent acquisitions, do not have significant excess fair values over carrying values. We performed qualitative assessments, for the remaining reporting units in
which we determined that it notwas more likely than not that the fair value exceeded the carrying value; therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative impairment test.
However, we did perform a quantitative assessment for the platform technologies reporting unit and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date.
Approximately $1.7 billion, or 67%, of total goodwill as of December 31, 2023, relates to this reporting unit, which, as a result of the recency of the acquisitions comprising the
reporting unit, does not have significant excess fair value over carrying value. Our annual goodwill impairment analysis did not result in an impairment charge. During 2022, 2023,
we have recorded no impairment to goodwill as because no triggering events or change in circumstances indicating a potential impairment has had occurred as of period-end.

Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and considerable management judgment. We base our fair value

estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. Changes in market conditions or other factors outside
of our control, uncertainty, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, could cause us to change key assumptionsweighted average cost of capital and our judgment revenue growth rates which
are forward looking and affected by expectations about a reporting unit's prospects. future market or economic conditions. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could significantly
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underperform relative to its historical or projected future operating results. Either situation could result in a meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, and
a consequent future impairment charge.

All intangible assets (other than goodwill) are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of other intangible assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount to estimated undiscounted future cash flows. The assessment of
recoverability or of the estimated useful life for amortization purposes will be affected if the timing or the amount of estimated future operating cash flows is not achieved. Such
indicators may include, among others: a significant decline in expected future cash flows; a sustained, significant decline in stock price and market capitalization; a significant
adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate; unanticipated competition; and reductions in growth rates. In addition, products, capabilities, or technologies developed
by others may render our software products obsolete or non-competitive. Any adverse change in these factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability of goodwill or
other intangible assets. During 2022, 2023, we did not identify any triggering events that would indicate that the carrying amount of our intangible assets may not be recoverable.

Recent adoption of new accounting pronouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers (ASC 805) (“ASU 2021-08"). ASU 2021-08
requires an acquirer in a business combination to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities (deferred revenue) from acquired contracts using the revenue
recognition guidance in Topic 606. Under this "Topic 606 approach," the acquirer applies the revenue model as if it had originated the contracts. This is a departure from the current
requirement to measure contract assets and contract liabilities at fair value. ASU 2021-08 is effective for all public business entities in annual and interim periods starting after
December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. An entity that early adopts should apply the amendments (1) retrospectively to all business combinations for which the
acquisition date occurs on or after the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period of early application and (2) prospectively to all business combinations that occur on
or after the date of initial application. We early adopted as of January 1, 2022. The adoption of ASU 2021-08 resulted in no adjustments to the fair value of the deferred revenue
balances assumed in our 2022 acquisitions. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Recent Accounting Guidance not yet Adopted

There were noln November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-07 - Segment Reporting (Topic 280), Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures. ASU 2023-07 enhances the disclosures required for reportable segments in annual and interim consolidated financial statements. The guidance is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, and early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating
the impact that the new guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 — Income Taxes (Topic ASC 740) Income Taxes. The ASU improves the transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring (1)
consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in the rate reconciliation and (2) income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. It also includes certain other
amendments to improve the effectiveness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted.
We do not yet adopted accounting pronouncements currently issued expect that would affect the Company or this guidance will have a material impact on its consolidated upon our
financial position orand results of operations operations.

Reclassifications

As of January 1, 2023, we have elected to no longer report the appraisal services revenue and related costs as separate categories in future periods. the statement of income due to
less significance on our overall operating results. Therefore, we have combined the appraisal services revenue category with the professional services revenue category; and the
related cost of revenue category for appraisal services is now combined with the cost of revenue category related to subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services on the
consolidated statements of income for all reporting periods presented.

ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER

The following discussion compares the historical results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and
2020.2021.

Percentage of Total
Revenues
Years Ended December
31,

2022 2021 2020

Percentage of Total Revenues Percentage of Total Revenues
Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,
2023 2023 2022 2021
Revenues: Revenues: Revenues:
Subscriptions =~ Subscriptions 54.7% 49.3% 31.4% Subscriptions 59.4 % 547 % 49.3 %

Maintenance Maintenance  25.3 29.8 41.9

Professional Professional
services services 13.1 13.2 16.7
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Software
licenses and
royalties

Hardware and

other
Total

revenues

Cost of

revenues:

Subscriptions,
maintenance,
and
professional
services
Software
licenses,
royalties, and
amortization
of acquired
software
Amortization
of software
development

Hardware and

other
Sales and
marketing
expense
General and
administrative
expense
Research and
development
expense

Amortization of
other intangibles
Operating

income
Interest expense

Other income,
net
Income
before income
taxes
Income tax
provision

(benefit)

Net income

2023 Compared to 2021 2022

Revenues
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On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC (Rapid), a provider of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with best-in-class card issuance and digital
disbursement capabilities. On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. (US eDirect), a leading provider of technology solutions for campground and outdoor recreation
management. On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, Inc., a leading digital government solutions and payment company that serves federal, state and local government agencies. US
eDirect and Rapid are operated as a part of the digital government and payment solutions business unit (also known as the NIC division) and the results of NIC, US eDirect, and
Rapid from their respective dates of acquisition, are included with the operating results of the PT segment.

The following table details revenues for the NIC division for the period from acquisition through December 31, 2022 and 2021, which are presented in our consolidated statements of
income from the date of acquisition and included in the operating results of the PT reportable segment (in thousands).

2022 2021
Revenues:
Subscriptions $ 470,904 $ 344,692
Maintenance 810 560
Professional services 50,006 23,665
Software licenses and royalties — —
Appraisal services — —
Hardware and other — _
Total revenues $ 521,720 $ 368,917
Subscriptions.
The following table sets forth a comparison of our subscriptions revenue revenues for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):
Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $ 526,323 $ 425,078 $ 101,245 24 %
PT 485,981 359,357 126,624 35
Total subscriptions revenue $ 1,012,304 $ 784,435 $ 227,869 29 %
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions 2 (178,363) — (178,363)
Total subscriptions revenue excluding acquisitions $ 833,941 $ 784,435 $ 49,506 6 %
Change
2023 2022 $ %
ES $ 634,262 $ 526,323 $ 107,939 21 %
PT 525,250 485,981 39,269 8%
Total subscriptions revenues $ 1,159,512 $ 1,012,304 $ 147,208 15 %

Subscriptions revenue consists revenues consist of revenue revenues derived from our SaaS arrangements and transaction-based fees primarily related to digital government
services and payment processing. We also provide electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”) that simplify the filing and management of court related documents for courts and
law offices. E-filing revenue is derived from transaction fees and fixed fee arrangements.

fees. Subscriptions revenue grew 29% 15% compared to 2021, 2022, primarily due to the inclusion of an ongoing shift toward SaaS arrangements with both new and existing clients,
along with growth in our transaction-based revenues. Subscription revenues from NIC including Rapid and US eDirect from the respective dates of acquisition. Excluding the
incremental impact of recent acquisitions comprised $18.3 million or 1.8% of the increase.

Total subscriptions revenue increased 6%. revenues derived from SaaS arrangements fees was $528.0 million and $428.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively. SaaS fees grew $99.5 million, or 23% compared to prior period. New SaaS clients as well as existing on-premises clients who converted to our SaaS model
provided the majority of the subscriptions revenue SaaS revenues increase. In 2022, 2023, we added 609 632 new SaaS clients and 336 338 on-premises existing clients elected to
convert to our SaaS model. Our mix of new software contracts in 2022 2023 was approximately 23% 83% subscription-based arrangements and 17% perpetual software license
arrangements and approximately 77% subscription-based arrangements compared to total new client mix in 2021 2022 of approximately 33% 77% subscription-based arrangements
and 23% perpetual software license arrangements and approximately 67% subscription-based arrangements.

Total subscriptions revenue revenues derived from transaction-based fees was $600.8 million $631.5 million and $454.8 million $583.8 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. The increase of $146.0 million $47.8 million or 32% 8% is primarily attributable to inclusion of the NIC division,
including Rapid and US eDirect transaction-based revenues from the respective dates of acquisition. Transaction-based revenue from the NIC division was $470.9 million and
$344.7 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Excluding NIC, transaction-based fees contributed $19.8 million to the increase in
subscriptions revenue due to the increased volumes of $22.7 million from transaction-based fees from online payments and e-filing services and the 2023 impact of transaction-
based fees from recent acquisitions of $17.6 million. The increase in 2022.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 31/334
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

2 Excludes transaction-based fees was offset by the 2022 incremental impact as a result decline of not having the recent acquisition for a full fiscal year.

$10.8 million in COVID pandemic related transaction-based revenues compared to prior period.
Maintenance.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our maintenance revenue revenues for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $ 444,143  $ 439,589 $ 4,554 1%
PT 24,312 34,698 (10,386) (30)
Total maintenance revenue $ 468,455 $ 474,287 $ (5,832) 1)%
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions 2 (689) — (689)
Total maintenance revenue excluding acquisitions $ 467,766 $ 474,287 $ (6,521) 1)%
Change
2023 2022 $ %
ES $ 442,781 $ 444,143 $ (1,362) —%
PT 23,880 24,312 (432) 7))
Total maintenance revenues $ 466,661 $ 468,455 $ (1,794) —%

We provide maintenance and support services for our on-premises software products and certain third-party software. Maintenance revenue decreased 1% declined slightly
compared to the prior period. Maintenance revenue declined period, mainly due to attrition related to a legacy case management solution and clients converting from on-premises
license arrangements to SaaS, SaaS. The decline was patrtially offset by annual maintenance rate increases and maintenance associated with new software license sales.

Annualized Recurring Revenues

Subscriptions and maintenance are considered recurring revenue sources. Annualized recurring revenues ("ARR") is calculated based on quarter-end total recurring revenues
multiplied by four. ARR was $1.50 billion and $1.39 billion as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. ARR increased 8% compared to the prior period due to an increase in
subscriptions revenue resulting from an ongoing shift toward SaaS arrangements.

Professional services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our professional services revenue revenues for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $ 170,462 $ 165,396 $ 5,066 3%
PT 72,655 43,995 28,660 65
Total professional services revenue $ 243,117 $ 209,391 $ 33,726 16 %
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions 2 (17,073) — (17,073)
Total professional services revenue excluding acquisitions $ 226,044 $ 209,391 $ 16,653 8%
Change
2023 2022 $ %
ES] $ 209,727 $ 204,970 $ 4,757 2%
PT 40,249 72,655 (32,406) (45)
Total professional services revenues $ 249,976 $ 277,625 $ (27,649) (10)%

Professional services revenue revenues primarily consists consist of professional services billed provided in connection with implementing our software, converting client data,
training client personnel, custom development activities and consulting. New clients who purchase our proprietary software licenses or subscriptions generally also contract with us
to provide the related professional services. Existing clients also periodically purchase additional training, consulting and minor programming services.
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Professional services revenue increased 16% compared to the prior year, revenues decreased 10%, primarily due to the inclusion absence of revenues from recent acquisitions from
the date of acquisition. Excluding the incremental impact of recent acquisitions, professional services revenue increased 8%. The increase in professional services revenue is
primarily attributed to higher revenues generated by the continued from COVID pandemic-related rent relief services, which totaled $40.2 million in 2022 and ended in December
2022. Also contributing to the return decline is the lower requirement for professional services associated with many of our cloud implementations. The decline is partially offset by
increased billable travel revenue as onsite services have increased since 2021. The increases are partially offset by more clients selecting our cloud solutions instead of our on-
premises license arrangements which typically require more professional services.

post-pandemic.
Software licenses and royalties.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software licenses and royalties revenue revenues for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $ 55,158 $ 66,816 $ (11,658) 7%
PT 4,248 7,636 (3,388) (44)
Total software licenses and royalties revenue $ 59,406 $ 74,452 $ (15,046) (20)%
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions 2 — — —
Total software licenses and royalties revenue excluding acquisitions $ 59,406 $ 74,452 $ (15,046) (20)%
Change
2023 2022 $ %
ES $ 32,709 $ 55,158 $ (22,449) 41)%
PT 5,387 4,248 1,139 27
Total software licenses and royalties revenues $ 38,096 $ 59,406 $ (21,310) (36)%

Software licenses and royalties revenue revenues decreased 20% 36% compared to the prior period. The decline is primarily attributed to the shift in the mix of new software
contracts toward more subscription-based agreements compared to the prior period.

Although the mix of new contracts between subscription-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary from quarter to quarter and year to year, we expect the decline in
software license revenues will accelerate decline over the next several years as we continue to shift focus our model away from perpetual licenses to Saas. sales efforts on SaaS
arrangements. Subscription-based arrangements generally result in lower software license revenue in the initial year as compared to perpetual software license arrangements but
generate higher overall revenue over the term of the contract.

Appraisal services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our appraisal services revenue for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $ 34,508 $ 27,788 $ 6,720 24 %
PT — — — —
Total appraisal services revenue $ 34,508 $ 27,788 $ 6,720 24 %
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions 2 — — —
Total appraisal services revenue excluding acquisitions $ 34,508 $ 27,788 $ 6,720 24 %

In 2022, appraisal services revenue grew 24% compared to the prior period primarily due to relaxed travel restrictions allowing for the ramp-up of appraisal servicesfor several new
revaluation contracts which started in recent quarters. The appraisal services business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in various states.

Cost of revenues and overall gross margins

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key components of our cost of revenues for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change

2022 2021 $ %

Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services $ 953,897 $ 799,158 $ 154,739 19 %
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Software licenses and royalties 6,083 3,552 2,531 71

Amortization of software development 6,507 2,325 4,182 180
Amortization of acquired software 52,192 45,601 6,591 14
Appraisal services 23,988 19,061 4,927 26
Hardware and other 23,674 12,946 10,728 83
Total cost of revenues $ 1,066,341 $ 882,643 $ 183,698 21 %

The following table sets forth a comparison of gross margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended December 31:

2022 2021 Change
Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services 44.7 % 45.6 % (0.9)%
Software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired software (9.0) 30.9 (39.9)
Appraisal services 30.5 314 (0.9)
Hardware and other 27.0 41.0 (14.0)
Overall gross margin 42.4 % 44.6 % (2.2)%

Gross margin percentage by revenue type, excluding the incremental impact of recent acquisitions 2, for the years ended December 31:

2022 2021 Change
Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services 45.8 % 45.6 % 0.2 %
Software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired software 7.1 30.9 (23.8)
Appraisal services 30.5 314 (0.9)
Hardware and other 27.9 41.0 (13.2)
Overall gross margin 43.8% 44.6 % (0.8)%
Change
2023 2022 $ %

Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services $ 1,001,221 $ 977,885 $ 23,336 2%
Software licenses and royalties 10,821 6,083 4,738 78
Amortization of software development 12,625 6,507 6,118 94
Amortization of acquired software 36,062 52,192 (16,130) (31)
Hardware and other 29,923 23,674 6,249 26

Total cost of revenues $ 1,090,652 $ 1,066,341 $ 24,311 2%

Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services. Cost of subscriptions, maintenance and professional services primarily consists of personnel costs related to installation of
our software, conversion of client data, training client personnel and support activities and various other services such as custom client development, on-going operation

of development; costs related to our SaaS operations, including hosting costs; and costs related to providing digital government and other transaction-based services such as e-
filing. services. Other costs included are merchant and interchange fees required to process credit/debit card transactions and bank fees to process automated clearinghouse
transactions related to our payments business.

In 2022, 2023, the cost of subscriptions, maintenance and professional services gross margin declined 0.9% grew 2% compared to the prior period primarily period. $13 million or 1%
of the increase is attributed to the 2023 impact of recent acquisitions and the remaining increase of 1% is due to several factors, including lower maintenance revenue resulting from
attrition related to a legacy case management solution; a post-COVID return of low-margin revenues such as billable travel; higher personnel costs related to inflation, as well as
costs related to onboarding new professional services employees who are not yet billable; and higher duplicate hosting costs related to as we transition from our accelerated

shift proprietary data centers to the public cloud. Our implementation and support Excluding employees from recent acquisitions, our professional services staff grew by 225 47
employees since December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, as we increased hiring to ensure accommodate growth. The increase is partially offset by lower costs related to COVID-
related services that we are well-positioned to deliver our current backlog and anticipated new business. Excluding the incremental impact from recent acquisitions of $70 million,
gross margin was 45.8% ended in 2022, a slight increase of 0.2% which is attributable to an increase in SaaS arrangements and the decline in low margin COVID-related
transaction-based revenues compared to the prior period. 2022.

Software licenses royalties, software development, and acquired software royalties. Amortization expense for acquired software comprises the majority of costs Costs of software
licenses and royalties primarily consist of direct third-party software development, and acquired software. costs. We do not have any direct costs associated with royalties. The gross
margin for cost of software licenses and royalties software development, and acquired software was negative 9.0% in 2022 and 30.9% in 2021. Excluding for the impact of
amortization expense of acquired software, the margin was 78.8% in 2022 and 92.1% in 2021. The decline in software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired
software gross margin twelve months ended December 31, 2023, increased $4.7 million or 78% compared to the prior period is due to lower revenue from software licenses.
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Appraisal services. Appraisal services revenue comprised approximately 1.9% of total revenues. The appraisal services gross margin decrease of 0.9% compared to 2021 is
primarily due to higher third-party software costs.

Amortization of software development. Software development costs included in cost of revenues primarily consist of personnel costs. We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a
product is available for general release to customers. Amortization expense is determined on a product-by-product basis at a rate not less than straight-line basis over the software’s
remaining estimated economic life generally, three to five years.

In 2023, amortization of software development costs increased $6.1 million or 94%, respectively, compared to the prior period and is attributable to new capitalized software
development projects going into service in the past year.

Amortization of acquired software. Amortization expense related to inflation, acquired software attributed to business combinations is included with cost of revenues. The estimated
useful lives of acquired software intangibles range from five to 10 years.

In 2023, amortization of acquired software declined $16.1 million or 31% compared to the prior period due to assets becoming fully amortized in 2022, offset by amortization of
newly acquired software from recent acquisitions completed in 2022 and 2023.

The following table sets forth a comparison of overall gross margin for the periods presented as well as increased low margin billable travel revenue. The appraisal services
business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in various states. of December 31:

2023 2022 Change

Overall gross margin 44.1 % 42.4 % 1.7%

Overall gross margin. Our 2022 2023 blended gross margin decreased 2.2% increased 1.7% compared to 2021, principally due to the inclusion of NIC'’s revenues (including lower
margin COVID related revenues), which historically have lower margins than Tyler's software-related revenues. Excluding the incremental impact from recent acquisitions of $60
million, overall gross margin was 43.8% in 2022. The decrease of 0.8% increase in overall gross margin compared to the prior period is due to growth in subscription revenues and
the decline in low margin COVID-related revenues and related costs and the decline in amortization of acquired software expense compared to the prior period. The margin
increases are partially offset by lower revenue from software licenses and maintenance, higher duplicate hosting costs related as we transition from our proprietary data centers to
our accelerated shift to the public cloud, and higher personnel costs. Excluding employees Also an increase of merchant fees related to our payments business that were recorded
as cost of revenue from recent acquisitions, our implementation and support, and appraisal staff grew by 219 employees since December 31, 2021, as we increased hiring $144.5
million in 2022 to ensure that we are well-positioned to deliver our current backlog and anticipated new business. $157.5 million in 2023 negatively impacted overall margin.

Sales and marketing expense

Sales and Marketing expense marketing (“S&M”) expense consists primarily of salaries, employee benefits, travel, share-based compensation expense, commissions and related
overhead costs for sales and marketing employees, as well as professional fees, trade show activities, advertising costs and other marketing costs. The following table sets forth a
comparison of our S&M expenses expense for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
Sales and marketing expense $ 135,743 $ 118,624 $ 17,119 14 %
Change
2023 2022 $ %
Sales and marketing expense $ 149,770 $ 135,743 $ 14,027 10 %

S&M as a percentage of revenue was 7.7% in 2023 compared to 7.3% in 2022 compared to 7.4% in 2021.2022. S&M expense increased approximately 14% compared to the prior
period, primarily due to the inclusion of recent acquisitions’ S&M expense. Excluding the incremental impact of S&M expense from recent acquisitions of $5.6 million, S&M
increased 10% compared to the prior period. Higher S&M expense is due to higher bonus and commission expense relating to sales growth and improved operating results, an
increase in road trade show and user conference expenses, increase in travel-related expenses, and higher sales and marketing personnel costs from increased employee
headcount. share-based compensation expense.

General and administrative expense

General and administrative (“G&A”) expense consists primarily of personnel salaries and share-based compensation expense for general corporate functions including senior
management, finance, accounting, legal, human resources and corporate development, third party third-party professional fees, travel-related expenses, insurance, allocation of
depreciation, facilities and IT support costs, acquisition-related expenses and other administrative expenses. The following table sets forth a comparison of our G&A expense for the
years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change

2022 2021 $ %

General and administrative expense $ 267,324 $ 271,955 $ (4,631) (2)%
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Change

2023 2022 $ %

General and administrative expense $ 308,575 $ 267,324 $ 41,251 15 %

G&A as a percentage of revenue was 15.8% in 2023 compared to 14.4% in 2022 compared to 17.1% in 2021.2022. G&A expense decreased increased approximately 2% 15%
compared to the prior period. The decrease increase in G&A is primarily attributed to lower transaction costs related to recent acquisitions and lower share-based compensation
expense. G&A includes $2.0 million of transaction expenses related to acquisitions completed in 2022 compared to $23.5 million of transaction expense related to acquisitions
completed in 2021. During 2022, stock compensation expense declined $5.5 million compared to 2021, generally due to a lower fair value of each share-based award resulting from
the decline in our stock price. The decreases are offset by inclusion of G&A expense from acquisitions of $21.5 million, higher bonus expense due to improved operating results,
increases in amortization of software development for internal use, increases in travel-related expenses and other administrative costs, and costs; higher personnel costs from
increased employee headcount. headcount and increased costs of health benefits; higher bonus expense due to improved operating results; and increased share-based
compensation expense. Our G&A headcount grew by 34 employees since December 31, 2022. In 2022, 2023, G&A expense also included $2.8 million $6.4 million related to lease
restructuring and other asset write-offs.

Research and development expense

Research and development (“R&D”) expense consists primarily of salaries, employee benefits and related overhead costs associated with new product development. The following
table sets forth a comparison of our research and development expense for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change

2022 2021 $ %

Research and development expense $ 105,184 $ 93481 $ 11,703 13 %

Research and development R&D expense consists mainly of costs associated with development of new products and technologies from which we do not currently generate
significant revenue. The following table sets forth a comparison of our R&D expense for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Research and development

Change

2023 2022 $ %

Research and development expense $ 109,585 $ 105,184 $ 4,401 4%

R&D expense as a percent of total revenue was 5.6% in 2023, compared to 5.7% in 2022 compared to 5.9% in 2021. Research and development 2022. R&D expense increased
13% 4% in 2022 2023 compared to the prior period, mainly due to a number of new Tyler product development initiatives across our product suites, including increased investments
in research and development at recently acquired businesses.

Amortization of other intangibles

Other intangibles are comprised of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired that are allocated to acquired software and customer related,
trade name, and leases acquired intangibles. The remaining excess purchase price is allocated to goodwill that is not subject to amortization. Amortization expense related to
acquired software is included with cost of revenues while amortization expense of customer and related, trade name, and leases acquired intangibles is recorded as operating
expense. The estimated useful lives of other intangibles range from one to 25 years. The following table sets forth a comparison of our amortization of other intangibles for the years
ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
Amortization of other intangibles $ 61,363 $ 44,849 $ 16,514 37%
Change
2023 2022 $ %
Amortization of other intangibles $ 74,632 $ 61,363 $ 13,269 22 %

Amortization of other intangibles increased 22% primarily due to the accelerated amortization of certain trade name intangibles due to branding changes in 2023 and the impact of
intangibles added with several acquisitions completed in 2022 2023 and 2021. late 2022.

Estimated annual amortization expense relating to customer related, trade name, and leases acquired lease intangibles, excluding acquired software for which the amortization
expense is recorded as cost of revenues, for the next five years and thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

2023 $ 70,233
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2024 2024 54,141

2025 2025 53,404
2026 2026 52,586
2027 2027 52,143
2028

Thereafter Thereafter 524,162

Interest expense

The following table sets forth a comparison of our interest expense for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change

2022 2021 $ %

Interest expense $ (28,379) $ (23,298) $ (5,081) 22%
Change

2023 2022 $ %

Interest expense $ (23,629) $ (28,379) $ 4,750 17)%

Interest expense is comprised of interest expense and non-usage and other fees associated with our borrowings. The change in interest expense compared to the prior period is
primarily attributable to an increase inlower interest incurred as a result of our accelerated repayment of term debt, offset by accelerated amortization expense related to debt
issuance costs resulting from our accelerated repayment of the term loans, coupled with and an increase in interest rates in 2023 compared to the prior period. 2022.

Other income, net

The following table sets forth a comparison of our other income, net for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
Other income, net $ 1723 $ 1544 $ 179 12%
Change
2023 2022 $ %
Other income, net $ 3328 $ 1,723 $ 1,605 93%

Other income, net, is primarily comprised of interest income from invested cash. The change in other income, net, compared to the prior period is due to increased interest income
generated from invested cash as a result of higher interest rates in 2022 2023 compared to 2021.

2022.
Income tax provision
The following table sets forth a comparison of our income tax provision for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):
Change Change

2022 2021 $ %

2023 2023 2022 %

‘ ©

Income Income

tax tax

provision provision

(benefit) (benefit) $23,353 $(2,477) $25,830 (1,043)% Income tax provision (benefit) $ 32,317 $ $ 23,353 $ $ 8964 38 38 %
Effective Effective

income  income

taxrate  tax rate 12.4% (1.6)%

Effective income tax

rate
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Effective income tax
rate 16.3 % 124 %

The increase in the income tax provision and the effective income tax rate in 2022 2023, compared to the prior period, is principally driven by a decrease in excessresearch tax
credit benefits, from share-based compensation and an increase offset by a decrease in liabilities for uncertain tax positions offset by and state taxes and an increase in research tax
credit benefits. The share-based exercise and vesting activity in 2022 generated $7.8 million of excess tax benefits while exercise and vesting activity in 2021 generated $47.7
million of excess tax benefits. from share-based compensation. The tax benefits related to research tax credits totaled $20.5 million in 2023 compared to $31.3 million in 2022,
compared to $5.0 million in 2021, as a result of completing a multiyear research and development tax credit study during 2022. The tax expense related to uncertain tax positions in
2023 was $7.6 million compared to $8.3 million in 2022. The share-based exercise and vesting activity in 2023 generated $9.3 million of excess tax benefits, while exercise and
vesting activity in 2022 generated $7.8 million of excess tax benefits.

The effective income tax rates for the periods presented were different from the statutory United States federal income tax rate of 21% primarily due to excess tax benefits from
share-based compensation and the tax benefits of research tax credits and excess tax benefits from share-based compensation, offset by an increase in liabilities for uncertain tax
positions, state income taxes, and non-deductible business expenses. Excluding the impact of the excess tax benefits, uncertain tax positions and research credits, our income tax
provision and effective tax rate in 2022 would have been $54.1 million and 28.8%, respectively, and in 2021, would have been $50.6 million and 31.8%, respectively.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $173.9 million $165.5 million compared to $309.2 million $173.9 million at December 31,

2021 December 31, 2022. We also had $55.5 million $17.4 million invested in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securities as of December 31,
2022, compared to $98.7 million at December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023. These investments have varying maturity dates through 2027 and are held as available-for-sale. As of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had $395.0 million $50.0 million outstanding borrowings under our amended 2021 Credit Agreement and one outstanding letter of credit
totaling $1.5 million $750,000 in favor of a client contract. We believe our cash on hand, cash from operating activities, availability under our revolving line of credit, and access to
the credit capital markets provide us with sufficient flexibility to meet our long-term financial needs.

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2022 2021 2020
2023 2023 2022 2021

Cash
Cash flows flows
provided  provided
(used) by: (used) by: Cash flows provided (used) by:
Operating Operating
activities ~ activities $ 381,455 $ 371,753 $355,089
Investing  Investing
activities  activities  (172,530) (2,090,935) (98,320)
Financing Financing
activities  activities  (344,239) 1,424,730 114,172

Net (decrease)

increase in cash and
cash equivalents $(135,314) $ (294,452) $370,941

Net
decrease
in cash
and cash
equivalents

Net cash provided by operating activities continues to be our primary source of funds to finance operating needs and capital expenditures. Other potential capital resources include
cash on hand, public and private issuances of debt or equity securities, and bank borrowings. It is possible that our ability to access the capital and credit markets in the future may
be limited by economic conditions or other factors. We currently believe that our cash on hand, cash provided by operating activities, and available credit are sufficient to fund our
working capital requirements, capital expenditures, income tax obligations, and share repurchases for at least the next twelve months.

In 2022, 2023, operating activities provided cash of $381.5 million $380.4 million, compared to $371.8 million $381.5 million in 2021, 2022. Operating activities that provided cash
were primarily comprised of net income of $164.2 million $165.9 million, non-cash depreciation and amortization charges of $159.1 million $154.1 million, non-cash share-based
compensation expense of $103.0 million $108.3 million and non-cash amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets of $13.0 million $16.7 million. Working capital, excluding
cash, decreased approximately $60.6 million $73.3 million mainly due to timing of higher tax payments and deferred taxes associated with IRC Section 174, timing of payments to
and receipts from our government partners, timing of payments of payroll related taxes and vendor invoices, prepaid expenses and deferred taxes associated with tax research
credits and stock option activity during the period. These decreases were offset by the timing of tax payments prepaid expenses, of payroll expense and vendor invoices and an
increase in deferred revenue during the period. In general, changes in deferred revenue are cyclical and primarily driven by the timing of our maintenance renewal billings. Our
renewal dates occur throughout the year, but our largest renewal billing cycles occur in the second and fourth quarters. Subscription renewals are billed throughout the year.

Days sales outstanding (DSO) in accounts receivable were 115 days at December 31, 2022, compared to 108 days at December 31, 2021. DSO is calculated based on quarter-end
accounts receivable divided by the quotient of annualized quarterly revenues divided by 360 days. The increase in DSO compared to December 31, 2021, is attributed to slower
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payments from certain large clients and timing of receipts from our government partners.

Investing activities used cash of $77.0 million in 2023 compared to $172.5 million in 2022 compared to $2.1 billion 2022. Investing activities included payments for acquisitions of
$62.8 million, net of cash acquired. We also invested $10.6 million and received $49.4 million in 2021. On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC, for the
total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, of approximately $67.7 million, consisting of $51.2 million paid in cash, $18.2 million of common stock, proceeds from
investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and $500,000 related to working capital holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. On May 31, 2022, we completed
the acquisition of Quatred, LLC for the total cash price of approximately $637,000. On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc, for the total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $6.4 million, of approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $118.8 million paid in cash and approximately $4.1 million related to indemnity holdbacks. During 2022, we
also paid approximately $1.9 million in indemnity and working capital holdbacks related to acquisitions completed in late 2021. In addition, approximately $27.6 million asset-backed
securities with maturity dates ranging from 2024 through 2027. Approximately $32.5 million of software development costs were capitalized. Approximately $22.5 million $20.5
million was invested in property and equipment, including $4.5 million $16.0 million related to real estate. The remaining additions were for computer equipment and furniture and
fixtures in support of growth, particularly with respect to data centers supporting growth in our cloud-based offerings.

Investing activities used cash of $2.1 billion in 2021. We invested $77.5 million and received $131.4 million in proceeds from investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds
and asset-backed securities with maturity dates ranging from 2022 through 2027. On March 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions with the total purchase price, net of cash
acquired, of $12.1 million paid in cash. On April 21, 2021, we completed the acquisition of NIC for the total purchase price of $2.0 billion, net of cash acquired of $331.8 million,
including cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards. On September 1, 2021, we acquired
VendEngine for the total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, of approximately $83.8 million consisting of $80.2 million paid in cash and approximately $5.4 million
related to indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. On September 9, 2021, we acquired all of the equity interest of Arx for the total purchase price, net of
cash acquired, of approximately $12.8 million, of which $12.3 million was paid in cash and approximately $500,000 was accrued for indemnity holdbacks. Approximately $33.9
million was invested in property and equipment, including $12.8 million related to real estate. In addition, approximately $21.7 million of software development was capitalized in
2021. The remaining additions were for computer equipment and furniture and fixtures in support of internal growth, with the majority associated with our data centers supporting
growth in our cloud-based offerings. These expenditures were funded from cash generated from operations. growth.

Financing activities used cash of $311.8 million in 2023 compared to $344.2 million in 2022, compared to cash provided of $1.4 billion in 2021, primarily attributable to repayment of
$360.0 million $345.0 million of term debt, partially offset by payments received from stock option exercises, net of withheld shares for taxes upon equity award and employee stock
purchase plan activity.

Financing activities provided cash of $1.4 billion in 2021. Financing activities in 2021 were primarily comprised of proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes and
the 2021 Credit Agreement. On March 9, 2021, we issued $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes. The net proceeds from the issuance of the
Convertible Senior Notes were $591.4 million, net of initial purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million. On April 21, 2021, in connection with the
completion of the NIC acquisition, the Company, as borrower, entered into a new 2021 Credit Agreement with various lenders consisting of an unsecured revolving credit facility of
up to $500.0 million and unsecured term loans totaling $900.0 million. The net proceeds from the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of debt
discounts of $7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and $6.4 million of commitment fees paid related to the terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan facility. During
the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we repaid $250.0 million of the unsecured revolving credit facility and $145.0 million of the term debt. The remainder of the financing
activities was comprised of receipts of $109.9 million from stock option exercises and employee stock purchase plan activity. We also purchased approximately 33,000 shares of our
common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million.

In February 2019, our board Board of directors Directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 1.5 million shares of our common stock. The repurchase program, which was
approved by our board Board of directors, Directors, was originally announced in October 2002 and was amended at various times from 2003 through 2019. As of February 22,
2023 February 21, 2024, we have authorization from our board Board of directors Directors to repurchase up to 2.3 million additional shares of our common stock. Our share
repurchase program allows us to repurchase shares at our discretion. Market conditions, as well as the volume of employee stock option exercises, influence the timing of the
buybacks and the number of shares repurchased, as well as the volume of employee stock option exercises. repurchased. Share repurchases are generally funded using our
existing cash balances and borrowings under our credit facility and may occur through open market purchases and transactions structured through investment banking institutions,
privately negotiated transactions and/or other mechanisms. There is no expiration date specified for the authorization and we intend to repurchase stock under the plan from time to
time.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had $600 million in outstanding principal for the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026. Under our amended 2021 Credit Agreement,
we had $395 million $50 million in outstanding principal for the Term Loans, no outstanding borrowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility, and an available borrowing capacity
of $500 million as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had one outstanding letter of credit totaling $1.5 million. $750,000.
The letter of credit, which guarantees our performance under a client contract, renews automatically annually unless canceled in writing and expires in the third quarter of 2026. For
the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we repaid $360 million of the Term Loans under 2021 Credit Agreement.

We paid interest of $19.2 million in 2023 and $21.3 million in 2022, $17.7 million in 2021, including $6.4 million related to the senior unsecured bridge loan facility commitment fee in
2021, and $610,000 in 2020.2022. See Note 6, 10, “Debt,” to the consolidated financial statements for discussions of the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreement.

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $142.8 million in 2023, $38.5 million in 2022, $2.2 million in 2021, and $3.3 million in 2020.2022. In 2022, 2023, stock option
exercise activity generated net tax benefits of $7.8 million $9.3 million and reduced tax payments accordingly, as compared to $47.7 million $7.8 million in 2022. The tax benefits
related to research tax credits totaled $20.5 million in 2023 compared to $31.3 million in 2022, as a result of completing a multiyear research and $60.2 million in 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

development tax credit study during 2022. For tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA”) eliminates the option to currently deduct
research and development expenses and requires taxpayers to capitalize and amortize them over five years for research activities performed in the United States and 15 years for
research activities performed outside the United States pursuant to IRC Section 174. Although Congress is considering legislation that would repeal or defer this capitalization and
amortization The requirement it is not certain that this provision will be repealed or otherwise modified. If the requirement is not repealed or replaced, it will increase temporarily
increases our U.S. federal and state cash tax payments and reduce reduces cash flows in fiscal year 2023 and future years. years until the amortization deduction normalizes.

We anticipate that 2023 2024 capital spending will be between $68 million $46 million and $70 million $48 million, including approximately $16 million related to real estate and
approximately $37 million $27 million of software development. We expect the majority of the other capital spending will consist of computer equipment and software for
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infrastructure replacements and expansion. We also expect cash tax payments continue to be higherimpacted as a result of IRC Section 174. Capital spending and cash tax
payments are expected to be funded from existing cash balances and cash flows from operations.

From time to time we engage in discussions with potential acquisition candidates. In order to pursue such opportunities, which could require significant commitments of capital, we
may be required to incur debt or to issue additional potentially dilutive securities in the future. No assurance can be given as to our future acquisition opportunities and how such
opportunities will be financed.

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable operating lease agreements and they expire
from with remaining terms of one to 1211 years. Some of these leases include options to extend for up to six years.

Our estimated future obligations consist of debt, uncertain tax positions, leases, and purchase commitments as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. Refer to Note 6, 10,
“Debt,” Note 10, 14, “Income Tax,” Note 14, 18, “Leases,” and Note 16, 21, “Commitment and Contingencies,” to the consolidated financial statements for related discussions.

CAPITALIZATION

At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our capitalization consisted of $987.4 million $646.0 million of outstanding debt and $2.6 billion $2.9 billion of shareholders’ equity.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect us due to adverse changes in financial market prices and interest rates.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had $395.0 million $50.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our amended 2021 Credit Agreement and available borrowing
capacity under the amended 2021 Credit Agreement was $500.0 million.

Borrowings In accordance with our amended 2021 Credit Agreement, the borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A-1 bear interest, at the Company’s
option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Administrative Agent's prime commercial lending rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) (the “Base Rate”) plus a margin of
0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR SOFR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. The As of December 31,
2023, we have fully repaid amounts due under Term Loan A-2 bears interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% to 0.5%
or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to 1.5%. A-2.

During For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the effective interest rate for our borrowings was 3.79% 7.63%. Based on the aggregate outstanding
principal balance under the amended 2021 Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, of $395.0 million $50.0 million, each quarter of a point change in
interest rates would result in a $1.0 million $125,000 change in annual interest expense.

In January 2023, we amended our 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LIBOR reference rate with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is
appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that there should be minimal impact on our operations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The reports of our independent registered public accounting firm and our financial statements, related notes, and supplementary data are included as part of this Annual Report
beginning on page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC's rules and forms. These include controls and procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Management, with the participation of the chief executive officer
and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. Based on this evaluation, the chief
executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Tyler’'s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Tyler's
internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Tyler's management and board Board of directors Directors regarding the preparation and fair
presentation of published financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can
provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. In making this assessment, management
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). Based on our assessment, we
concluded that, as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.
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Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting
firm who also audited Tyler's financial statements. Ernst & Young's attestation report on Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting appears on page F-1 hereof.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During The Company has implemented new accounting and financial management software effective July 1, 2023, which is expected to improve the quarter ended December 31,
2022, efficiency of certain financial and related business processes. The implementation of our new system was not made in response to any identified deficiency or weakness in
our internal controls over financial reporting. The implementation was subject to various testing and review procedures prior to and after execution. We have updated our internal
controls over financial reporting, as necessary, to accommodate any modifications to our business processes or accounting procedures due to the implementation. Management will
continue to monitor, test and evaluate the operating effectiveness of internal controls related to the new accounting and financial management software during the post-
implementation period to ensure that effective controls over financial reporting continue to be maintained.

Other than as described in the preceding paragraph, there were have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting as (as such term is defined in Securities Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) Act) during the three months ended December 31, 2023, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None. (c) Trading Plans.

None

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.

None.

PART Ill
See the information under the following captions in Tyler’s definitive Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference. Only those sections of the Proxy Statement that
specifically address the items set forth herein are incorporated by reference. Such incorporation by reference does not include the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the
Compensation Committee Report or the Audit Committee Report, which are included in the Proxy Statement.

Headings in Proxy Statement

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. “Tyler Management” and “Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. “Executive Compensation”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management”
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR "Executive Compensation” and
INDEPENDENCE. “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required under this item may be found under the section captioned “Proposals For Consideration — Proposal Two — Ratification of Our Independent Auditors for Fiscal Year 2022"2023"
in our Proxy Statement when filed.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:
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(a) (1) The financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report.

Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting_Firm (PCAOB ID: 42) E-1
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020 2021 E-4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020 2021 ESES
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 E-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020 2021 E7E7
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020 2021 E-9F-9
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements E-10
(2) Financial statement schedules:
There are no financial statement schedules filed as part of this Annual Report, since the required information is included in the financial statements, including the notes
thereto, or the circumstances requiring inclusion of such schedules are not present.
(3) Exhibits
Certain of the exhibits to this Annual Report are hereby incorporated by reference, as specified:
Exhibit Description
Number

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Tyler Three, as amended through May 14, 1990, and Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (filed as
Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1990, and incorporated by reference herein).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K, dated February 19, 1998, and incorporated by reference herein).

3.3 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Tyler Technologies Inc., dated February 1, 2022 May 11, 2023, (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K dated February 7, 2022 May 15, 2023, and
incorporated by reference herein).

3.4 Certificate of Amendment dated May 19, 1999 to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our registration statement no. 33-33505 and incorporated by reference herein).

4.2 Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement dated January 27, 2023, among_Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. as Administrative Agent and other lenders party
hereto (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 10-K dated February 22, 2023, and incorporated by reference herein)herein).

4.3 Credit Agreement dated April 21, 2021, among_Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. as Administrative Agent and other lenders party hereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
our Form 8-K dated April 21, 2021, and incorporated by reference herein).

4.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated February 9, 2021 by and among_Tyler Technologies, Inc., Topos Acquisition, Inc., and NIC, Inc.(filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Form 8-K, dated
Eebruary 10, 2021, and incorporated by reference herein).

4.5 Indenture, dated as of March 9, 2021, between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association,_as trustee, relating_to the 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026.
(filed (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K, dated March 9March 9, 2021, 2021, and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.1 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our registration statement 333-182318 dated June 25, 2012 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.2 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of May 12, 2022, by and Non-Competition Agreement between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and John S. Marr, Jr.

Exhibit Description
Number
10.310.3 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of May 12, 2022, by and Non-Competition Agreement between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Brian K. Miller

effective February 26, 2018 H. Lynn Moore, Jr. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 10.2 to our Form 8-K dated March 9, 2018 May 18, 2022 and incorporated by reference herein).

104 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of May 12, 2022, by and Non-Competition Agreement between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and H. Lynn Moore:
Jr effective February 26, 2018 Brian K. Miller (filed as Exhibit 10.2 10.3 to our Form 8-K dated March 9, 2018 May 18, 2022 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.5 Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of May 12, 2022, by and between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Jeffrey D. Puckett (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 8-K dated May 18,
2022 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.6 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of Tyler Technologies, Inc. dated October 30, 2020 (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to our form 8-K dated March 31, 2023, and incorporated by reference
herein),

10.7 Revised Insider Trading_Policy of Tyler Technologies, Inc., dated July 20, 2023, (filed as exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q dated July 26, 2023, and incorporated by reference herein).
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073123000021/a31amendedandrestatedasofm.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000095013401002412/d84862ex3-4.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000095013401002412/d84862ex3-4.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073123000009/thirdamendmentto2021cred.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073123000009/thirdamendmentto2021cred.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000020/exhibit101wellsfargo_tyl.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000020/exhibit101wellsfargo_tyl.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000005/nicagreement2921.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000005/nicagreement2921.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000018/exhibit41indenture3921.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000018/exhibit41indenture3921.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000018/exhibit41indenture3921.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000018/exhibit41indenture3921.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000018/exhibit41indenture3921.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000018/exhibit41indenture3921.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073121000018/exhibit41indenture3921.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000119312512282212/d371277ds8.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000119312512282212/d371277ds8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a101employmentagreement-ma.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a101employmentagreement-ma.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a102employmentagreement-mo.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a102employmentagreement-mo.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a102employmentagreement-mo.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a103employmentagreement-mi.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a103employmentagreement-mi.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a104employmentagreement-pu.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073122000024/a104employmentagreement-pu.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073123000012/a991tylcode-ofxbusinessx.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073123000012/a991tylcode-ofxbusinessx.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073123000028/tyl6302023exhibit101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/860731/000086073123000028/tyl6302023exhibit101.htm

Exhibit Description
Number

108 Agreement and plan of merger by and among_Tyler Technologies, Inc. TMP Subsidiary, Inc., MP Holding_Parent, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to our Form 10-K dated February 20, 2019

and incorporated by reference herein).

and incorporated by reference herein).

*21.1 Subsidiaries of Tyler Technologies,_Inc.
*23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting_Firm.
*31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)_Certification by Principal Executive Officer.(a)_Certification by Principal Executive Officer.
*31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)_Certification by Principal Financial Officer.
*¥32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer.
*101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the Instance Document does not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL tags, including Cover Page XBRL tags, are embedded within

the Inline XBRL Document.

*101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
*101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
*101.LAB Inline XBRL Extension Labels Linkbase Document.
*101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
*101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
* — Filed herewith.

A copy of each exhibit may be obtained at a price of 15 cents per page, with a $10.00 minimum order, by writing Investor Relations, 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, Texas 75024.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: /sl H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know all persons by these presents, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints H. Lynn Moore, Jr. and Brian K. Miller, and each of them, as
his attorney-in-fact, with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits
thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact, or his substitute or
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities indicated on February 21, 2024.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated have
signed this report below.
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Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: Is/ John S. Marr, Jr.

John S. Marr, Jr.
Executive Chairman of the Board

Director

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: Is/ H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: /sl Brian K. Miller

Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: Isl Jason P. Durham

Jason P. Durham
Chief Accounting Officer

(principal accounting officer)

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: Is/ Glenn A. Carter

Glenn A. Carter

Director

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: /sl Brenda A. Cline

Brenda A. Cline

Director

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: Is/ Ronnie D. Hawkins, Jr.

Ronnie D. Hawkins, Jr.

Director

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: Is/ Mary Landrieu

Mary Landrieu

Director

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: /sl Daniel M. Pope
Daniel M. Pope
Director

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: Is/ Dustin R. Womble

Dustin R. Womble

Director

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tyler Technologies, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the
related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,

2022 December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 22, 2023, February 21, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
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Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company'’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to
the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex
judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.

Goodwill impairment tests

Description of As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company’s goodwill balance of $2.5 billion was attributable to multiple reporting units. As

the Matter disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable. The Company begins with a qualitative assessment As part of whether
it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value before applying a quantitative assessment. During the fourth
quarter annual impairment test as of 2022, October 1, the Company performed a quantitative assessment for the platform technologies reporting unit
which includes $1.7 billion, or 67%, of total goodwill associated with reporting units comprised as of more recently acquired businesses, which do not
have significant excess fair values over carrying values. December 31, 2023. The Company concluded that no impairment existed as of their annual
assessment date.

Auditing management’s quantitative analyses assessment for goodwill impairment was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant
judgement judgment required to determine the fair value of these this reporting units. unit. In particular, the Company’s fair value estimates estimate
for these this reporting units were unit was sensitive to significant assumptions, such as weighted average cost of capital and revenue growth rates
which are forward looking and affected by expectations about future market or economic conditions.

How We Addressed the ~ We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s review process for the
Matter in Our Audit quantitative goodwill impairment assessments, assessment, including controls over management'’s review of the significant assumptions described
above.

To test the estimated fair value of the applicable reporting units, unit, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing the
methodologies and testing the significant assumptions discussed above and the underlying data used by the Company in its analyses. analysis. We
evaluated management'’s forecasted revenue to identify, understand and evaluate changes as compared to historical results and performed
sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to evaluate the changes in the fair value of the reporting units unit that would result from changes in
the assumptions. We also involved internal valuation specialists to assist in evaluating management’s methodologies and significant assumptions
applied in developing the fair value estimates.

/s/ ERNST Ernst & YOUNG Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1966.
Dallas, Texas

February 22, 2023 21, 2024

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Tyler Technologies, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion,
Tyler Technologies, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, based on
the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash
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flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and the related notes and our report dated February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ ERNST Ernst & YOUNG Young LLP
Dallas, Texas

February 22, 202321, 2024

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income

For the years ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2022 2021 2020 2023 2022 2021

Revenues: Revenues: Revenues:
Subscriptions  Subscriptions $1,012,304 $ 784,435 $ 350,648
Maintenance Maintenance 468,455 474,287 467,513

Professional Professional

services services 243,117 209,391 186,409
Software Software

licenses and licenses and

royalties royalties 59,406 74,452 73,164
Appraisal services 34,508 27,788 21,127

Hardware and  Hardware and

other other 32,414 21,934 17,802
Total Total
revenues revenues 1,850,204 1,592,287 1,116,663

Cost of revenues:

Cost of revenues:

Cost of Cost of
revenues: revenues:

Subscriptions,  Subscriptions,
maintenance maintenance

and and

professional professional

services services 953,897 799,158 510,504
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Software
licenses and
royalties
Amortization
of software
development
Amortization
of acquired
software

Hardware and
other
Total cost
of
revenues

Gross

profit

Gross profit

Gross profit
Sales and marketing expense
Sales and marketing expense
Sales and
marketing
expense
General and
administrative
expense
Research and
development
expense
Amortization of
other intangibles

Operating

income

Operating income
Operating income
Interest expense
Interest expense
Interest expense

Other income,
net
Income
before income
taxes
Income tax
provision
(benefit)
Net
income
Earnings per
common share:

Earnings per common share:
Earnings per common share:
Basic

Diluted
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See accompanying notes.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31,

(In thousands)

2022 2021 2020 2023

Net income Net income $164,240 $161,458 $194,820

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:

Other comprehensive

income (loss), net of

tax:
Securities Securities
available-for-sale available-for-sale
and transferred and transferred
securities: securities:

Change in net unrealized holding

losses on available for sale securities

during the period (850) — —
Securities available-for-sale and
transferred securities:
Securities available-for-sale and

transferred securities:

Change in net unrealized holding
gains (losses) on available for sale
securities during the period

Change in net unrealized holding
gains (losses) on available for sale
securities during the period
Change in net unrealized holding
gains (losses) on available for sale

securities during the period

Reclassification
adjustment of
unrealized
losses on
securities
transferred
from held-to-
maturity
Reclassification
adjustment for
net loss on sale
of available for
sale securities,
included in net

income

Reclassification

adjustment of
unrealized
losses on
securities
transferred
from held-to-

maturity

Reclassification

adjustment for

net loss on sale

of available for
sale securities,
included in net

income

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Other
comprehensive
income (loss), net
of tax
Comprehensive

income

Comprehensive
income

@) = =

79 = =

(798) = =

$163,442 $161,458 $194,820

See accompanying notes.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value and share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash

equivalents

December 31, 2023
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash

equivalents

Accounts receivable (less allowance
for losses and sales adjustments of
$14,761 in 2022 and

$12,086 in 2021)
Accounts
receivable (less
allowance for
losses and sales
adjustments of
$22,829 in 2023
and

$14,761 in 2022)

Short-term
investments
Prepaid

expenses

Short-term
investments
Prepaid
expenses

Income tax receivable

Other current assets

Other current assets

Other current
assets
Total current
assets
Accounts
receivable, long-
term
Operating lease
right-of-use assets
Property and
equipment, net
Other assets:
Software
development
costs, net
Goodwill
Other
intangibles, net
Non-current
investments
Other non-
current assets

LIABILITIES AND

SHAREHOLDERS'

EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts
payable
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Other current
assets
Total current
assets
Accounts
receivable, long-
term
Operating lease
right-of-use assets
Property and
equipment, net
Other assets:
Software
development
costs, net
Goodwill
Other
intangibles, net
Non-current
investments
Other non-
current assets

LIABILITIES AND

SHAREHOLDERS'

EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts
payable

$

$

$

December December

31, 2022 31, 2021

173,857 $ 309,171

577,257 521,059

37,030 52,300

50,859 55,513
— 18,137

8,239 8,151

847,242 964,331

8,271 13,937

50,989 39,720

172,786 181,193

48,189 28,489
2,489,308 2,359,674

1,002,164 1,052,493

18,508 46,353

49,960 45,971

4,687,417 $4,732,161

104,813 $ 119,988

ASSETS

Current assets:

Other assets:

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022
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Accrued Accrued
liabilities liabilities 131,941 158,424
Operating lease Operating lease
liabilities liabilities 10,736 10,560
Income tax payable 43,667 —
Current income
tax payable
Deferred Deferred
revenue revenue 568,538 510,529
Current portion Current portion
of term loans of term loans 30,000 30,000
Total current Total current
liabilities liabilities 889,695 829,501
Revolving line of credit — —
Term loans, net
Term loans, net
Term loans, net Term loans, net 362,905 718,511
Convertible Convertible
senior notes due  senior notes due
2026, net 2026, net 594,484 592,765
Deferred Deferred
revenue, long- revenue, long-
term term 2,037 38
Deferred income  Deferred income
taxes taxes 148,891 228,085
Operating lease Operating lease
liabilities, long- liabilities, long-
term term 48,049 36,336
Other long-term Other long-term
liabilities liabilities 16,967 2,893
Total liabilities Total liabilities 2,063,028 2,408,129
Commitments and Commitments and
contingencies contingencies — —
Shareholders' Shareholders'
equity: equity:
Preferred stock, Preferred stock,
$10.00 par $10.00 par
value; 1,000,000  value; 1,000,000
shares shares
authorized; none  authorized; none
issued issued — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value;
100,000,000 shares authorized;
48,147,969 shares issued in 2022 and
2021 481 481
Preferred stock, $10.00 par value;
1,000,000 shares authorized; none
issued
Preferred stock, $10.00 par value;
1,000,000 shares authorized; none
issued
Common stock,
$0.01 par value;
100,000,000
shares authorized;
48,147,969 shares
issued in 2023 and
2022
Additional paid- Additional paid-
in capital in capital 1,209,725 1,075,650

50/334

REFINITIV [<

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Accumulated Accumulated
other other
comprehensive comprehensive

loss, net of tax loss, net of tax
Retained Retained
earnings earnings

Treasury stock, at cost; 6,364,991
and 6,832,640 shares in 2022 and
2021, respectively

Treasury stock,

at cost;

5,858,476 and

6,364,991

shares in 2023

and 2022,

respectively

Total
shareholders'
equity

Total
shareholders'
equity

(844) (46)

1,437,854 1,273,614

(22,827)  (25,667)

2,624,389 2,324,032

$4,687,417 $4,732,161

See accompanying notes.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31

(In thousands)

Cash flows from

operating activities: operating activities:

Net income

Adjustments to

reconcile net

income to cash

provided by

operating

activities:
Depreciation
and
amortization
Losses from
sale of

investments

Share-based
compensation
expense
Provision for
losses and
sales
adjustments -
accounts
receivable
Amortization
of operating
lease right-of-
use assets
Deferred
income tax

benefit

Other
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Cash flows from

Net income

Adjustments to
reconcile net
income to cash
provided by
operating
activities:
Depreciation
and
amortization
Losses from
sale of
investments

Share-based

compensation

expense
Provision for
losses and
sales

adjustments -

accounts
receivable
Amortization
of operating

lease right-of-

use assets
Deferred
income tax
benefit

2022 2021 2020

$164,240 $ 161,458 $194,820

159,072 135,624 81,657

102,985 104,726 67,365

2,781 2,831 3,517

12,969 10,216 5,782

(87,192)  (13,271)  (7,936)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

2023 2022 2021
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Changes in
operating
assets and
liabilities,
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exclusive of effects of acquired companies:
exclusive of
effects of
acquired
companies:
Accounts
receivable

Income tax
payable
Prepaid
expenses
and other
current
assets

Accounts
payable
Operating
lease
liabilities
Accrued
liabilities
Deferred
revenue

Other long-
term
liabilities
Net cash
provided
by
operating
activities
Cash flows from
investing activities:

Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions to
property and
equipment
Purchase of
marketable
security
investments
Proceeds and
maturities from
marketable
security
investments

Investment in software development

Investment in software development
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Investment in
software
development
Cost of
acquisitions, net
of cash acquired
Other

Net cash
used by
investing
activities
Cash flows from
financing activities:

Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment on term loans
Payment on term loans

Payment on term
loans

Proceeds from
term loans
Proceeds from
issuance of
convertible
senior notes

Payment of debt
issuance costs
Purchase of
treasury shares

Proceeds from exercise of stock
options, net of withheld shares for
taxes upon equity award
Proceeds from exercise of stock
options, net of withheld shares for
taxes upon equity award
Proceeds from
exercise of stock
options, net of
withheld shares
for taxes upon
equity award
Contributions
from employee
stock purchase
plan
Net cash
(used)
provided
by
financing
activities
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Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash Cash and cash

equivalents at equivalents at

beginning of period beginning of period 309,171 603,623

232,682

Cash and cash Cash and cash

equivalents at end equivalents at end

of period of period

$173,857 $ 309,171 $603,623

See accompanying notes.

2022 2021 2020
Supplemental  Supplemental
cash flow cash flow
information: information:

Cash paid for Cash paid for

interest interest $21,256 $17,728 $ 610
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for Cash paid for

income taxes,  income taxes,
net net 38,490 2,212 3,263
Non-cash Non-cash
investing and investing and
financing financing
activities: activities:
Non-cash Non-cash
additions to additions to
property and property and
equipment equipment $ 169 $ 233 $189
Non-cash additions to property
and equipment
Non-cash additions to property
and equipment
Issuance of Issuance of
shares for shares for
acquisitions acquisitions 18,169 — —
Purchase Purchase
consideration consideration
for for
conversion of conversion of
unvested unvested
restricted restricted
stock awards stock awards — 1,872 —

Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

2023

For the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020 2021

(In thousands)

Common Stock

Additional
Common Stock Paid-in
Shares Amount Capital

Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive Retained
Income (Loss) Shares Earnings

Treasury Stock

Amount
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2022 2021
Common Accumulated Treasury
Stock  Additional Other Stock Total
Total Paid-in  Comprehensive Retained Shareholder:
Shareholders' Capital  Income (Loss) Earnings Equity
Equity
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Balance at December 31, 2020
Balance at December 31, 2020

Balance at

December 31,

2020
Net income
Exercise of
stock options
and vesting of
restricted stock
units
Employee
taxes paid for
withheld
shares upon
equity award
settlement
Stock
compensation
Issuance of
shares
pursuant to
employee
stock purchase
plan
Treasury stock
purchases

Purchase
consideration
for conversion
of unvested
restricted stock
awards

Balance at
December 31,
2021

Net income

Other
comprehensive
loss, net of tax

Exercise of
stock options
and vesting of
restricted stock

units
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Employee
taxes paid for
withheld
shares upon
equity award
settlement
Stock
compensation
Issuance of
shares
pursuant to
employee
stock purchase

plan

Employee

taxes paid for

withheld

shares upon

equity award
settlement —
Stock

compensation —
Issuance of

shares

pursuant to

employee

stock purchase

plan —

Treasury stock purchases —

Issuance of shares for acquisitions

Issuance of shares for acquisitions

Issuance of
shares for
acquisitions
Balance at
December 31,
2022
Net income
Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax
Exercise of
stock options
and vesting of
restricted stock
units
Employee
taxes paid for
withheld
shares upon
equity award
settlement
Stock
compensation
Issuance of
shares
pursuant to
employee
stock purchase

plan

Issuance of
shares for

acquisitions —

— 102,985

— 16,365

— 17,943

— — (70

(27,219)

286

226

(27,219)

102,985

16,651

18,169

Balance at

December 31,
2022 48,148

$

481 $1,209,725 $

(844) $1,437,854 (6,365) $(22,827) $2,624,389

Issuance of shares for acquisitions

Issuance of shares for acquisitions

Issuance of shares for acquisitions

Balance at
December 31,
2023

See accompanying notes.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tables in thousands, except per share data)
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1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide integrated software systems and related services for the public sector. We develop and market a broad line of software solutions and services to address the information
technology (“IT") needs primarily of cities, counties, states, schools, federal agencies, and other government entities. We provide subscription-based services such as software as a
service (“SaaS"), transaction-based fees primarily related to digital government services and online payment processing, and electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”), which
simplify the filing and management of court related documents. In addition, we provide professional IT services, including software and hardware installation, data conversion,
training, and for certain customers, product modifications, along with continuing maintenance and support for customers using our systems. solutions. Additionally, we provide
property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include our parent company and 62 63 subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources and includes all components of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). During the twelve months ended December 31,
2022, December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had approximately $518,000 of other comprehensive income, and $798,000 of other comprehensive loss, net of taxes, from our available-
for-sale investment holdings. holdings, respectively. We did not have material items of other comprehensive income during the yearsyear ended December 31, 2021, and 2020. .

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. We Beginning January 1, 2023, we no longer report the appraisal services
revenue and related costs as separate categories in the statement of income due to less significance on our overall operating results. Therefore, we have elected to present
amortization combined the appraisal services revenue category with the professional services revenue category; and the related cost of software development, previously included
inrevenue category for appraisal services is now combined with the cost of revenues software licenses revenue category related to subscriptions, maintenance and royalties line
item, in a separate category line item professional services on the consolidated statements of income for all reporting periods presented. We also

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, determining the nature
and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, determining the SSP of performance obligations, loss contingencies; the recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets
and estimated useful lives of intangible assets; and determining the potential outcome of future tax consequences of events that have elected to present sales and marketing
expense and general and administrative expense, previously disclosed as selling, general, and administrative expense, as separate category line items been recognized on the our
consolidated financial statements of income for all reporting periods presented. or tax returns. Actual results could differ from estimates.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in excess of that necessary for operating requirements is invested in short-term, highly liquid, income-producing investments. Investments with original maturities of three
months or less are classified as cash and cash equivalents, which primarily consist of cash on deposit with several banks and money market funds. Cash and cash equivalents are
stated at cost, which approximates market value.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Nature of Products and Services

We account for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC") 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. We earn the majority of our revenues from
subscription-based services and post-contract customer support (“PCS” or “maintenance”), . Other sources of revenue are professional services, software licenses and royalties,
appraisal services, and hardware and other. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

» Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

< Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

« Determination of the transaction price

< Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

* Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Our software arrangements with customers contain multiple performance obligations that range from software licenses, installation, training, and consulting related to software
maodification and customization to meet specific customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately
when they are distinct. We evaluate whether separate performance obligations can be distinct or should be accounted for as one performance obligation. Arrangements that include
professional services, such as training or installation, are evaluated to determine whether those services are highly interdependent or interrelated to the product’s functionality. The
transaction price is allocated to the distinct performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price (“SSP”) basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing
objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and
types of users within our contracts.

Revenue is recognized net of allowances for losses and sales adjustments and any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.

Subscription-Based Services:
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Subscription-based services consist primarily of revenue revenues derived from SaaS arrangements, digital government services, payment processing, and e-filing. For SaaS
arrangements, we evaluate whether the customer has the contractual right to take possession of our software at any time during the hosting period without significant penalty and
whether the customer can feasibly maintain the software on the customer’s hardware or enter into another arrangement with a third-party third party to host the software. We
allocate contract value to each performance obligation of the arrangement that qualifies for treatment as a distinct element based on estimated SSP. We recognize SaasS services
ratably over the term of the arrangement, which range from one to 10 years, but are typically for a period of three to five years. For professional services associated with certain
Saa$S arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinct, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining contractual period once we have provided the
customer access to the software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

Transaction-based fees primarily relate to digital government services and online payment services, which are sometimes offered with the assistance of third-party vendors. In
general, when we are the principal in a transaction, we record the revenue and related costs on a gross basis. Otherwise, we net the cost of revenue associated with the service
against the gross revenue (amount billed to the customer) and record the net amount as revenue.

E-filing transaction fees primarily pertain to documents filed with the courts by attorneys and other third-parties via our e-filing services and retrieval of filed documents via our
access services. For each document filed with a court, the filer generally pays a transaction fee and a court filing fee to us and we remit a portion of the transaction fee and the filing
fee to the court. We record as revenue the transaction fee, while the portion of the transaction fee remitted to the courts is recorded as cost of revenues as we are acting as an
agent in the arrangement. Court filing fees collected on behalf of the courts and remitted to the courts are recorded on a net basis and thus do not affect our consolidated statements
of income.

For e-filing transaction fees and transaction-based revenues from digital government services and online payments, we have the right to charge the customer an amount that
directly corresponds with the value to the customer of our performance to date. Therefore, we recognize revenues for these services over time based on the amount billable to the
customer. In some cases, we are paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period. Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give
rise to variable consideration. However, in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in our estimates, additional revenues for variable consideration when
we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable.

Costs of performing services under subscription-based arrangements are expensed as incurred, except for certain direct and incremental contract origination and set-up costs
associated with SaaS arrangements. Such direct and incremental costs are capitalized and amortized ratably over the period of benefit.

Software Arrangements:
Software Licenses and Royalties

Many of our software arrangements involve “off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to “off-the-shelf” software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time
when control of the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct. We consider "off-the-shelf" software to be distinct when it can be added
to an arrangement with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training
are not considered highly interdependent or interrelated to the product's functionality.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinct, we
recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control
to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total
cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to
total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first
determine that a loss is apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access to the software license is made available to the customer
and the remainder of the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or
revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We recognize royalty revenue when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements. Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estimated basis
and adjusted if needed, when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenue we are entitled to and amounts are billed on a
quarterly basis in the quarter immediately following the royalty reporting period, and adjustments have not been significant.

Professional Services

As noted above, some of our software arrangements include services considered highly interdependent or highly interrelated or require significant customization to meet the
customer's desired functionality. For these software arrangements, both the software licenses and related professional services revenue are not distinct and are recognized over
time using the progress-to-completion method. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer
which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. Contract fees are typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms. We record amounts that have been invoiced
in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met. When professional services are distinct, the fee
allocable to the service element is recognized over the time we perform the services and is billed on a time and material basis.

Post-Contract Customer Support

Our customers generally enter into PCS agreements when they purchase our software licenses. PCS includes telephone support, bug fixes, and rights to upgrades on a when-and-if
available basis. PCS is considered distinct when purchased with our software licenses. Our PCS agreements are typically renewable annually. PCS is recognized over time on a
straight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided. All significant costs and expenses associated with PCS are expensed as incurred.

Computer Hardware Equipment Professional Services
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Revenue When professional services are distinct, the fee allocable to computer hardware equipment the service element is recognized atover the time we perform the services and
is billed on a point in time when control and material or milestone basis. For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the equipment is
transferred to the customer.

Appraisal Services:

For our property appraisal projects, software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize revenue using the progress-to-completion method
since many of these projects are executed over one to three-year periods and consist of various unique activities. Appraisal services require a significant level of integration and
interdependency with various individual service components; therefore, the service components are not considered distinct. Appraisal services are recognized over time by
measuring progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts.
These arrangements are often executed over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the
progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are
determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent. progress-to-completion. Contract fees are
typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues,
depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Software Licenses and Royalties

Significant Judgments: Many of our software arrangements involve “off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to “off-the-shelf” software licenses and specified
upgrades at a point in time when control of the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct. We consider "off-the-shelf" software to be
distinct when it can be added to an arrangement with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and
remaining services such as training are not considered highly interdependent or interrelated to the product's functionality. For arrangements that involve significant production,
maodification or customization of the software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-
completion.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access to the software license is made available to the customer
and the remainder of the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or
revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We recognize royalty revenue when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements. Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estimated basis
and adjusted if needed, when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenue we are entitled to and amounts are billed on a
quarterly basis in the quarter immediately following the royalty reporting period, and adjustments have not been significant.

Computer Hardware Equipment
Revenue allocable to computer hardware equipment is recognized at a point in time when control of the equipment is transferred to the customer.

Our contracts with customers often include multiple performance obligations to a customer. When a software arrangement (license or subscription) includes both software licenses
and professional services, judgment is required to determine whether the software license is considered distinct and accounted for separately, or not distinct and accounted for
together with the professional services and recognized over time.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into
consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our
contracts. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated
based on the relative SSP of the various products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or service separately,
we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification, or customization of the software, or where professional services otherwise cannot be considered distinct, we
recognize revenue as control is transferred to the customer over time using progress-to-completion methods. Depending on the contract, we measure progress-to-completion
primarily using labor hours incurred, or value added. The progress-to-completion method generally results in the recognition of reasonably consistent profit margins over the life of a
contract because we can provide reasonably dependable estimates of contract billings and contract costs. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended time period
and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any
changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are
recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent.

Refer to Note 18 3 - "Disaggregation of Revenue” for further information, including the economic factors that affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash
flows of our various revenue categories.

Contract Balances:
Accounts receivable and allowance for losses and sales adjustments

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record an unbilled receivable when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing, or deferred
revenue when invoicing occurs prior to revenue recognition. For multi-year agreements, we generally invoice customers annually at the beginning of each annual coverage period.
We record an unbilled receivable related to revenue recognized for on-premises licenses as we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment in the future related to
those licenses.

In connection with our appraisal services contracts and certain professional services contracts, we may perform work prior to when the software and services are billable and/or
payable pursuant to the contract. Unbilled revenue is not billable at the balance sheet date but is recoverable over the remaining life of the contract through billings made in
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accordance with contractual agreements. The termination clauses in most of our contracts provide for the payment for the value of products delivered or services performed in the
event of early termination. We have historically recorded such unbilled receivables (costs and estimated profit in excess of billings) in connection with (1) property appraisal services
contracts accounted for using progress-to-completion method of revenue recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towards completion in which the services are
performed in one accounting period but the billing normally occurs subsequently and may span another accounting period; (2) professional services contracts accounted for using
progress-to-completion method of revenue recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towards completion in which the services are performed in one accounting period
but the billing for the software element of the arrangement may be based upon the specific phase of the implementation; (3) (2) software revenue for which we have recognized
revenue at the point in time when the software is made available to the customer but the billing has not yet been submitted to the customer; (4) (3) some of our contracts which
provide for an amount to be withheld from a progress billing (generally between 5% and 15% retention) until final and satisfactory project completion is achieved; and (5) (4) in a
limited number of cases, extended payment terms, which may be granted to customers with whom we generally have a long-term relationship and favorable collection history.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, total current and long-term accounts receivable, net of allowance for losses and sales
adjustments, was $585.5 million $628.7 million and $535.0 million $585.5 million, respectively. We have recorded unbilled receivables of $119.2 million and $135.4 million and
$140.3 million at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively. Included in unbilled receivables are retention receivables of
$9.8 million and $8.6 million and $7.7 million at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively, which become payable upon the
completion of the contract or completion of our fieldwork and formal hearings. Unbilled receivables expected to be collected within one year have been included with accounts
receivable, current portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Unbilled receivables and retention receivables expected to be collected past one year have been
included with accounts receivable, long-term portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 90 days. In instances where the timing of revenue
recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, we have determined our contracts generally do not include a significant financing component. The primary purpose of our invoicing
terms is to provide customers with simplified and predictable ways of purchasing our products and services, not to receive financing from our customers or to provide customers with
financing. Examples include invoicing at the beginning of a subscription term with revenue recognized ratably over the contract period, and multi-year on-premises term licenses that
are invoiced annually with revenue recognized upfront.

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against revenue at the time the loss is incurred. Since most of our clients are domestic
governmental entities, we rarely incur a credit loss resulting from the inability of a client to make required payments. Consequently, we have not recorded a reserve for credit losses.
Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales adjustments may require revision, include, but are not limited to,
managing our client’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered and defects or errors in new versions or enhancements of our software products. Our
allowance for losses and sales adjustments of are $22.8 million and $14.8 million and $12.1 million at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2021 December
31, 2022, respectively. Because we rarely experience credit losses with our clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credit losses.

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for losses and sales adjustments:

Years ended

December 31, Years ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022

Balance at Balance at

beginning  beginning

of year of year $12,086 $ 9,255
Provisions  Provisions

for losses  for losses

and sales and sales

adjustments adjustments

- accounts - accounts

receivable receivable 2,781 2,831
Collections Collections

of accounts of accounts

previously previously

written off  written off (106) =
Balance at Balance at

end of year end of year 514’761 $12,086

Deferred Revenue

The majority of deferred revenue consists of deferred subscription-based services revenue that has been billed based on contractual terms in the underlying arrangement, with the
remaining balance consisting of payments received in advance of revenue being earned under maintenance, software licensing, software and appraisal professional services, and
hardware installation. Refer to Note 194 - "Deferred Revenue and Performance Obligations" for further information, including deferred revenue by segment and changes in deferred
revenue during the period.

Deferred Commissions

Sales commissions earned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. Sales commissions for initial contracts are
deferred and then amortized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be generally three to seven years. We
utilized utilize the “portfolio approach” practical expedient, which allows entities to apply the guidance to a portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics because the effects on the
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financial statements of this approach would not differ materially from applying the guidance to individual contracts. Using the “portfolio approach”, we determined determine the
period of benefit by taking into consideration our customer contracts, our technology life-cycle and other factors. Sales commissions for renewal contracts are generally not paid in
connection with the renewal of a contract. In the small number of instances where a commission is paid on a renewal, it is not commensurate with the commission paid on the initial
sale and is recognized over the term of renewal, which is generally one year. Amortization expense related to deferred commissions is included in sales and marketing expense in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income. Refer to Note 205 - “Deferred Commissions” for further information.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include direct and incremental costs such as commissions associated with arrangements for which revenue recognition has been
deferred. Such costs are expensed at the time the related revenue is recognized.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, determining the nature
and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, determining the SSP of performance obligations, variable consideration, and other obligations such as returns and refunds;
loss contingencies; the estimated useful life of deferred commissions; the fair value amount and estimated useful lives of intangible assets; the carrying amount of operating lease
right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities; determining share-based compensation expense; the allowance for losses and sales adjustments; and determining the potential
outcome of future tax consequences of events that have been recognized on our consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Actual results could differ from estimates.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equipment and purchased software are recorded at original cost and increased by the cost of any significant improvements after purchase. We expense maintenance and
repairs when incurred. Depreciation and amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful life or the term of the lease in the
case of leasehold improvements. For income tax purposes, we use accelerated depreciation methods as allowed by tax laws.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
We expensed research and development expense of $109.6 million in 2023, $105.2 million in 2022, and $93.5 million in 2021, and $88.4 million in 2020. 2021.
INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred taxes arise because of different treatment between financial statement accounting and tax
accounting, known as “temporary differences”. We record the tax effect of these temporary differences as “deferred tax assets” (generally items that can be used as a tax deduction
or credit in the future periods) and “deferred tax liabilities” (generally items that we received a tax deduction for, which have not yet been recorded in the income statement). The
deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rules and laws that are expected to be in effect when the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be "realized".

We do not recognize a tax benefit for uncertain tax positions unless management’s assessment concludes that it is “more likely than not” that the position is sustainable based on its
technical merits. If the recognition threshold is met, we recognize a tax benefit based upon the largest amount of the tax benefit that is more likely than not probable, determined by
cumulative probability of being realized upon settlement with the taxing authority. We recognize interest and penalties if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense in the consolidated statements of income.

Internal Revenue Code (“IRC") Section 174

For the tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA") eliminates the option to currently deduct research and development expenses
and requires taxpayers to capitalize and amortize them over five years for research activities performed in the United States and 15 years for research activities performed outside
the United States pursuant to IRC Section 174. Although Congress is considering legislation that would repeal or defer this capitalization and amortization The requirement it is not
certain that this provision will be repealed or otherwise modified. If the requirement is not repealed or replaced, it will increase temporarily increases our U.S. federal and state cash
tax payments and reduce reduces cash flows in fiscal year 2023 and future years.

years until the amortization deduction normalizes.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We have a share-based award plan that provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock units, and performance share units to key employees, directors and non-employee
consultants. Stock options generally vest after three to six five years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Restricted stock unit
grants generally vest ratably over three to five years of continuous service from the date of grant. Each performance share unit represents the right to receive one share of our
common stock based on our achievement of certain financial performance targets during applicable performance periods, which generally cliff vest in one or three years. We
account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation. See Note 12, 16, “Share-Based Compensation,” for further
information.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values. The
determination of fair value requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, and in making these determinations, management uses all available information.
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For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination, management estimates the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on quoted
market prices, the carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. The assumptions
made in performing these valuations include, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and operating costs, projections of capital costs, and other assumptions believed
to be consistent with those used by principal market participants.

Due to the specialized nature of these calculations, we engage third-party specialists to assist management in evaluating our assumptions as well as appropriately measuring the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. We adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain
new information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the closing date. If actual results are materially different than the assumptions we used to determine fair value of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed through a business combination as well as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible assets, it is possible that adjustments to
the carrying values of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact on our financial position and results of operations. See Note 2, 6, “Acquisitions,” for further information.

Contingent future cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and included in the determination of the acquisition date purchase
price. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent future cash payments are recognized in earnings in the period that the change occurs. We have no contingent
consideration outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Gooawill

We assess goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable. We begin with the
qualitative assessment of whether the likelihood of impairment of each reporting unit. If the conclusion of this assessment is that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair
value is less more than its carrying value, before applying the we are not required to perform a quantitative assessment described below. impairment test. When testing goodwill for
impairment quantitatively, we first compare the estimated fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit goodwill exceeds the
implied fair value of that goodwill, reporting unit, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values calculated in our impairment tests are determined using discounted cash flow
models involving several assumptions (Level 3 inputs). The assumptions that are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in
estimating fair value. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. We evaluate the
reasonableness of the fair value calculations of our reporting units by comparing the total of the fair value of all of our reporting units to our total market capitalization.

During the fourth quarter, as part of our annual impairment test as of October 1, we performed only qualitative assessments for the reporting units containing the recently acquired
data and insights, digital government and payments solutions, and development platform solutions, and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date.
Approximately $1.7 billion, or 70%, of total goodwill as of December 31, 2022, relates to these reporting units, which as that have significant excess fair value over carrying value. As
a result of these recent acquisitions, do not have significant excess fair values over carrying values. We performed qualitative assessments, for the remaining reporting units in
which we determined that it notwas more likely than not that the fair value exceeded the carrying value; therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative impairment test.
However, we did perform a quantitative assessment for the platform technologies reporting unit and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date.
Approximately $1.7 billion, or 67%, of total goodwill as of December 31, 2023, relates to this reporting unit, which, as a result of the recency of the acquisitions comprising the
reporting unit, does not have significant excess fair value over carrying value. Our annual goodwill impairment analysis did not result in an impairment charge. During 2022, 2023,
we have recorded no impairment to goodwill as because no triggering events or change in circumstances indicating a potential impairment has had occurred as of period-end.

Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and considerable management judgment. We base our fair value
estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. Changes in uncertainty, such as weighted average cost
of capital and revenue growth rates which are forward looking and affected by expectations about future market conditions or other factors outside of our control could cause us to change key
assumptions and our judgment about a reporting unit's prospects. economic conditions. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could significantly underperform relative to its
historical or projected future operating results. Either situation could result in a meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, and a consequent future
impairment charge.

There have been no impairments to goodwill in any of the periods presented. See Note 4, 8, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," for additional information.

Other Intangible Assets

We make judgments about the recoverability of purchased intangible assets other than goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment may
exist. Customer base and acquired software each comprise approximately half of our purchased intangible assets other than goodwill. We review our customer turnover each year
for indications of impairment. Our customer turnover has historically been very low. If indications of impairment are determined to exist, we measure the recoverability of assets by a
comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds
their estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. There have
been no impairments of intangible assets in any of the periods presented.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We periodically evaluate whether current facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our property and equipment or other long-lived assets to be held and used may
not be recoverable. If such circumstances are determined to exist, we measure the recoverability of assets to be held and used by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset
or appropriate grouping of assets and the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their
estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. There was no
impairment of long-lived assets in any of the periods presented.

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capitalize software development costs upon the establishment of technological feasibility and prior to the availability of the product for general release to customers for software
sold to third parties and for capitalize application development stage costs of software developed for internal use. Software development costs primarily consist of personnel costs.
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During the twelve months period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, we capitalized approximately $32.5 million, $27.6 million, and $21.7
million of software development costs. We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a product is available for general release to customers and internal use software is ready for its
intended use. Amortization expense is determined on a product-by-product basis at a rate not less than straight-line basis over the software’s remaining estimated economic life of,
generally, three to five years.

CONTINGENT PURCHASE CONSIDERATION

Contingent future cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and included in the determination of the acquisition date purchase
price. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent future cash payments are recognized in earnings in the period that the change occurs. We have no contingent
consideration outstanding as of December 31, 2022.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable from trade
customers, and investments in marketable securities. Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of operating account balances and money market funds, which are
maintained at several major domestic financial institutions and the balances often exceed insured amounts. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash
equivalents of $173.9 million $165.5 million. We perform periodic evaluations of the credit standing of these financial institutions.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to the size and geographical diversity of our customer base. As a result, we do not believe we have any
significant concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against revenues at the time the loss is incurred. Since most of our customers are domestic
governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss resulting from the inability of a customer to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying
amount for the allowances for losses and sales adjustments may require revision include, but are not limited to, failure to manage our customer’s expectations regarding the scope
of the services to be delivered, and defects or errors in new versions or enhancements of our software products. Historically, our credit losses have not been significant.

LEASES

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU") assets, and operating lease liabilities, current and
long-term, on our consolidated balance sheets. We currently do not have any finance lease arrangements.

Operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement
date. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date of the lease in
determining the present value of future payments. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives and initial direct costs
incurred. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for minimum lease
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; we recognize lease
expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for as a
single lease component.

INDEMNIFICATION

Most of our software license agreements indemnify our customers in the event that the software sold infringes upon the intellectual property rights of a third-party. third party. These
agreements typically provide that in such event we will either modify or replace the software so that it becomes non-infringing or procure for the customer the right to use the
software. We have not recorded a liability associated with these indemnifications, as we are not aware of any pending or threatened infringement actions that are possible losses.
We believe the estimated fair value of these intellectual property indemnification clauses is minimal.

We have also agreed to indemnify certain officers and our board members if they are named or threatened to be named as a party to any proceeding by reason of the fact that they
acted in such capacity. We maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage to protect against any such losses. We have not recorded a liability associated with these
indemnifications. Because of our insurance coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal.

RECENTLY ADOPTED NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT YET ADOPTED

In October 2021, November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-07 - Accounting Segment Reporting (Topic 280), Improvements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07 enhances the disclosures required for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers (ASC 805) (“ASU
2021-08"). ASU 2021-08 requires an acquirer in a business combination to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities (deferred revenue) from acquired contracts
using the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 606. Under this "Topic 606 approach," the acquirer applies the revenue model as if it had originated the contracts. This is a
departure from the current requirement to measure contract assets and contract liabilities at fair value. ASU 2021-08 is effective for all public business entities reportable segments
in annual and interim consolidated financial statements. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods starting within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2022 December 15, 2024, and early adoption is permitted. An entity We are currently evaluating the impact that early adopts should apply the
amendments new guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 — Income Taxes (Topic ASC 740) Income Taxes. The ASU improves the transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring (1)
retrospectively to all business combinations for which consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in the acquisition date occurs on or after the beginning of the
fiscal year that includes the interim period of early application rate reconciliation and (2) prospectively income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. It also includes certain other
amendments to all business combinations improve the effectiveness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with
early adoption permitted. We do not expect that occur on or after the date of initial application. We early adopted as of January 1, 2022. The adoption of ASU 2021-08 did not result
in an adjustment to the fair value of the deferred revenue balances assumed in our 2022 acquisitions. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,” for further discussion.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

There were no new not yet adopted accounting pronouncements currently issued that would affect the Company or this guidance will have a material impact on its consolidated upon
our financial position or results of operations in future periods.

(2)  ACQUISITIONS

2022

On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC (Rapid), a provider of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with best-in-class card issuance and digital
disbursement capabilities. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, was approximately $67.7 million, consisting of $51.2 million paid in cash, $18.2 million of
common stock, and $500,000 related to working capital holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

We have performed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair market value of Rapid’s assets and liabilities. In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of
$2.9 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $635,000. We recorded gooduwill of approximately $40.0 million, all of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and
other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $27.6 million. The gooduwill arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues,
earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base. The $27.6 million of intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software,
and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 10 years.

On May 31, 2022, we completed the acquisition of Quatred, LLC (Quatred), a systems integrator and barcode technology solutions provider. The total cash price was approximately
$637,000.

On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. (US eDirect), a leading provider of technology solutions for campground and outdoor recreation management. The total purchase
price, net of cash acquired of $6.4 million, was approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $118.8 million paid in cash and approximately $4.1 million related to indemnity holdbacks.

We have performed a valuation analysis of the fair market value of US eDirect's assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price
as of the acquisition date:

Cash $ 6,361
Accounts receivable 1,730
Other current assets 594
Other noncurrent assets 698
Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets 125,541
Accounts payable (1,881)
Accrued expenses (357)
Other noncurrent liabilities (742)
Deferred revenue (688)
Deferred tax liabilities, net (8,326)
Total consideration $ 122,930

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $9.4 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $3.7 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately
$91.4 million, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $34.1 million. The goodwill arising from this
acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings, and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base. The identifiable
intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 13 years. We
recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $8.3 million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. Since the acquisition date, we recorded adjustments to the
preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to decreases in other current assets, other noncurrent assets, identifiable intangible assets, accrued expenses, and deferred revenue,
and increases in accounts receivable, accounts payable, and deferred tax liabilities, resulting in a net increase to goodwill of approximately $10.3 million.

As of December 31, 2022, the purchase price allocations for US eDirect and Quatred are complete, while the purchase price allocation for Rapid is not final; therefore, certain
preliminary valuation estimates of fair value assumed at the acquisition date for intangible assets, receivables, and related deferred taxes are subject to change as valuations are
finalized. Our balance sheet as of December 31, 2022, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired based on their estimated fair value at the date of the
acquisition. The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired are based on valuations using Level 3 unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that
are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Rapid and US eDirect are operated as a part of the digital government and payments solutions business unit (also known as the NIC division), therefore the following unaudited pro
forma consolidated operating results information has been prepared as if the acquisitions of Rapid and US eDirect had occurred on January 1, 2021, and NIC had occurred on
January 1, 2020, after giving effect to certain adjustments, including amortization of intangibles, transaction costs, and tax effects.

Years ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Revenues $ 1,867,011 $ 1,785,623 $ 1,577,117
Net income 147,028 157,765 183,994
Basic earnings per share $ 354 $ 386 $ 4.60
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Diluted earnings per share $ 347 % 373 % 4.43

The pro forma information above does not include acquisitions that are not considered material to our results of operations. The pro forma information does not purport to represent
what our results of operations actually would have been had such transaction occurred on the date specified or to project our results of operations for any future period.

The actual operating results of Rapid, US eDirect, and NIC from their respective dates of acquisition are included with the operating results of the Platform Technologies segment.
The operating results of Quatred are included in the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since the date of acquisition. The impact of the 2022 acquisitions on our
operating results, assets, and liabilities is not material. In the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we incurred fees of approximately $2.0 million for financial advisory, legal,
accounting, due diligence, valuation, and other various services necessary to complete acquisitions. These costs were expensed in 2022 and are included in general and
administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

2021

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate Information Systems, Inc. (dba Arx). Arx is a cloud-based platform which creates accessible technology to
enable a modern-day police force that is fully transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource to the community it serves. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was
approximately $12.8 million.

On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine, Inc., a cloud-based software provider focused on financial technology for the corrections market. The total purchase price, net of
cash acquired of $1.7 million, was approximately $83.6 million, consisting of $81.6 million paid in cash, and approximately $3.8 million related to indemnity holdbacks.

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $5.8 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $3.0 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately
$54.3 million, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $37.9 million. The $37.9 million of intangible
assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 13 years. We recorded
net deferred tax liabilities of $9.6 million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. In the twelve months ended December 31, we recorded adjustments to the
preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to a decrease to accounts receivable, accounts payable, deferred income taxes, and an adjustment to the accrual for indemnity
holdbacks and increases in identifiable intangible assets and accrued expenses resulting in a net decrease to goodwill of approximately $4.4 million.

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, Inc., a leading digital government solutions and payment company that primarily serves federal and state government agencies. The total
purchase price, net of cash acquired of $331.8 million, was approximately $2.0 billion, consisting of cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase consideration related to the
conversion of unvested restricted stock awards.

We have performed the valuation analysis of the fair market value of NIC'’s assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price as of the
acquisition date:

Cash $ 331,783
Accounts receivable 149,515
Other current assets 12,988
Other noncurrent assets 20,974
Identifiable intangible assets 777,000
Goodwill 1,446,868
Accounts payable (150,099)
Accrued expenses (63,154)
Other noncurrent liabilities (11,493)
Deferred revenue (3,294)
Deferred tax liabilities, net (190,596)
Total consideration $ 2,320,492

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $515.3 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $228.0 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately
$1.4 billion, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $777.0 million. The $777.0 million of intangible
assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 17 years. We recorded
net deferred tax liabilities of $190.6 million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. In the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we recorded adjustments
to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to a decrease to accounts receivable and increases in identifiable intangible assets, deferred revenue and related deferred taxes
resulting in a net decrease to goodwill of approximately $17.2 million.

NIC delivers user-friendly digital services that make it easier and more efficient for citizens and businesses to interact with government-providing valuable conveniences like
applying for unemployment insurance, submitting business filings, renewing licenses, accessing information and making secure payments without visiting a government office. In
addition, NIC has extensive

expertise and scale in the government payments arena which will accelerate our strategic payments initiatives. Therefore, the goodwill of approximately $1.4 billion arising from this
acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base.

On March 31, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Glass Arc, Inc. (dba ReadySub), a cloud-based platform that assists school districts with absence tracking, filling substitute
teacher assignments, and automating essential payroll processes. The total cash price was approximately $6.2 million, net of cash acquired.
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On March 31, 2021, we acquired substantially all assets of DataSpec, Inc. (DataSpec), a provider of a SaaS solution that allows for secure electronic claims submission to the
federal Department of Veterans Affairs and reporting capabilities, in addition to scheduling, calendaring, and payments. The total cash purchase price was approximately $5.8
million.

The operating results of Arx, DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEngine are included with the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since their date of acquisition. The
impact of the Arx, DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEngine acquisitions, individually and in the aggregate, on our operating results, assets and liabilities is not material. The operating
results of NIC are included in the Platform Technologies Segment. Revenues from NIC included in Tyler's results of operations totaled approximately $368.9 million and net income
was approximately $37.2 million from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2021. In 2021, we incurred fees of approximately $23.5 million for financial advisory, legal,
accounting, due diligence, valuation and other various services necessary to complete these acquisitions. The Company also incurred $1.6 million of expense related to a
separation agreement with NIC's former Chief Executive Officer. These costs were expensed in 2021 and are included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. As of December 31, 2022, the purchase price allocations for 2021 acquisitions are complete.

3) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, NET

Property and equipment, net consists of the following at December 31:

Useful
Lives
(years) 2022 2021
Land — 3 22,908 $ 22,523
Building and leasehold improvements 5-39 159,059 154,222
Computer equipment and purchased software 3-5 121,968 109,691
Furniture and fixtures 5 39,373 35,932
Transportation equipment 5 200 207
343,508 322,575
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (170,722) (141,382)
Property and equipment, net $ 172,786 $ 181,193
Depreciation expense was $29.5 million in 2022, $29.4 million in 2021, and $25.5 million in 2020.
We paid $4.5 million and $12.8 million for real estate and the expansion of existing facilities in 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Software development costs, net consists of the following at December 31:
Useful
Lives
(years) 2022 2021
Software development costs 35 % 59,904 $ 32,274
Accumulated amortization (11,715) (3,785)
Software development costs, net $ 48,189 $ 28,489

Amortization expense for software development costs is recorded to cost of revenues and general and administrative expense. Amortization expense for software development
costs recorded to cost of revenues was $6.5 million in 2022, $2.3 million in 2021, and no expense in 2020. Amortization expense for software development costs recorded to
general and administrative expense was $1.4 million in 2022, no expense in 2021, and $1.2 million in 2020.

Estimated annual amortization expense related to software development costs:

2023 $ 11,038
2024 12,440
2025 11,236
2026 8,247
2027 3,924
Thereafter 1,304

$ 48,189

4) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the two years ended December 31, 2022 are as follows:

Platform
Enterprise Software Technologies Total
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Accrued wages, bonuses and commissions $ 73,745 $ 88,696

Other accrued liabilities 58,196 69,728

$ 131,941 $ 158,424

(6)  DEBT

The following table summarizes our total outstanding borrowings related to the 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior Notes:

Rate Maturity Date December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

2021 Credit Agreement

Revolving credit facility L + 1.50% April 2026 $ — $ =

Term Loan A-1 L + 1.50% April 2026 290,000 585,000

Term Loan A-2 L +1.25% April 2024 105,000 170,000
Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 0.25% March 2026 600,000 600,000
Total borrowings 995,000 1,355,000
Less: unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs (7,611) (13,724)
Total borrowings, net 987,389 1,341,276
Less: current portion of debt (30,000) (30,000)
Carrying value $ 957,389 $ 1,311,276

2021 Credit Agreement

In connection with the completion of the acquisition of NIC on April 21, 2021, we, as borrower, entered into a new $1.4 billion Credit Agreement (the “2021 Credit Agreement”) with
the various lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, and Issuing Lender. The 2021 Credit Agreement provides
for (1) a senior unsecured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $500 million, including sub-facilities for standby letters of credit and swingline loans (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”), (2) an amortizing five-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $600 million (the “Term Loan A-1"), and (3) a non-amortizing three-year term loan in the
aggregate amount of $300 million (the “Term Loan A-2") and, together (the “Term Loans”). The 2021 Credit Agreement matures on April 20, 2026, and the loans may be prepaid at
any time, without premium or penalty, subject to certain minimum amounts and payment of any LIBOR breakage costs. In addition to the required amortization payments on the
Term Loan A-1 of 5% annually, certain mandatory quarterly prepayments of the Term Loans and the Revolving Credit Facility will be required (i) upon the issuance or incurrence of
additional debt not otherwise permitted under the 2021 Credit Agreement and (i) upon the occurrence of certain asset sales and insurance and condemnation recoveries, subject to
certain thresholds, baskets, and reinvestment provisions as provided in the 2021 Credit Agreement.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A-1 bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Administrative Agent’s prime
commercial lending rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) (the “Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all
lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate
plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to 1.5%. The margin in each case
is based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratio, as determined pursuant to the 2021 Credit Agreement. The 2021 Credit Agreement has customary benchmark replacement
language with respect to the replacement of LIBOR once LIBOR becomes unavailable. In addition to paying interest on the outstanding principal of loans under the Revolving Credit
Facility, the Company is required to pay a commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility, currently 0.25% per annum, ranging from 0.15% to
0.3% based upon the Company'’s total net leverage ratio.

LIBOR, the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, is currently anticipated to be phased out in June 2023 and is expected to transition to a new standard rate, the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”), which will incorporate certain overnight repo market data collected from multiple data sets. In January 2023, we amendeds our 2021 Credit Agreement to
replace the LIBOR reference rate with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that
there should be minimal impact on our operations.

The net proceeds from the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of debt discounts of $7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and $6.4
million of commitment fees paid related to the terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan facility. On the Closing Date, the Company paid approximately $2.3 billion in cash for the
purchase of NIC. The Term Loans of $900 million and a portion of the proceeds of the Revolving Credit Facility, in the amount of $250 million, together with cash available to the
Company of $609 million and the net proceeds of its Convertible Senior Notes of $594 million, were used to complete the acquisition and pay fees and expenses in connection with
the acquisition and the 2021 Credit Agreement. The remaining portion of the Revolving Credit Facility may be used for working capital requirements, acquisitions, and capital
expenditures of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The 2021 Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and prohibits us from making certain investments, advances, cash
dividends or loans, and limits incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens. As of December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with those covenants.

The carrying amount is the par value of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the terms of the Term Loans. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

3 The foregoing is a summary of the amended terms and conditions of the 2021 Credit Agreement and not a complete description of the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated January 27,2023.
Accordingly, the foregoing is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement attached to this Current Report on Form 10-K as Exhibit 4.2, which is

incorporated by reference.
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Convertible Senior Notes due 2026

On March 9, 2021, we issued 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million (“the Convertible Senior Notes” or “the Notes”). The
Convertible Senior Notes were issued pursuant to, and are governed by, an indenture (the “Indenture”), dated as of March 9, 2021, with U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee.
The net proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $591.4 million, net of initial purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million.

The Convertible Senior Notes are senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with our future senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior in right of payment to
our future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes; (iii) effectively subordinated to our future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the collateral
securing that indebtedness; and (iv) structurally subordinated to all future indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, and (to the extent we are not a holder thereof)
preferred equity, if any, of our subsidiaries.

The Convertible Senior Notes accrue interest at a rate of 0.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning on September
15, 2021. The Convertible Senior Notes mature on March 15, 2026, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed, or converted.

Before September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes have the right to convert their Convertible Senior Notes only upon the occurrence of certain events. Under the
terms of the Indenture, the Convertible Senior Notes are convertible into common stock of Tyler Technologies, Inc. (referred to as “our common stock” herein) at the following times
or circumstances:

« during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ended June 30, 2021, if the last reported sale price per share of our common stock exceeds 130%
of the conversion price for each of at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading
day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter;

« during the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive trading day period (such five consecutive trading day period, the “Measurement
Period”) if the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes, as determined following a request by their holder in accordance with the
procedures in the Indenture, for each trading day of the Measurement Period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price per share of our common
stock on such trading day and the conversion rate on such trading day;

¢ upon the occurrence of certain corporate events or distributions on our common stock, including but not limited to a “Fundamental Change” (as defined in the
Indenture);

« upon the occurrence of specified corporate events; or

« on or after September 15, 2025, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, March 15, 2026.

With certain exceptions, upon a change of control or other fundamental change (both as defined in the Indenture governing the Convertible Senior Notes), the holders of the
Convertible Senior Notes may require us to repurchase all or part of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the Convertible Senior Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

As of December 31, 2022, none of the conditions allowing holders of the Convertible Senior Notes to convert have been met.

From and including September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at any time at their election until the close of business
on the second scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date. We will settle any conversions of the Convertible Senior Notes either entirely in cash or in a combination
of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election. However, upon conversion of any Convertible Senior Notes, the conversion value, which will be determined over an
“Observation Period” (as defined in the Indenture) consisting of 30 trading days, will be paid in cash up to at least the principal amount of the Notes being converted.

The initial conversion rate is 2.0266 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately
$493.44 per share of common stock. The conversion rate and conversion price will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events. In addition, if certain corporate
events that constitute a “Make-Whole Fundamental Change” (as defined in the Indenture) occur, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased for a specified
period of time.

The Convertible Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at any time, and from time to time, on or after March 15, 2024 and on or before the 30th scheduled
trading day immediately before the maturity date, at a cash redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, up
to, but excluding, the redemption date, but only if the last reported sale price per share of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price of the Notes on (i) each of at
least 20 trading days, whether or not consecutive, during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the trading day immediately before the date we send the related
redemption notice; and (i) the trading day immediately before the date we send such notice. In addition, calling any Note for redemption constitutes a Make-Whole Fundamental
Change with respect to that Note, in which case the conversion rate applicable to the conversion of that Note will be increased in certain circumstances if it is converted after it is
called for redemption.

Effective Interest

The weighted average interest rates for the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 were 5.82% and 0.25%, as of December 31, 2022,
respectively. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, the effective interest rates for our borrowings were 3.79% and 0.54% for the 2021 Credit Agreement and the
Convertible Senior Notes, respectively. The following sets forth the interest expense recognized related to the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior
Notes and is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Contractual interest expense - Revolving Credit Facility $ (1,267) $ (1,244) $ =
Contractual interest expense - Term Loans (18,583) (9,341) —
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Contractual interest expense - Convertible Senior Notes

(1,500) (1,213) _

Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs (7,029) (3,297) —
Interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs - terminated 2019 Credit Agreement and Senior Unsecured Bridge loan

facility — (8,203) (1,013)
Total (28,379) $ (23,298) $ (1,013)

As of December 31, 2022, we had one outstanding standalone letter of credit totaling $1.5 million. The letter of credit, which guarantees our performance under a client contract,
renews automatically annually unless canceled in writing, and expires in the third quarter of 2026. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we repaid $360 million of the

Term Loans under the 2021 Credit Agreement.

As of December 31, 2022, the required annual maturities related to the 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 were as follows:

Year ending December 31,

Annual Maturities

2023 $ 30,000
2024 135,000
2025 30,000
2026 800,000
2027 —
Total required maturities $ 995,000
(7) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following table presents our financial instruments:
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Cash and cash equivalents 173,857 $ 309,171
Held-to-maturity investments — 98,653
Available-for-sale investments 55,538 =
Equity investments 10,000 10,000

Total 239,395 $ 417,824

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of money market funds with original maturity dates of three months or less, for which we determine fair value through quoted market
prices.

Our available-for-sale securities were historically classified as held-to-maturity. Management determined that our investment portfolio would be transferred from held-to-maturity to
available-for-sale, in order to have the flexibility to buy and sell investments and maximize cash liquidity for potential acquisitions or for debt repayments. Accordingly, our investment
portfolio is now classified as available-for-sale as of December 31, 2022. Our available-for-sale investments primarily consist of investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds,
and asset-backed securities with maturity dates through 2027. These investments are presented at fair value and are included in short-term investments and non-current
investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Unrealized gains or losses associated with the investments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss,
net of tax in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and statements of comprehensive income. For our available-for-sale investments, we do not have the intent to sell, nor
is it more likely than not that we would be required to sell before recovery of their cost basis.

As of December 31, 2022, we have an accrued interest receivable balance of approximately $200,000 which is included in accounts receivable, net. We do not measure an
allowance for credit losses for accrued interest receivables. We record any losses within the maturity period or at the time of sale of the investment and any write-offs to accrued
interest receivables are recorded as a reduction to interest income in the period of the loss. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we have recorded no credit losses
for accrued interest receivables. Interest income and amortization of discounts and premiums are included in other income, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of
income.

The following table presents the components of our available-for-sale investments:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Amortized cost $ 56,670 $ i
Unrealized gains 16 —
Unrealized losses (1,148) —
Estimated fair value $ 55,538 $ =

As of December 31, 2022, we have $37.0 million of available-for-sale debt securities with contractual maturities of one year or less and $18.5 million with contractual maturities great
than one year. As of December 31, 2022, 24 available-for-sale debt securities with a fair value of $25.8 million have been in a loss position for one year or less and 28 securities with
a fair value of $23.1 million have been in a loss position for greater than one year.

The following table presents the activity on our available-for-sale or held-to-maturity investments:
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Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Proceeds from sales and maturities $ 71,034 $ 131,449 $ 82,742

Realized losses on sales, net of tax (79) = —

Our equity investments consist of an 18% interest in BFTR, LLC., a wholly owned subsidiary of Bison Capital Partners V L.P. BFTR, LLC, a privately held Australian company
specializing in digitizing the spoken word in court and legal proceedings. The investment in common stock is accounted for under the equity method because we do not have the
ability to exercise significant influence over the investee; and as the securities do not have readily determinable fair values, our investment is carried at cost less any impairment
write-downs.

(8) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following tables present the changes in the balances of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax by component:

Unrealized Loss On

Available-for-Sales Accumulated Other
Securities Other Comprehensive Loss

Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ (46) $ — 3 (46)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications — — —
Amounts reclassified to net income — — —
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — —
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ (46) $ — 3 (46)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (850) — (850)
Reclassification adjustment of unrealized losses on securities transferred from held-to-maturity 27) — 27)
Reclassification adjustment for net loss on sale of available for sale securities, included in net income 79 — 79
Other comprehensive loss (798) — (798)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ (844) $ — 3 (844)

9) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date
in the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability. Guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of
inputs used in measuring fair value defined as follows:

¢ Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

* Level 2—Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and quoted prices in non-active markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable, and inputs that are not directly observable, but are corroborated by observable market data.

* Level 3—Inputs that are unobservable and are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the use of significant management judgment.

The classification of a financial asset or liability within the hierarchy is determined based on the least reliable level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. In
determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. We also
consider the counterparty and our own non-performance risk in our assessment of fair value.

The following table presents fair values of our financial and debt instruments categorized by their fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2022:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Available-for-sale investments $ — $ 55,538 $ — $ 55,538
Equity investments — — 10,000 10,000
2021 Credit Agreement

Revolving Credit Facility — — — —

Term Loan A-1 — 288,302 — 288,302

Term Loan A-2 — 104,603 — 104,603
Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 — 560,910 — 560,910

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounts payables, short-term obligations and certain other assets at cost approximate fair value because of the short maturity of
these instruments.
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As of December 31, 2022, we have $55.5 million in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds, and asset-backed securities with maturity dates through 2027. The fair
values of these securities are considered Level 2 as they are based on inputs from quoted prices in markets that are not active or other observable market data.

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

As of December 31, 2022, we have an 18% interest in BFTR, LLC. The investment in common stock is accounted under the equity method because we do not have the ability to
exercise significant influence over the investee and the securities do not have readily determinable fair values. Our investment is carried at cost less any impairment write-downs.
Periodically, our equity method investments are assessed for impairment. We do not reassess the fair value of equity method investments if there are no identified events or
changes in circumstances that may have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of the investments. No events or changes in circumstances have occurred during the period
that require reassessment. There has been no impairment of our equity method investment for the periods presented. This investment is included in other non-current assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

We assess gooduwill for impairment annually on October 1.In addition, we review goodwill, property and equipment, and other intangibles for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.During the fourth quarter of 2022, we completed our annual assessment of goodwill which did not
result in an impairment charge. Further, we identified no indicators of impairment to long-lived and other assets and therefore, no impairment was recorded as of and for the period
ended December 31, 2022.

Financial instruments measured at fair value only for disclosure purposes

The fair value of our borrowing under our 2021 Credit Agreement would approximate book value as of December 31, 2022, because our interest rates reset approximately every 30
days or less.

The carrying amount of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the terms of the Term Loans. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The fair value of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 is determined based on quoted market prices for a similar liability when traded as an asset in an active market, a Level 2
input. See Note 6, “Debt,” for further discussion.

The carrying amount of the Convertible Senior Notes is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the effective
interest method over the term of the Convertible Senior Notes. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The following table presents the fair value and carrying value, net, of the 2021 Credit Agreement and our Convertible Notes due 2026):

Fair Value at December 31, Carrying Value at December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021
2021 Credit Agreement
Revolving Credit Facility $ — $ — $ — 3 =
Term Loan A-1 288,302 580,515 288,302 580,515
Term Loan A-2 104,603 167,997 104,603 167,996
Convertible Notes due 2026 560,910 736,662 594,484 592,765
$ 953,815 $ 1,485174 $ 987,389 $ 1,341,276

(10)  INCOME TAX

Income tax provision (benefit) on income from operations consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Current:
Federal $ 84570 $ 7591 $ (10,538)
State 25,975 3,203 (1,304)
110,545 10,794 (11,842)
Deferred (87,192) (13,271) (7,936)
$ 23,353 $ 2,477) $ (19,778)

Reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax expense rate for operations follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Federal income tax expense at statutory rate $ 39,395 $ 33,386 $ 36,759
State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 9,197 5,594 6,677
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Net operating loss carryback (261) 3,391 (3,445)

Excess tax benefits of share-based compensation (7,752) (47,675) (60,190)
Tax credits (31,334) (4,999) (3,867)
Non-deductible business expenses 5,425 7,542 4,199
Uncertain tax positions 8,338 (425) —
Other, net 345 709 89

$ 23,353 $ 2,477) $ (19,778)

In 2022, we completed a multi-year research and development tax credit study, which resulted in a $31.3 million research tax credit benefit.

The tax effects of the major items recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are:

2022 2021
Deferred income tax assets:
Capitalized research and experimental expenditures $ 76,731 $ =
Operating expenses not currently deductible 17,263 16,639
Stock option and other employee benefit plans 21,373 19,596
Loss and credit carryforwards 8,589 18,604
Deferred revenue 4,405 4,717
Other 289 —
Total deferred income tax assets 128,650 59,556
Valuation allowance — —
Total deferred income tax assets, net of valuation allowance 128,650 59,556
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Intangible assets (256,818) (266,827)
Property and equipment (11,220) (12,272)
Prepaid expenses (9,503) (8,542)
Total deferred income tax liabilities (277,541) (287,641)
Net deferred income tax liabilities $ (148,891) $ (228,085)

As of December 31, 2022, the capitalization and amortization requirements of research and experimental expenditures pursuant to the TCJA changes to Internal Revenue Code
Section 174 resulted in a deferred tax asset of $76.7 million.

As of December 31, 2022, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.9 million, after-tax state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1.6
million, and tax credit carryforwards of approximately $4.1 million. The federal net operating loss carryforward will begin to expire in 2037, if not utilized, and a portion of the state net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards begin expiring in 2033, if not utilized.

The acquired carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation but are expected to be realized. We believe it is more likely than not that all other deferred tax assets will be realized.
However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted in the future if estimates of reversing taxable temporary differences are revised.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31:

2022 2021
Balance at beginning of period $ 4,635 $ 1,929
Additions for tax positions of prior period 5,522 4,508
Reductions for tax positions of prior period (170) (10)
Additions for tax positions of current period 5,804 212
Settlements — —
Expiration of statutes of limitations (1,160) (2,004)
Balance at end of period $ 14,631 $ 4,635

As of December 31, 2022, $1.9 million of the unrecognized tax benefits are reflected as a decrease in deferred income taxes and $12.7 million are included in other long-term
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, net of federal income tax benefit of state taxes, if recognized, that would affect the
effective tax rate is $13.9 million as of December 31, 2022, and $4.3 million and $1.9 million as of December 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively. It is reasonably possible that events
will occur during the next 12 months that would cause the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to increase or decrease. However, we do not expect such increases or
decreases to be material to the financial condition or results of operations.
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We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax of multiple state, local and foreign jurisdictions. We are routinely subject to income tax
examinations by these taxing jurisdictions, but we do not have a history of, nor do we expect any material adjustments as a result of these examinations. With
few exceptions, major U.S. federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions are no longer subject to examination for years before 2018. As of February 22, 2023, no
significant adjustments have been proposed by any taxing jurisdiction.

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income. Accrued interest and
penalty amounts were not significant at December 31, 2022.

(11) SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The following table details activity in our common stock:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Purchases of treasury shares — 3 = (33) $ (12,977) (59 $ (15,484)
Stock option exercises 186 26,329 627 96,714 1,174 124,363
Employee stock plan purchases 49 16,651 35 13,158 40 10,912
Restricted stock units vested, net of withheld shares upon award

settlement 176 (27,219) 147 (25,158) 76 (12,923)
Shares issued for acquisition 56 18,169 — — — —

As of February 22, 2023, we had authorization from our board of directors to repurchase up to 2.3 million additional shares of our common stock.

(12)  SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Share-Based Compensation Plan

In May 2018, stockholders approved the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2018 Plan”) which amended and restated the existing Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2010
Stock Option Plan (“the 2010 Plan”). Upon stockholder approval of the 2018 Plan, the remaining shares available for grant under the 2010 Plan were added to the shares authorized
for grant under the 2018 Plan. Additionally, any awards previously granted under the 2010 Plan that expire unexercised or are forfeited are added to the shares authorized for grant
under the 2018 Plan.

During fiscal year 2022, we granted stock awards under the 2018 Plan in the form of stock options, restricted stock units and performance share units. Stock options generally vest
after three to six years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Once options become exercisable, the employee can purchase shares
of our common stock at the market price on the date we granted the option. Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to five years of continuous service from the
date of grant. Each performance share unit represents the right to receive one share of our common stock based on our achievement of certain financial performance targets during
applicable performance periods. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation.

As of December 31, 2022, there were 1.3 million shares available for future grants under the 2018 Plan from the 22.9 million shares previously approved by the shareholders.
Determining_Fair Value of Stock Compensation

Valuation and Amortization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards granted using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. For restricted stock unit and
performance stock unit awards, we estimate fair value as market value on the date of grant. We amortize the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service periods, which are generally the vesting periods.

Expected Life. The expected life of awards granted represents the period of time that they are expected to be outstanding. The expected life represents the weighted-average period
the stock options are expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting terms, remaining contractual life and the employees’ expected exercise based on historical
patterns.

Expected Volatility. Using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, we estimate the volatility of our common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our
common stock.

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option valuation model on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon
issues with an equivalent remaining term equal to the expected life of the award.

Expected Dividend Yield. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock in more than ten years and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Consequently, we use an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

Expected Forfeitures. We use historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures. We record share-based compensation only for those awards that are expected to vest.

The following weighted average assumptions were used for options granted:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Expected life (in years) 5.0 5.0 5.0
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Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) participants may contribute up to 15% of their annual compensation to purchase common shares of Tyler. The purchase price of
the shares is equal to 85% of the closing price of Tyler shares on the last day of each quarterly offering period. As of December 31, 2022, there were 576,000 shares available for
future issuances under the ESPP from the 2.0 million shares previously approved by the stockholders.

(13) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table details the reconciliation of basic earnings per share to diluted earnings per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net income $ 164,240 $ 161,458 $ 194,820
Denominator:
Weighted-average basic common shares outstanding 41,544 40,848 40,035
Assumed conversion of dilutive securities:
Stock awards 855 1,382 1,491
Convertible Senior Notes — 14 —
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - Adjusted weighted-average shares 42,399 42,244 41,526
Earnings per common share:
Basic $ 395 $ 395 $ 4.87
Diluted $ 387 $ 382 $ 4.69

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase common stock of 372,000 shares in 2022, 117,000 shares in 2021, and 132,000 shares in 2020, were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have had an antidilutive effect.

We have used the if-converted method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 on our diluted net income per share. Under the if-
converted method, the Notes are assumed to be converted at the beginning of the period and the resulting common shares are included in the denominator of the diluted earnings
per share calculation for the entire period being presented and interest expense, net of tax, recorded in connection with the Convertible Senior Notes is not added back to the
numerator, only in the periods in which such effect is dilutive. The approximately 1.2 million remaining resulting common shares related to the Notes are not included in the dilutive
weighted-average common shares outstanding calculation for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, as their effect would be antidilutive given none of the conversion
features have been triggered. See Note 6, “Debt,"for discussion on the conversion features related to the Convertible Senior Notes.

(14) LEASES

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable operating lease agreements with original
maturities between one to 12 years. Some of these leases include options to extend for up to six years. We have no finance leases and no related party lease agreements as of
December 31, 2022. Right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities for our operating leases are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. During 2022, we incurred lease
restructuring costs, resulting in an additional $1.7 million of operating lease costs.

The components of operating lease expense were as follows:

Lease Costs Years ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Operating lease cost $ 14,743 $ 11,095 $ 6,524
Short-term lease cost 2,166 2,308 1,940
Variable lease cost 1,047 1,659 1,760
Net lease cost $ 17,956 $ 15,062 $ 10,224

Supplemental information related to leases is as follows:

Other Information Years ended December 31,

2022 2021

Cash flows:
Cash paid amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash outflows from operating leases $ 13,562 $ 11,432

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations (non-cash):

Operating leases $ 25,171 $ 20,140
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Lease term and discount rate:
Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 7 6

Weighted average discount rate 1.57 % 1.81 %

As of December 31, 2022, maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2023 $ 11,054
2024 10,878
2025 8,942
2026 7,022
2027 5,943
Thereafter 17,876
Total lease payments 61,715
Less: Interest (2,930)
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 58,785

Rental Income from third parties

We own office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Texas; Troy, Michigan; Latham, New York; and Moraine, Ohio. We lease space in some of

these buildings to third-party tenants. The property we lease to others under operating leases consists primarily of specific facilities where one tenant obtains substantially all of the
economic benefit from the asset and has the right to direct the use of the asset. These non-cancelable leases expire between 2023 and 2027, and some have options to extend the
lease for up to 10 years. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. None of our leases allow the lessee to purchase the leased asset.

Rental income from third-party tenants was $1.7 million in 2022, $1.2 million in 2021, and $1.1 million in 2020. Rental income is included in hardware and other revenue on the
consolidated statements of income. Future minimum operating rental income based on contractual agreements is as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2023 $ 1,881
2024 1,904
2025 1,363
2026 408
2027 131
Thereafter —
Total $ 5,687

As of December 31, 2022, we had no additional significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.

(15) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of our employees meeting minimum service requirements. Eligible employees can contribute up to 30% of their current
compensation to the plan subject to certain statutory limitations. We contribute up to a maximum of 3% of an employee’s compensation to the plan. We made contributions to the
plan and charged operating results $17.5 million in 2022, $15.6 million in 2021, and $12.7 million in 2020.

(16) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

During the first quarter 2022, the Company received a notice of termination for convenience for professional services under a contractual arrangement with a state client. Upon
receipt of the termination notice, we ceased performing services under the contractual arrangement and sought payment of contractually owed fees of approximately $15 million in
connection with the termination for convenience. As of December 31, the total exposure in our financial statements included the remaining balance of net billed accounts receivable
for licenses and services rendered under the contract of approximately $12 million.

The client was unresponsive to company outreach for several months. On August 23, 2022, the Company filed a lawsuit to enforce our rights and remedies under the applicable
contractual arrangement. The client has not filed responsive pleadings and no other significant activity has occurred in the lawsuit. Although we believe our products and services
were delivered in accordance with the terms of our contract and that we are entitled to payment in connection with the termination for convenience, at this time the matter remains
unresolved. We are unable to estimate the probability of a favorable or unfavorable outcome with respect to the dispute or estimate the amount of potential loss, if any, related to this
matter. We can provide no assurances that we will not incur additional costs as we pursue our rights and remedies under the contract.

Purchase Commitments

We have contractual obligations for third-party technology used in our solutions and for other services we purchase as part of our normal operations. In certain cases, these
arrangements require a minimum annual purchase commitment by us. As of December 31, 2022, the remaining aggregate minimum purchase commitment under these
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arrangements was approximately $264 million through 2028. Future minimum payments related to purchase commitments based on contractual agreements is as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2023 $ 41,210
2024 41,862
2025 39,730
2026 42,681
2027 42,734
Thereafter 56,245
Total $ 264,462

a7 (2 SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We provide integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector.
We provide our software systems and related professional services and appraisal services through seven business units, which focus on the following products:

« financial management, education and planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

« financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

« courts and justice and public safety software solutions;

e data and insights solutions;

* appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services;
« development platform solutions including case management and business process management; and

« digital government and payments solutions.

In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting,, we report our results in two reportable segments. Business units that have met the aggregation criteria have been combined
into our two reportable segments. The Enterprise Software ("ES") reportable segment provides public sector entities with software systems and services to meet their information
technology and automation needs for mission-critical “back-office” functions such as: financial management and education; planning, regulatory and maintenance; public
administration solutions; courts and justice; public safety; data and insights; appraisal and tax software safety solutions; land and vital records management software

solutions; education solutions, and property appraisal services. and recording solutions. The Platform Technologies ("PT") reportable segment provides public sector entities with
software solutions to perform transaction platform and transformative solutions including digital solutions, payment processing, streamline data processing, and improve operations
and workflows such as digital government workflows.

As of January 1, 2023, our data and payments insights solutions and development platform solutions. business unit was integrated into the remaining business units across both
reportable segments with no material change to the results of the reportable segments.

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating income. We define segment operating income for our
business units as income before non-cash amortization of intangible assets associated with their acquisitions, interest expense, and income taxes. Segment operating income
includes intercompany transactions. The majority of intercompany transactions relate to contracts involving more than one unit and are valued based on the contractual
arrangement. Corporate segment operating loss primarily consists of compensation costs for the executive management team, certain shared services staff, and share-based
compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income loss also includes revenues and expenses related to a company-wide user conference. The
accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”.

As of January 1, 2022, the appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal service business unit, which was
previously reported in the Appraisal & Tax ("A&T") reportable segment, was moved to the ES reportable segment. The digital government and payments solutions, which was
previously reported in the NIC reportable segment, and development platform solutions moved to the PT reportable segment to reflect changes in the way in which management
makes operating decisions, allocates resources, and manages the growth and profitability of the Company. As a result of the changes in our reportable segments, the former A&T
and NIC reportable segments are no longer considered separate segments. Prior periods amounts for the ES and PT reportable segments have been adjusted to reflect the
segment change.

Segment assets primarily consist of net accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, and net property and equipment and software development
costs. Corporate assets primarily consist of cash and investments, prepaid insurance, intangibles associated with acquisitions, deferred income taxes, and net property and
equipment mainly related to unallocated information and technology assets.

The ES segment capital expenditures included $3.6 million in 2022 and $12.8 million in 2021 for the expansion of existing buildings and purchases of
buildings. The PT segment had $863,000 capital expenditures in 2022 and had no capital expenditures in 2021 for the expansion of existing buildings.

Enterprise Platform
For the year ended December 31, 2023 Software Technologies Corporate Totals
Revenues
Subscriptions:
SaaS $ 459,544 $ 68,433 $ — 3 527,977
Transaction-based fees 174,718 456,817 — 631,535
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Maintenance 442,781 23,880 = 466,661
Professional services 209,727 40,249 — 249,976
Software licenses and royalties 32,709 5,387 — 38,096
Hardware and other 30,176 — 7,330 37,506
Intercompany 23,566 — (23,566) —
Total revenues $ 1,373,221 594,766 (16,236) $ 1,951,751
Depreciation and amortization expense 110,354 18,280 154,079
Segment operating income 124,446 (238,971) 329,231
Software development expenditures 15,840 10,031 32,490
Capital expenditures 2,380 1,351 20,519
Segment assets 426,064 3,619,482 $ 4,676,663
For the year  For the year
ended ended
December 31, December Enterprise Platform Enterprise
2022 31, 2022 Software  Technologies Corporate Totals  For the year ended December 31, 2022 Software Platform Technologies Corporate  Totals
Revenues Revenues
Subscriptions $ 526,323 $ 485981 $ — $1,012,304
Subscriptions:

SaaS

SaaS

SaaS

Transaction-

based fees
Maintenance Maintenance 444,143 24,312 — 468,455
Professional ~ Professional
services services 170,462 72,655 — 243,117
Software Software
licenses and licenses and
royalties royalties 55,158 4,248 — 59,406
Appraisal services 34,508 — — 34,508
Hardware and Hardware
other and other 26,592 — 5,822 32,414
Intercompany Intercompany 21,636 — (21,636) —

Total

Total revenues revenues $1,278,822 $ 587,196 $ (15,814) $1,850,204
Depreciation  Depreciation
and and
amortization ~ amortization
expense expense 55,389 84,609 19,074 159,072
Segment Segment
operating operating
income income 418,776 123,291 (214,263) 327,804
Software Software
development development
expenditures  expenditures 3,790 14,581 9,251 27,622
Capital Capital
expenditures  expenditures 8,972 6,845 6,712 22,529
Segment Segment
assets assets $ 636,377 $ 362,610 $3,688,430 $4,687,417
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For the year

ended
December 31, Enterprise
2021 For the year ended December 31, 2021 Software Platform Technologies Corporate Totals

Revenues Revenues

Subscriptions:
SaaS
SaaS
SaaS
Transaction-
based fees

Maintenance

Professional

services

Software

licenses and

royalties

Hardware and
other

Intercompany

Total revenues
Depreciation
and
amortization
expense
Segment
operating
income
Software
development
expenditures
Capital
expenditures

Segment

assets
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Reconciliation of reportable segment operating income to the Company's consolidated totals:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Total segment operating income $ 329,231 $ 327,804 $ 271,185
Amortization of acquired software (36,062) (52,192) (45,601)
Amortization of other intangibles (74,632) (61,363) (44,849)
Interest expense (23,629) (28,379) (23,298)
Other income, net 3,328 1,723 1,544
Income before income taxes $ 198,236 $ 187,593 $ 158,981
Reconciliation of reportable segment operating income to the Company's consolidated totals: Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Total segment operating income $ 327,804 $ 271,185 $ 226,550
Amortization of acquired software (52,192) (45,601) (31,962)
Amortization of other intangibles (61,363) (44,849) (21,662)
Interest expense (28,379) (23,298) (1,013)
Other income, net 1,723 1,544 3,129
Income before income taxes $ 187,593 $ 158,981 $ 175,042

(8)(3) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

The tables below show disaggregation of revenue into categories that reflect how economic factors affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows.

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Timing of revenue recognition by revenue category during the period is as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2022
Revenues:
Subscriptions

Maintenance

Professional services
Software licenses and royalties
Appraisal services

Hardware and other

Total

For the year ended December 31, 2021
Revenues:

Subscriptions

Maintenance

Professional services

Software licenses and royalties

Appraisal services

Hardware and other

Total

Products and services

Products and services
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transferred at a point in time transferred over time Total
$ — 8 1,012,304 $ 1,012,304
— 468,455 468,455
— 243,117 243,117
50,302 9,104 59,406
— 34,508 34,508
32,414 — 32,414
$ 82,716 $ 1,767,488 $ 1,850,204
Products and services Products and services
transferred at a point in time transferred over time Total
$ — $ 784,435 $ 784,435
— 474,287 474,287
— 209,391 209,391
62,847 11,605 74,452
— 27,788 27,788
21,934 — 21,934
$ 84,781 $ 1,507,506 $ 1,592,287
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Products

and Products
services and
transferred  services
For the year ended December at a point  transferred
31, 2020 in time over time Total
For the year
ended
December 31, For the year ended December 31,
2023 2023
Revenues: Revenues:
Subscriptions $ — $ 350,648 $ 350,648
Subscriptions:
Subscriptions:
Subscriptions:
SaaS
SaaS
SaaS
Transaction-
based fees
Maintenance = Maintenance — 467,513 467,513
Professional =~ Professional
services services — 186,409 186,409
Software Software
licenses and ~ licenses and
royalties royalties 62,029 11,135 73,164
Appraisal services — 21,127 21,127
Hardware Hardware
and other and other 17,802 — 17,802
Total Total $ 79,831 $1,036,832 $1,116,663

For the year ended December 31, 2022
Revenues:
Subscriptions
SaaS
Transaction-based fees

Maintenance

Professional services
Software licenses and royalties
Hardware and other

Total

For the year ended December 31, 2021
Revenues:
Subscriptions
SaaS
Transaction-based fees

Maintenance

Professional services
Software licenses and royalties

Hardware and other

Products and services transferred at a point in Products and services transferred over

time time Total
Products and services Products and services
transferred at a point in time transferred over time Total
$ — 428,526 $ 428,526
— 583,778 583,778
— 468,455 468,455
— 277,625 277,625
50,302 9,104 59,406
32,414 — 32,414
$ 82,716 1,767,488 $ 1,850,204
Products and services Products and services
transferred at a point in time transferred over time Total
$ — 342,118 $ 342,118
= 442,317 442,317
— 474,287 474,287
— 237,179 237,179
62,847 11,605 74,452
21,934 — 21,934
82/334
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Total $ 84,781 $ 1,507,506 $ 1,592,287

Recurring Revenues

The majority of our revenue is revenues are comprised of revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider to be recurring revenues. Subscriptions revenue
primarily consists of revenues derived from our SaaS arrangements and transaction-based fees, which relate to digital government services e-filing transactions, and payment
processing. Total subscriptions revenue derived These revenues are considered recurring because revenues from transaction-based fees included these sources are expected to
recur in total recurring revenues was $600.8 million, $454.8 million, and $91.0 million, respectively, similar annual amounts for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022,

2021, term of our relationship with the client. Transaction-based fees are generally the result of multi-year contracts with our clients that result in fees generated by payment
transactions and 2020, respectively. digital government services and are collected on a recurring basis during the contract term. The contract terms for subscription arrangements
range from one to 10 years but are typically contracted for initial periods of three to five years. Virtually all of our on-premises software clients contract with us for maintenance and
support, which provides us with a significant source of recurring revenues. That maintenance Maintenance and support is generally provided under annual, or in some cases, multi-
year contracts. We consider all other revenue categories to be non-recurring revenues.

Recurring revenues and non-recurring revenues recognized during the period are as follows:

Enterprise Platform

For the year ended December 31, 2023 Software Technologies Corporate Totals

Recurring revenues $ 1,077,043 $ 549,130 $ — % 1,626,173

Non-recurring revenues 272,612 45,636 7,330 325,578

Intercompany 23,566 — (23,566) —

Total revenues $ 1,373,221 $ 594,766 $ (16,236) $ 1,951,751
Enterprise Platform

For the year ended December 31, 2022 Software Technologies Corporate Totals

Recurring revenues $ 970,466 $ 510,293 $ — 3 1,480,759

Non-recurring revenues 286,720 76,903 5,822 369,445

Intercompany 21,636 — (21,636) —

Total revenues $ 1,278,822 $ 587,196 $ (15,814) $ 1,850,204
Enterprise Platform

For the year ended December 31, 2021 Software Technologies Corporate Totals

Recurring revenues $ 864,667 $ 394,055 $ — 3 1,258,722

Non-recurring revenues 278,876 51,662 3,027 333,565

Intercompany 22,033 — (22,033) —

Total revenues $ 1,165,576 $ 445717  $ (19,006) $ 1,592,287
Enterprise Platform

For the year ended December 31, 2020 Software Technologies Corporate Totals

Recurring revenues $ 767,655 $ 50,506 $ — 8 818,161

Non-recurring revenues 271,883 26,608 11 298,502

Intercompany 19,131 — (19,131) —

Total revenues $ 1,058,669 $ 77,114 $ (19,120) $ 1,116,663

(19) @) DEFERRED REVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

Total deferred revenue, including long-term, by segment is as follows:

December December
31,2022 31,2021
December 31,
2023 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Enterprise  Enterprise

Software Software $533,902 $479,048

Platform Platform

Technologies Technologies 33,691 29,705

Corporate  Corporate 2,982 1,814

Totals Totals $570,575 $510,567
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Changes in total deferred revenue, including long-term, were as follows:

20222023
Balance at beginning of year $ 510,567 570,575
Deferral of revenue 1,267,937 1,391,795
Recognition of deferred revenue (1,207,929) (1,329,165)
Balance at end of year $ 570,575 633,205

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized (“backlog”), which
includes deferred revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods. Backlog as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 was $1.89
billion $2.03 billion, of which we expect to recognize approximately 47% 46% as revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder thereafter.

(20) (5) DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales commissions earned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. Sales commissions for initial contracts are
deferred and then amortized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be generally three to seven years.
Deferred commissions were $43.8 million $49.2 million and $38.1 million $43.8 million as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. Amortization
expense was $15.4 million $18.6 million, $13.4 million $15.4 million, and $11.9 million $13.4 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
2021,2022, and 2020, 2021, respectively. There were no indicators of impairment in relation to the costs capitalized for the periods presented. Deferred commissions have been
included with prepaid expenses for the current portion and non-current other assets for the long-term portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization
expense related to deferred commissions is included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

(6)  ACQUISITIONS
2023

On October 31, 2023, we acquired Resource Exploration, Inc. (‘ResourceX”), a leading provider of budgeting software to the public sector. The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $48,000, was approximately $16.3 million, consisting of $9.1 million paid in cash, $5.7 million of common stock and $1.5 million related to working capital and indemnity
holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

We have performed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair market value of ResourceX’s assets and liabilities. In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible
assets of $388,000 and assumed liabilities of approximately $901,000. We recorded goodwill of approximately $10.0 million, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $7.6 million. The goodwill arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased
revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base. The intangible assets of $7.6 million are primarily attributable to customer relationships and
acquired software and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately nine years. We recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $748,000 related to the tax effect of
our estimated fair value allocations.

On October 31, 2023, we acquired ARInspect, Inc. (“ARInspect”), a leading provider of Al powered machine learning solutions for public sector field operations. The total purchase
price, net of cash acquired of $1.0 million, was approximately $20.5 million, consisting of $19.1 million paid in cash and $2.4 million related to working capital and indemnity
holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

We have performed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair market value of ARInspect’s assets and liabilities. In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible
assets of $1.8 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $1.5 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately $13.6 million, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $10.0 million. The goodwill arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased
revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base. The intangible assets of $10.0 million are primarily attributable to customer relationships
and acquired software and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 12 years. We recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $2.5 million related to the tax
effect of our estimated fair value allocations.

On August 8, 2023, we acquired Computing System Innovations, LLC (“CSI"), a leading provider of artificial intelligence automation, redaction, and indexing solution for courts,
recorders, attorneys, and others. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $415,000, was approximately $36.2 million, consisting of $33.4 million paid in cash and $3.3
million related to working capital and indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

We have performed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair market value of CSI's assets and liabilities. In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of
$1.2 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $2.4 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately $19.4 million, all of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes,
and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $18.5 million. The gooduwill arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues,
earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base. The intangible assets of $18.5 million are primarily attributable to customer relationships and acquired
software and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 13 years.

We also paid $2.6 million primarily related to a small acquisition completed during first quarter 2023 and holdbacks related to other acquisitions completed in 2022.

The actual operating results of CSI and ResourceX, from their respective dates of acquisition, are included with the operating results of the ES segment. The operating results of
ARInspect are included in the operating results of the PT segment since the date of acquisition. Also, the impact of these acquisitions on our operating results, assets, and liabilities
is not material, individually or in the aggregate. The purchase price allocation for CSI, ARInspect, and ResourceX are not final; therefore, certain preliminary valuation estimates of
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fair value assumed at the acquisition date for intangible assets, receivables, and related deferred taxes are subject to change as valuations are finalized. Our balance sheet as of
December 31, 2023, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired based on their estimated fair value at the date of the acquisition. The fair value of the
assets and liabilities acquired are based on valuations using Level 3 unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of
the assets or liabilities.

In the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, we incurred fees of approximately $409,000 for financial advisory, legal, accounting, due diligence, valuation, and other various
services necessary to complete acquisitions. These costs were expensed in 2023 and are included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income.

2022

On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC (“Rapid”), a provider of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with best-in-class card issuance and digital
disbursement capabilities. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, was approximately $67.4 million, consisting of $51.5 million paid in cash and, $18.2 million
of common stock.

We performed a valuation analysis of the fair market value of Rapid’s assets and liabilities. In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $12.9 million and
assumed liabilities of approximately $10.6 million. In the first quarter of 2023, we recorded $10.0 million for assumed liabilities related to litigation outstanding at the time of
acquisition as the amount became probable and estimable and a related $10.0 million indemnification receivable from escrowed amounts established at acquisition. We recorded
goodwill of approximately $39.8 million, all of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $27.6 million. The
goodwill arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client
base. The $27.6 million of intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of
approximately 10 years.

On May 31, 2022, we completed the acquisition of Quatred, LLC (“Quatred”), a systems integrator and barcode technology solutions provider. The total cash price was
approximately $637,000.

On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. (“US eDirect”), a leading provider of technology solutions for campground and outdoor recreation management. The total
purchase price, net of cash acquired of $6.4 million, was approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $122.9 million paid in cash.

We performed a valuation analysis of the fair market value of US eDirect's assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price as of the
acquisition date:

Cash $ 6,361
Accounts receivable 1,730
Other current assets 594
Other noncurrent assets 698
Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets 125,541
Accounts payable (1,881)
Accrued expenses (357)
Other noncurrent liabilities (742)
Deferred revenue (688)
Deferred tax liabilities, net (8,326)
Total consideration $ 122,930

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $9.4 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $3.7 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately
$91.4 million, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $34.1 million. The goodwill arising from this
acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings, and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base. The identifiable
intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 13 years. We
recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $8.3 million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. Since the acquisition date, we recorded adjustments to the
preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to decreases in other current assets, other noncurrent assets, identifiable intangible assets, accrued expenses, and deferred revenue,
and increases in accounts receivable, accounts payable, and deferred tax liabilities, resulting in a net increase to goodwill of approximately $10.3 million.

As of December 31, 2023, the purchase price allocations for Rapid, US eDirect, and Quatred are complete. The actual operating results of Rapid and US eDirect, from their
respective dates of acquisition, are included with the operating results of the Platform Technologies segment. The operating results of Quatred are included in the operating results
of the Enterprise Software segment since the date of acquisition.

) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, NET

Property and equipment, net consists of the following at December 31:

Useful

Lives

(years) 2023 2022
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Land — 3 22,908 $ 22,908

Building and leasehold improvements 5-39 172,094 159,059
Computer equipment and purchased software 3-5 118,178 121,968
Furniture and fixtures 5 34,881 39,373
Transportation equipment 5 222 200
348,283 343,508

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (178,563) (170,722)
Property and equipment, net $ 169,720 $ 172,786

Depreciation expense was $25.0 million in 2023, $29.5 million in 2022, and $29.4 million in 2021.
We paid $16.0 million and $4.5 million for real estate and the expansion of existing facilities in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Software development costs, net consists of the following at December 31:

Useful
Lives
(years) 2023 2022
Software development costs 35 % 92,395 $ 59,904
Accumulated amortization (25,271) (11,715)
Software development costs, net $ 67,124 $ 48,189

Amortization expense for software development costs is recorded to cost of revenues and general and administrative expense. Amortization expense for software development
costs recorded to cost of revenues was $12.6 million in 2023, $6.5 million in 2022, and $2.3 million in 2021. Amortization expense for software development costs recorded to
general and administrative expense was $930,000 in 2023, $1.4 million expense in 2022, and no expense in 2021.

Estimated annual amortization expense related to software development costs:

2024 $ 18,546
2025 17,031
2026 13,867
2027 9,286
2028 4,976
Thereafter 3,418

$ 67,124

(8) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the two years ended December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Platform
Enterprise Software Technologies Total
Balance as of 12/31/2021 $ 836,505 $ 1,523,169 $ 2,359,674
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of US eDirect — 91,441 91,441
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of Rapid — 40,005 40,005
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of VendEngine (204) — (204)
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of other acquisitions (1,608) — (1,608)
Balance as of 12/31/2022 834,693 1,654,615 2,489,308
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of CSI 19,421 — 19,421
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of ARInspect — 13,627 13,627
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of ResourceX 9,978 — 9,978
Purchase price adjustments related to the purchase of other acquisitions — (225) (225)
Transfer from ES to PT (27,090) 27,090 —
Balance as of 12/31/2023 $ 837,002 $ 1,695,107 $ 2,532,109
Other intangible assets and related accumulated amortization consists of the following at December 31:
2023 2022
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Gross carrying amount of other intangibles:

Customer related intangibles $ 1,015919 $ 990,545
Acquired software 466,253 456,137
Trade names 45,002 45,293
Leases acquired 5,037 5,037
1,532,211 1,497,012

Accumulated amortization (603,341) (494,848)
Total other intangibles, net $ 928,870 $ 1,002,164

Amortization expense for acquired software is recorded to cost of revenues. Amortization expense for customer related intangibles, trade names and leases acquired is recorded to
amortization of other intangibles. Total amortization expense for other intangibles was $111.0 million in 2023, $113.9 million in 2022, and $90.8 million in 2021.

The amortization periods of other intangible assets is summarized in the following table:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Weighted Weighted
Gross Average Gross Average
Carrying Amortization Accumulated Carrying Amortization Accumulated
Amount Period Amortization Amount Period Amortization
Non-amortizable intangibles:
Goodwill $ 2,532,109 — 3 — 3 2,489,308 — 3 =
Amortizable intangibles:
Customer related intangibles $ 1,015,919 18 years $ 263,672 $ 990,545 20 years $ 209,501
Acquired software 466,253 7 years 296,704 456,137 5 years 260,642
Trade names 45,002 7 years 38,838 45,293 5 years 21,059
Leases acquired 5,037 9 years 4,127 5,037 9 years 3,646
Estimated annual amortization expense related to other intangibles:
2024 $ 96,113
2025 92,476
2026 84,965
2027 82,697
2028 79,978
Thereafter 492,641
$ 928,870
9) ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31:
2023 2022
Accrued wages, bonuses and commissions $ 81,679 $ 73,745
Other accrued liabilities 76,879 58,196
$ 158,558 $ 131,941

(10)  DEBT

The following table summarizes our total outstanding borrowings related to the amended 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior Notes:

Rate Maturity Date December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
2021 Credit Agreement

Revolving credit facility S +1.25% April 2026 $ — 3 =
Term Loan A-1 S +1.25% April 2026 50,000 290,000
Term Loan A-2 S + 1.00% April 2024 — 105,000
Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 0.25% March 2026 600,000 600,000
Total borrowings 650,000 995,000
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Less: unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs (3,993) (7,611)

Total borrowings, net 646,007 987,389
Less: current portion of debt (49,801) (30,000)
Carrying value $ 596,206 $ 957,389

2021 Credit Agreement

In connection with the completion of the acquisition of NIC, Inc. on April 21, 2021, we, as borrower, entered into a $1.4 billion Credit Agreement (the “2021 Credit Agreement”) with
the various lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, and Issuing Lender. The 2021 Credit Agreement provides
for (1) a senior unsecured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $500 million, including sub-facilities for standby letters of credit and swingline loans (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”), (2) an amortizing five-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $600 million (the “Term Loan A-1"), and (3) a non-amortizing three-year term loan in the
aggregate amount of $300 million (the “Term Loan A-2") and, together (the “Term Loans”). The 2021 Credit Agreement matures on April 20, 2026, and the loans may be prepaid at
any time, without premium or penalty, subject to certain minimum amounts and payment of any breakage costs. In addition to the required amortization payments on the Term Loan
A-1 of 5% annually, certain mandatory quarterly prepayments of the Term Loans and the Revolving Credit Facility will be required (i) upon the issuance or incurrence of additional
debt not otherwise permitted under the 2021 Credit Agreement and (ii) upon the occurrence of certain asset sales and insurance and condemnation recoveries, subject to certain
thresholds, baskets, and reinvestment provisions as provided in the 2021 Credit Agreement.

On January 28, 2023, we amended our 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LIBOR reference rate with the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) reference rate.

In accordance with our amended 2021 Credit Agreement, the borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A-1 bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a per
annum rate of either (1) the Administrative Agent’s prime commercial lending rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) (the “Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75%
or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month SOFR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears interest, at the Company’s
option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month SOFR rate plus a
margin of 0.875% to 1.5%. The margin in each case is based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratio, as determined pursuant to the amended 2021 Credit Agreement. In
addition to paying interest on the outstanding principal of loans under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company is required to pay a commitment fee on the average daily unused
portion of the Revolving Credit Facility, currently 0.25% per annum, ranging from 0.15% to 0.3% based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2023, we
have fully repaid amounts due under Term Loan A-2.

The amended 2021 Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and prohibits us from making certain investments, advances,
cash dividends or loans, and limits incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens. As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with those covenants.

The carrying amount is the par value of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the terms of the Term Loans. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Convertible Senior Notes due 2026

On March 9, 2021, we issued 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million (“the Convertible Senior Notes” or “the Notes”). The
Convertible Senior Notes were issued pursuant to, and are governed by, an indenture (the “Indenture”), dated as of March 9, 2021, with U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee.
The net proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $591.4 million, net of initial purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million.

The Convertible Senior Notes are senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with our future senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior in right of payment to
our future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes; (jii) effectively subordinated to our future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the collateral
securing that indebtedness; and (iv) structurally subordinated to all future indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, and (to the extent we are not a holder thereof)
preferred equity, if any, of our subsidiaries.

The Convertible Senior Notes accrue interest at a rate of 0.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning on September
15, 2021. The Convertible Senior Notes mature on March 15, 2026, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed, or converted.

Before September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes have the right to convert their Convertible Senior Notes only upon the occurrence of certain events. Under the
terms of the Indenture, the Convertible Senior Notes are convertible into common stock of Tyler Technologies, Inc. (referred to as “our common stock” herein) at the following times
or circumstances:

e during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ended June 30, 2021, if the last reported sale price per share of our common stock exceeds 130%
of the conversion price for each of at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading
day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter;

¢ during the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive trading day period (such five consecutive trading day period, the “Measurement
Period”) if the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes, as determined following a request by their holder in accordance with the
procedures in the Indenture, for each trading day of the Measurement Period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price per share of our common
stock on such trading day and the conversion rate on such trading day;

* upon the occurrence of certain corporate events or distributions on our common stock, including but not limited to a “Fundamental Change” (as defined in the
Indenture);

« upon the occurrence of specified corporate events; or

« on or after September 15, 2025, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, March 15, 2026.
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With certain exceptions, upon a change of control or other fundamental change (both as defined in the Indenture governing the Convertible Senior Notes), the holders of the
Convertible Senior Notes may require us to repurchase all or part of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the Convertible Senior Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

As of December 31, 2023, none of the conditions allowing holders of the Convertible Senior Notes to convert have been met.

From and including September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at any time at their election until the close of business
on the second scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date. We will settle any conversions of the Convertible Senior Notes either entirely in cash or in a combination
of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election. However, upon conversion of any Convertible Senior Notes, the conversion value, which will be determined over an
“Observation Period” (as defined in the Indenture) consisting of 30 trading days, will be paid in cash up to at least the principal amount of the Notes being converted.

The initial conversion rate is 2.0266 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately
$493.44 per share of common stock. The conversion rate and conversion price will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events. In addition, if certain corporate
events that constitute a “Make-Whole Fundamental Change” (as defined in the Indenture) occur, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased for a specified
period of time.

The Convertible Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at any time, and from time to time, on or after March 15, 2024 and on or before the 30th scheduled
trading day immediately before the maturity date, at a cash redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, up
to, but excluding, the redemption date, but only if the last reported sale price per share of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price of the Notes on (i) each of at
least 20 trading days, whether or not consecutive, during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the trading day immediately before the date we send the related
redemption notice; and (ii) the trading day immediately before the date we send such notice. In addition, calling any Note for redemption constitutes a Make-Whole Fundamental
Change with respect to that Note, in which case the conversion rate applicable to the conversion of that Note will be increased in certain circumstances if it is converted after it is
called for redemption.

Effective Interest Rate

The weighted average interest rates for the borrowings under the amended 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 were 6.71% and 0.25%, as of December
31, 2023, respectively. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, the effective interest rate was 7.63% for borrowing under the amended 2021 Credit Agreement and 0.54%
for the Convertible Senior Notes. The following sets forth the interest expense recognized related to the borrowings under the amended 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible
Senior Notes and is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Contractual interest expense - Revolving Credit Facility $ (1,539) $ (1,267) $ (1,244)
Contractual interest expense - Term Loans (16,016) (18,583) (9,341)
Contractual interest expense - Convertible Senior Notes (1,500) (1,500) (1,213)
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs (4,574) (7,029) (3,297)
Interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs - terminated 2019 Credit Agreement and Senior Unsecured Bridge loan

facility — — (8,203)
Total $ (23,629) $ (28,379) $ (23,298)

As of December 31, 2023, we had one outstanding standalone letter of credit totaling $750,000. The letter of credit, which guarantees our performance under a client contract,
renews automatically annually unless canceled in writing, and expires in the third quarter of 2026. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, we repaid $345 million of the
Term Loans under the amended 2021 Credit Agreement.

As of December 31, 2023, the required annual maturities related to the amended 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Annual Maturities

2024 $ 50,000
2025 —
2026 600,000
2027 —

2028 —

Total required maturities $ 650,000

(11) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table presents our financial instruments:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 165,493 $ 173,857
Available-for-sale investments 17,431 55,538
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Equity investments 10,000 10,000

Total $ 192,924 $ 239,395

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of money market funds with original maturity dates of three months or less, for which we determine fair value through quoted market
prices.

Our investment portfolio is classified as available-for-sale in order to have the flexibility to buy and sell investments and maximize cash liquidity for potential acquisitions or for debt
repayments. Our available-for-sale investments primarily consist of investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds, and asset-backed securities with maturity dates through
2027. These investments are presented at fair value and are included in short-term investments and non-current investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Unrealized gains or losses associated with the investments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
statements of comprehensive income. For our available-for-sale investments, we do not have the intent to sell, nor is it more likely than not that we would be required to sell before
recovery of their cost basis.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we have an accrued interest receivable balance of approximately $65,000 and $200,000, respectively, which is included in accounts receivable,
net. We do not measure an allowance for credit losses for accrued interest receivables. We record any losses within the maturity period or at the time of sale of the investment and
any write-offs to accrued interest receivables are recorded as a reduction to interest income in the period of the loss. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, we have
recorded no credit losses for accrued interest receivables. Interest income and amortization of discounts and premiums are included in other income, net in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income.

The following table presents the components of our available-for-sale investments:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Amortized cost $ 17,866 $ 56,670
Unrealized gains — 16
Unrealized losses (435) (1,148)
Estimated fair value $ 17,431 $ 55,538

As of December 31, 2023, we have $10.4 million of available-for-sale debt securities with contractual maturities of one year or less and $7.0 million with contractual maturities
greater than one year. As of December 31, 2023, one available-for-sale debt security with a fair value of $3.0 million has been in a loss position for one year or less and 20
securities with a fair value of $14.2 million have been in a loss position for greater than one year.

The following table presents the activity on our available-for-sale or held-to-maturity investments:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Proceeds from sales and maturities $ 49,412 $ 71,034 $ 131,449

Realized losses on sales, net of tax — (79) —

Our equity investments consist of an 18% interest in BFTR, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Bison Capital Partners V L.P. BFTR, LLC is a privately held Australian company
specializing in digitizing the spoken word in court and legal proceedings. The investment in common stock is carried at cost less any impairment write-downs because we do not
have the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee and the securities do not have readily determinable fair values.

(12) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The following tables present the changes in the balances of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax by component:

Unrealized Loss on Accumulated Other
Available-for-Sale Securities Other Comprehensive Loss
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ (46) $ — 3 (46)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (850) — (850)
Reclassification adjustment of unrealized losses on securities transferred from held-to-maturity (27) — (27)
Reclassification adjustment for net loss on sale of available-for-sale securities, included in net income 79 — 79
Other comprehensive loss (798) — (798)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ (844) $ — 3% (844)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 518 — 518
Reclassification adjustment of unrealized gains (losses) on securities transferred from held-to-maturity — — —
Reclassification adjustment for net loss (gain) on sale of available-for-sale securities, included in net
Income — — —
Other comprehensive income 518 — 518
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ (326) $ — 3 (326)
(13) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
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Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date
in the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability. Guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of
inputs used in measuring fair value defined as follows:

¢ Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2—Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and quoted prices in non-active markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable, and inputs that are not directly observable, but are corroborated by observable market data.

* Level 3—Inputs that are unobservable and are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the use of significant management judgment.

The classification of a financial asset or liability within the hierarchy is determined based on the least reliable level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. In
determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. We also
consider the counterparty and our own non-performance risk in our assessment of fair value.

The following table presents fair values of our financial and debt instruments categorized by their fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2023:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 165,493 $ — % — $ 165,493
Available-for-sale securities — 17,431 — 17,431
Equity investments — — 10,000 10,000
2021 Credit Agreement

Revolving Credit Facility — — — —

Term Loan A-1 — 49,801 — 49,801

Term Loan A-2 — — — —
Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 — 609,168 — 609,168

The following table presents fair values of our financial and debt instruments categorized by their fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2022:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 173,857 $ — 3 — $ 173,857
Available-for-sale securities — 55,538 = 55,538
Equity investments — — 10,000 10,000
2021 Credit Agreement

Revolving Credit Facility — — — —

Term Loan A-1 — 288,302 — 288,302

Term Loan A-2 — 104,603 — 104,603
Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 — 560,910 — 560,910

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounts payables, short-term obligations and certain other assets at cost approximate fair value because of the short maturity of
these instruments.

As of December 31, 2023, we have $17.4 million in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds, and asset-backed securities with maturity dates through 2027. The fair
values of these securities are considered Level 2 as they are based on inputs from quoted prices in markets that are not active or other observable market data.

Assets that are Measured at Fair VValue on a Nonrecurring Basis

As of December 31, 2023, we have an 18% interest in BFTR, LLC. As we do not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee and the securities do not have
readily determinable fair values, our investment is carried at cost less any impairment write-downs. Periodically, our investment is assessed for impairment. We do not reassess the
fair value of the investments if there are no identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of the investments. No events
or changes in circumstances have occurred during the period that require reassessment. There has been no impairment of our equity method investment for the periods presented.
This investment is included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

We assess goodwill for impairment annually on October 1.In addition, we review goodwill, property and equipment, and other intangibles for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.During the fourth quarter of 2023, we completed our annual assessment of goodwill which did not
result in an impairment charge. Further, we identified no indicators of impairment to long-lived and other assets and therefore, no impairment was recorded as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Financial instruments measured at fair value only for disclosure purposes

The fair value of our borrowing under our 2021 Credit Agreement would approximate book value as of December 31, 2023, because our interest rates reset approximately every 30
days or less.
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The carrying amount of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the terms of the Term Loans. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The fair value of our Convertible Senior Notes is determined based on quoted market prices for a similar liability when traded as an asset in an active market, a Level 2 input. See
Note 10, “Debt,” for further discussion.

The carrying amount of the Convertible Senior Notes is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the effective
interest method over the term of the Convertible Senior Notes. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The following table presents the fair value and carrying value, net, of the amended 2021 Credit Agreement and our Convertible Notes due 2026):

Fair Value at December 31, Carrying Value at December 31,
2023 2022 2023 2022
2021 Credit Agreement
Revolving Credit Facility $ — 3 — $ — $ =
Term Loan A-1 49,801 288,302 49,801 288,302
Term Loan A-2 — 104,603 — 104,603
Convertible Notes due 2026 609,168 560,910 596,206 594,484
$ 658,969 $ 953,815 $ 646,007 $ 987,389

(14)  INCOME TAX

Income tax provision (benefit) on income from operations consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Current:
Federal $ 86,218 $ 84,570 $ 7,591
State 19,803 25,975 3,203
106,021 110,545 10,794
Deferred (73,704) (87,192) (13,271)
$ 32,317 $ 23,353 $ (2,477)

Reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax expense rate for operations follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Federal income tax expense at statutory rate $ 41,630 $ 39,395 $ 33,386
State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 6,881 9,197 5,594
Net operating loss carryback — (261) 3,391
Excess tax benefits of share-based compensation (9,325) (7,752) (47,675)
Tax credits (20,494) (31,334) (4,999)
Non-deductible business expenses 5,191 5,425 7,542
Uncertain tax positions 7,647 8,338 (425)
Other, net 787 345 709
$ 32,317 $ 23,353 $ (2,477)
The tax effects of the major items recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are:
2023 2022

Deferred income tax assets:

Capitalized research and experimental expenditures $ 130,972 $ 76,731

Operating expenses not currently deductible 22,180 17,263

Stock option and other employee benefit plans 21,864 21,373

Loss and credit carryforwards 7,430 8,589

Deferred revenue 1,923 4,405
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Other 111 289

Total deferred income tax assets 184,480 128,650

Valuation allowance — —

Total deferred income tax assets, net of valuation allowance 184,480 128,650

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Intangible assets (242,522) (256,818)
Property and equipment (8,659) (11,220)
Prepaid expenses (11,889) (9,503)
Total deferred income tax liabilities (263,070) (277,541)

Net deferred income tax liabilities $ (78,590) $ (148,891)

As of December 31, 2023, the capitalization and amortization requirements of research and experimental expenditures pursuant to the TCJA changes to Internal Revenue Code
Section 174 resulted in a deferred tax asset of $131.0 million.

As of December 31, 2023, we had after-tax federal and state net operating loss and net tax credit carryforwards of $7.4 million, that will begin expiring in 2033, if not utilized.

The acquired carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation but are expected to be realized. We believe it is more likely than not that all other deferred tax assets will be realized.
However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted in the future if estimates of reversing taxable temporary differences are revised.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31:

2023 2022
Balance at beginning of period $ 14,044 $ 4,400
Additions for tax positions of prior period 3,087 5,103
Reductions for tax positions of prior period (338) (169)
Additions for tax positions of current period 4,838 5,724
Settlements — —
Expiration of statutes of limitations (762) (1,014)
Balance at end of period $ 20,869 $ 14,044

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income.As of December 31, 2023
and December 31, 2022, we had uncertain tax positions of $22.1 million and $14.6 million, including interest and penalties, respectively, recorded within deferred tax liabilities, other
long-term assets, and other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, net of the federal income tax benefit of state
taxes, if recognized, that would affect the effective tax rate is $20.1 million as of December 31, 2023, and $13.3 million and $4.0 million as of December 31, 2022, and 2021,
respectively. It is reasonably possible that events will occur during the next 12 months that would cause the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to increase or decrease.
However, we do not expect such increases or decreases to be material to the financial condition or results of operations.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax of multiple state, local and foreign jurisdictions. We are routinely subject to income tax examinations by these
taxing jurisdictions, but we do not have a history of, nor do we expect any material adjustments as a result of these examinations. With few exceptions, major U.S. federal, state,
local and foreign jurisdictions are no longer subject to examination for years before 2019. As of February 21, 2024, no significant adjustments have been proposed by any taxing
jurisdiction.

(15) SHAREHOLDERS'’ EQUITY

The following table details activity in our common stock:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Purchases of treasury shares — 3 — — 3 — (33 $ (12,977)
Stock option exercises and vesting of restricted stock units 265 44,697 186 26,329 627 96,714
Employee stock plan purchases 52 16,196 49 16,651 35 13,158
Employee taxes paid for withheld shares upon equity award

settlement 175 (27,737) 176 (27,219) 147 (25,158)
Shares issued for acquisition 15 5,675 56 18,169 — —

As of February 21, 2024, we had authorization from our Board of Directors to repurchase up to 2.3 million additional shares of our common stock.
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(16) SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Share-Based Compensation Plan

In May 2018, stockholders approved the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2018 Plan”) which amended and restated the existing Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2010
Stock Option Plan (“the 2010 Plan”). Upon stockholder approval of the 2018 Plan, the remaining shares available for grant under the 2010 Plan were added to the shares authorized
for grant under the 2018 Plan. Additionally, any awards previously granted under the 2010 Plan that expire unexercised or are forfeited are added to the shares authorized for grant
under the 2018 Plan.

We grant stock awards under the 2018 Plan in the form of stock options, restricted stock units and performance share units. Stock options generally vest after three to five years of
continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Once options become exercisable, the employee can purchase shares of our common stock at
the market price on the date we granted the option. Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to five years of continuous service from the date of grant. Each
performance share unit represents the right to receive one share of our common stock based on our achievement of certain financial performance targets during applicable
performance periods. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation.

As of December 31, 2023, there were 457,000 shares available for future grants under the 2018 Plan from the 22.9 million shares previously approved by the shareholders.
Determining_Fair Value of Stock Compensation

Valuation and Amortization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards granted using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. For restricted stock unit and
performance stock unit awards, we estimate fair value as market value on the date of grant. We amortize the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service periods, which are generally the vesting periods.

Expected Life. The expected life of awards granted represents the period of time that they are expected to be outstanding. The expected life represents the weighted-average period
the stock options are expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting terms, remaining contractual life and the employees’ expected exercise based on historical
patterns.

Expected Volatility. Using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, we estimate the volatility of our common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our
common stock.

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option valuation model on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon
issues with an equivalent remaining term equal to the expected life of the award.

Expected Dividend Yield. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock in more than ten years and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Consequently, we use an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

Forfeitures. We recognize the effect of awards for which the requisite service period is not rendered when the award is forfeited (that is, we recognize the effect of forfeitures in
compensation cost when they occur). Previously recognized compensation cost for an award is reversed in the period that the award is forfeited.

During fiscal period 2023, no stock option awards were issued; therefore no Black-Scholes model assumptions are reportable. The following weighted average assumptions were
used for options granted in prior fiscal periods:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Expected life (in years) 0.0 5.0 5.0
Expected volatility — % 28.3% 26.1 %
Risk-free interest rate —% 3.3% 1.0 %
Share-Based Award Activity,
Stock Options
Options granted, exercised, forfeited and expired are summarized as follows:
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Exercise Contractual Life Aggregate
Shares Price (Years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,511 221.38
Granted — —
Exercised (265) 168.60
Forfeited (21) 403.78
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 1,225 $ 229.63 4 $ 234,787
Exercisable at December 31, 2023 1,127 $ 216.52 4 $ 229,829
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We had unvested options to purchase approximately 98,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $380.83 as of December 31, 2023, and unvested options
to purchase approximately 267,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $346.14 as of December 31, 2022.

Other information pertaining to option activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

2023 2022 2021

Weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted $ — % 10899 $ 113.18
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised $ 58,261 $ 43,160 $ 215,062

Restricted Stock Units and Performance Stock Units

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit and performance stock unit activity during the periods presented (shares in thousands):

Weighted Average Grant

Number of Shares Date Fair Value per Share
Unvested at December 31, 2022 568 $ 376.07
Granted 855| 374.09
Vested (249) 349.35
Forfeited (28) 384.17
Unvested at December 31, 2023 646 g 384.43

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-based awards which is recorded in the consolidated statements of income:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Subscriptions, maintenance and professional services $ 26,607 $ 27,486 $ 23,705
Sales and marketing expense 10,118 8,800 8,834
General and administrative expense 71,613 66,699 72,187
Total share-based compensation expense 108,338 102,985 104,726
Total tax benefit (32,997) (27,599) (63,456)
Net decrease in net income $ 75341 % 75,386 $ 41,270

As of December 31, 2023, we had $191.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options and restricted stock units which is expected to be amortized
over a weighted average amortization period of 2.4 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP") participants may contribute up to 15% of their annual compensation to purchase common shares of Tyler. The purchase price of
the shares is equal to 85% of the closing price of Tyler shares on the last day of each quarterly offering period. As of December 31, 2023, there were 526,000 shares available for
future issuances under the ESPP from the 2.0 million shares previously approved by the stockholders.

7) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table details the reconciliation of basic earnings per share to diluted earnings per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net income $ 165919 $ 164,240 $ 161,458
Denominator:
Weighted-average basic common shares outstanding 42,024 41,544 40,848
Assumed conversion of dilutive securities:
Stock awards 745 855 1,382
Convertible Senior Notes = — 14
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - Adjusted weighted-average shares 42,769 42,399 42,244
Earnings per common share:
Basic $ 395 $ 395 $ 3.95
REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 95/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Diluted $ 388 $ 387 $ 3.82

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase common stock of 343,000 shares in 2023, 372,000 shares in 2022, and 117,000 shares in 2021, were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have had an antidilutive effect.

We have used the if-converted method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 on our diluted net income per share. Under the if-
converted method, the Notes are assumed to be converted at the beginning of the period and the resulting common shares are included in the denominator of the diluted earnings
per share calculation for the entire period being presented and interest expense, net of tax, recorded in connection with the Convertible Senior Notes is not added back to the
numerator, only in the periods in which such effect is dilutive. The approximately 1.2 million remaining resulting common shares related to the Notes are not included in the dilutive
weighted-average common shares outstanding calculation for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, as their effect would be antidilutive given none of the conversion
features have been triggered. See Note 10, “Debt,"for discussion on the conversion features related to the Convertible Senior Notes.

(18)  LEASES

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable operating lease agreements with remaining
terms of one to 11 years. Some of these leases include options to extend for up to six years. We have no finance leases and one related party lessor agreement (see Note 20,
"Related party transactions") as of December 31, 2023. Right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities for our operating leases are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. We
incurred lease restructuring costs, resulting in an additional $6.4 million and $1.7 million of operating lease costs during 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The components of operating lease expense were as follows:

Lease Costs Years ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Operating lease cost $ 19,468 14,743 $ 11,095
Short-term lease cost 2,121 2,166 2,308
Variable lease cost 1,009 1,047 1,659
Net lease cost $ 22,598 17,956 $ 15,062
Supplemental information related to leases is as follows:
Other Information Years ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Cash flows:
Cash paid amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases $ 12,555 $ 13,562 $ 11,432
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations (non-cash):

Operating leases $ 3,383 $ 25,171 $ 20,140
Lease term and discount rate:
Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 7 7 6
Weighted average discount rate 1.59 % 1.57 % 1.81%
As of December 31, 2023, maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:
Year ending December 31, Amount
2024 $ 11,482
2025 10,059
2026 7,551
2027 6,232
2028 3,919
Thereafter 13,960
Total lease payments 53,203
Less: Interest (2,321)
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 50,882
Rental Income from third parties
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We own office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Texas; Troy, Michigan; Latham, New York; Moraine, Ohio; and Kingston Springs,
Tennessee. We lease space in some of these buildings to third-party tenants. The property we lease to others under operating leases consists primarily of specific facilities where
one tenant obtains substantially all of the economic benefit from the asset and has the right to direct the use of the asset. These non-cancelable leases expire between 2024 and
2028, and some have options to extend the lease for up to 10 years. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. None of our leases allow the lessee to purchase the
leased asset.

Rental income from third-party tenants was $2.1 million in 2023, $1.7 million in 2022, and $1.2 million in 2021. Rental income is included in hardware and other revenue on the
consolidated statements of income. Future minimum operating rental income based on contractual agreements is as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2024 $ 3,049
2025 2,317
2026 1,171
2027 913
2028 734
Thereafter _
Total $ 8,184

As of December 31, 2023, we had no additional significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.

(19) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of our employees meeting minimum service requirements. Eligible employees can contribute up to 30% of their current
compensation to the plan subject to certain statutory limitations. We contribute up to a maximum of 3% of an employee’s compensation to the plan. We made contributions to the
plan and charged operating results $18.6 million in 2023, $17.5 million in 2022, and $15.6 million in 2021.

(20) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In April 2023, we entered into an arm's length lessor agreement under which we lease to a company co-owned by a member of our Board of Directors 25,000 square feet of office
space in our Lubbock, Texas, facility. The lease agreement, which commenced on April 1, 2023, has an initial term of five years with a pro-rata base rent of $25,000 per month until
December 1, 2023, and a base rent of $60,000 per month thereafter. We recognized rental income of $256,000 under this lease for the year ended December 31, 2023.

(21) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

During the first quarter of 2022, we received a notice of termination for convenience under a contractual arrangement with a state government client. Upon receipt of the termination
notice, we ceased performing services under the contractual arrangement and sought payment of contractually owed fees of approximately $15 million in connection with the
termination for convenience.

The client was unresponsive to our outreach for several months. On August 23, 2022, we filed a lawsuit to enforce our rights and remedies under the applicable contractual
arrangement, and since then have been engaged directly with the client on payment resolution. Although we believe our products and services were delivered in accordance with
the terms of our contract and that we are entitled to payment in connection with the termination for convenience, at this time the matter remains unresolved. We can provide no
assurances that we will not incur additional costs as we pursue our rights and remedies under the contract.

Purchase Commitments

We have contractual obligations for third-party technology used in our solutions and for other services we purchase as part of our normal operations. In certain cases, these
arrangements require a minimum annual purchase commitment by us. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining aggregate minimum purchase commitment under these
arrangements was approximately $678 million through 2031. Future minimum payments related to purchase commitments based on contractual agreements are as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2024 $ 67,888
2025 65,696
2026 72,990
2027 78,043
2028 85,936
Thereafter 307,809
Total $ 678,362

(22)  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no material events or transactions that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.
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[Compliance Certificate) to the Existing Credit Areemem are hereby amended and restated in the forms attached hereto as Annex B. SECTION 3. Representations, Warranties and Covenants. To induce the Administrative Agent and the]
Lenders party hereto to enter into this Amendment, each Credit Party represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders on and as of the Amendment Effective Date that, in each case]]
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2 168654832 3 (a) each of the representations and warrantles contained in Article VIl of the Credlt Agreement are true and correct in all matenal respects, except to the extent any such representation and warranty is qualified by]
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penses a: a COSt: penses p €| |
Inegotiation, execution and delivery of this Amendment. SECTION 8. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YOR
WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE CHOICE OF LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF (OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK)). SECTION 9. Successors and Assigns ]

terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement. SECTION 12. Headings. Section headings in this Amendment are included herein for convenience of any reference only and shall not constitute a part of this Amendment for any other|
urposes. SECTION 13. Outstanding Loans. All LIBOR Rate Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement on the date hereof (the “Existing LIBOR Rate Loans”) shall continue ag
LIBOR Rate Loans bearing interest at the rate applicable to each such LIBOR Rate Loan for the Interest Period applicable thereto under the Credit Agreement (and,|
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being renewed or extended as a result of this Agreement and, upon the expiration or earlier termination of such Interest Periods, such Existing LIBOR Rate Loans shall be (i) repaid or (ii) converted to Base Rate Loans or SOFR Loans (in|
leach case, as defined in the Credit Agreement) as the Borrower may elect (which election in the case of clause (i) shall be made in accordance with the notice requirements set forth in Section 2.3(a) or Section 5.2 of the Credit}
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Agreement as though the Borrower was requesting a borrowing, or the conversion of the applicable Existing LIBOR Rate Loan, to be made on the effective date thereof). For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything to the]
contrary set forth in this Agreement or Annex A hereto, any LIBOR Related Definition (as defined below) that has been deleted pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or the attached Annex A and that refers or is applicable to an Existing
LIBOR Rate Loan immediately prior to the Amendment Effective Date shall be deemed to be in full force and effect and to refer to and be applicable to all Existing LIBOR Rate Loans until the expiration or earlier termination of all Interest]
Periods applicable to such Existing LIBOR Rate Loans. For purposes of this Section 13, “LIBOR Related Definition” means any term defined in the Existin i partial definition thereof) as in effect immediately pri
to the Amendment Effective Date, however phrased, primarily relating to the determination, administration or calculation of the LIBOR Rate. [Signature page follows
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ler Technologies, Inc. Third Amendment to Credit Agreement Signature Page COMERICA BANK, as Lender By: on Title: Vice President
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169124271 3 ANNEX A AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMEN
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[CONFORMED CREDIT AGREEMENT Incorporates the following: First ANNEX A TO THIRD AMENDMENT dated as of August 16, 2021 and Second Amendment dated as of April 15, 2022 Published CUSIP Number: 90224VAG7]

ASSOCIATION and TRUIST BANK, as Co-Syndication Agents and CITIZENS BANK N.A., and REGIONS BANK, as Co-Documentation Agents WELLS FARGO SECURITIES LLC, PNC CAPITAL MARKETS LLC, and TRUIS
ISECURITIES, INC., as Joint Lead Arrangers an int Bookrunners 142746705 6168697773 4
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[TABLE OF CONTENTS Page ARTICLE | DEFINITIONS 1 SECTION 1.1 Deflnmons 1 SECTION 1.2 Other Definitions and Prowslons 4037 SECTION 1.3 Accounting Terms 4038 SECTION 1.4 UCC Terms 4138 SECTION 1.5 Roundin

Permanent Reduction of the Revolving Credit Commitment 4846 SECTION 2.6 Termination of Revolving Credit Facility 4946 ARTICLE Ill LETTER OF CREDIT FACILITY 4946 SECTION 3.1 L/C Facility 4946 SECTION 3.2 Procedure fol
Issuance of Letters of Credit 5047 SECTION 3.3 Commissions and Other Charges 5048 SECTION 3.4 L/C Participations 5148 SECTION 3.5 Reimbursement Obligation of the Borrower 5249 SECTION 3.6 Obligations Absolute 5250]
ISECTION 3.7 Effect of Letter of Credit Application 5350 SECTION 3.8 Letters of Credit Issued for Subsidiaries 5350 ARTICLE IV TERM LOAN FACILITY 5350 SECTION 4.1 Term Loans 5350 i 142746705 6 168697773 4
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[TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued) Page SECTION 4.2 Procedure for Advance of Term Loans 5351 SECTION 4.3 Repayment of Term Loans 5451 SECTION 4.4 Prepayments of Term Loans 5451 ARTICLE V GENERAL LOAN|
PROVISIONS 5653 SECTION 5.1 Interest 5653 SECTION 5.2 Notice and Manner of Conversion or Continuation of Loans 5755 SECTION 5.3 Fees 5855 SECTION 5.4 Manner of Payment 5856 SECTION 5.5 Evidence of Indebtednes:

CLOSING AND BORROWING 7774 SECTION 6.1 Conditions to Closing and Necessary Closing Funds 7774 SECTION 6.2 Conditions to All Extensions of Credit 8178 ARTICLE VIl REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF TH
ICREDIT PARTIES 8179 SECTION 7.1 Organization; Power; Qualification 8279 SECTION 7.2 Ownership 8279 SECTION 7.3 Authorization; Enforceability 8279 SECTION 7.4 Compliance of Agreement, Loan Documents and Borrowing
with Laws, Etc 8279 SECTION 7.5 Compliance with Law; Governmental Approvals 8380 SECTION 7.6 Tax Returns and Payments 8380 SECTION 7.7 Intellectual Property Matters 8380 SECTION 7.8 Environmental Matters 8481

SECTION 7.9 Employee Benefit Matters 8482 ii 142746705 6 168697773 4
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[TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued) Page ARTICLE IX NEGATIVE COVENANTS 9593 SECTION 9.1 Indebtedness 9693 SECTION 9.2 Liens 9895 SECTION 9.3 Investments 9997 SECTION 9.4 Fundamental Changes 10198 SECTION|

0.5 Asset Dispositions 10299 SECTION 9.6 Restricted Payments 102100 SECTION 9.7 Transactions with Affiliates 103100 SECTION 9.8 Accounting Changes; Ort
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[Modifications of Subordinated Indebtedness 104101 SECTION 9.10 No Further Negative Pledges; Restrictive Agreements 104101 SECTION 9.11 Nature of Business 105102 SECTION 9.12 Sale Leasebacks 105102 SECTION 9.13]
Interests 106103 ARTICLE X DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 106103 SECTION 10.1 Events of Default 106103 SECTION 10.2 Remedies 108105 SECTION 10.3 Rights]
land Remedies Cumulative; Non-Waiver; etc 108106 SECTION 10.4 Crediting of Payments and Proceeds 109106 SECTION 10.5 Administrative Agent May File Proofs of Claim 110107 ARTICLE XI THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT]

110108 SECTION 11.1 Appointment and Authon 110108 SECTION 11.2 Rights as a Lender 111108 SECTION 11.3 Exculator Provlslons 111108 SECTION 11.4 Reliance by the Administrative Aent 112109 SECTION 11.5]

Guaranty Matters 115112 SECTION 11.10 Guaranteed Hedge Agreements and Guaranteed Cash Management Agreements 115112 iv 142746705 6 168697773 4
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ABLE OF CONTENTS (continued) Page SECTION 11.11 Erroneous Payments 115113 ARTICLE XIl MISCELLANEOUS 117115 SECTION 12.1 Notices 117115 SECTION 12.2 Amendments, Waivers and Consents 119117 SECTION|

[Powers Coupled with Interest 130128 SECTION 12.13 Survival 130129 SECTION 12.14 Titles and Captions 131129 SECTION 12.15 Severability of Provisions 131129 SECTION 12 16 Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Electronl
Execution 131129 SECTION 12.17 Term of Agreement 132130 SECTION 12.18 USA PATRIOT Act; Anti-Money Laundering Laws 132130 SECTION 12.19 Independent Effect of Covenants 132130 SECTION 12.20 No Advisory o
132130 SECTION 12.21 Inconsistencies with Other Documents 133132 SECTION 12.22 Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions 133132 SECTION 12.23 Certain ERISA Matter:
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i 142746705 6 168697773 4 Form of Swingline Note Exhibit B Exhibit H-2 EXHIBITS - - Form of U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate (Non-Partnershi Form of Notice of Borrowing Exhibit H-3 Exhibit A-1 - Form of U.S |
ax Compliance Certificate (Foreign Participant Partnerships) Exhibit A-3 Exhibit C Exhibit H-4 - - Form of U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate (Foreign Lender Partnerships) - Form of Notice of Account Designation - SCHEDULES Form of

erm A-1 Loan Note Exhibit D Schedule 1.1 - - Commitments and Commitment Percentages Form of Notice of Prepayment Schedule 7.1 Form of Revolving Credit Note - Jurisdictions of Organization and Qualification and Subsidiary]
uarantors Exhibit A-4 Exhibit E Schedule 7.2 - - Subsidiaries and Capitalization - Form of Notice of Conversion/Continuation Schedule 7.6 - Tax Matters Form of Term A-2 Loan Note Exhibit F Schedule 7.12 - - Labor and Collective]
Indebtedness Exhibit A-5 Exhibit G Schedule 9.2 - - Existing Liens - Form of Assignment and Assumption Schedule 9.3 - - Existing}

Loans, Advances and Investments Form of Incremental Term Loan Note Exhibit H-1 Schedule 9.7 - - Transactions with Affiliates Form of U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate (Non-Partnership Foreign Lenders

slide22

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 122/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

[CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of April 21, 2021, by and among TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Delaware corporation, as Borrower, the lenders who are party to this Agreement and the lenders who may become a p
Agreement pursuant to the terms hereof, as Lenders, and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as Administrative Agent for the Lenders. STATEMENT OF PURPOSE The Borrower has}
reuested and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Admrmstrauve Agent and the Lenders have agreed to extend, certain credit facilities to the Borrower NOW THEREFORE for good and valuabl

[Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified. “Agreement” means this Credit Agreement. 142746705 6168697773 4]
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ails to provide an Officer's Compliance Certificate when due as required by Section 8.2(a) for the most recently ended fiscal quarter of the Borrower preceding the applicable Calculation Date, the Applicable Margin from the Commitment]
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ate on which such Officer’'s Compliance Certificate was re:

uired to have been delivered shall be based on Pricing Level IV until such time as such Officer's Compliance Certificate is delivered, at which time the Pricing Level shall be}

lassets as determined in good faith at the time of such transfer the transfer by any Non-Guarantor Subsidiary of its assets to any other Non-Guarantor Subsidial
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hich LIBORAdjusted Term SOFR is unavailable or unascertainable). “Base Rate Loan” means any Loan bearing interest at a rate based upon the Base Rate as provided in Section 5.1(a). “Benchmark” means, initially, USD LIBORthe]
[Term SOFR Reference Rate; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event, a Term SOFR Transition Event, or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have has occurred with respect to USD|

LIBORthe Term SOFR Reference Rate or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable 4 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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rovided, that, if the Borrower has provided a notification to the Administrative Agent in writing on or prior to such Benchmark Replacement Date that the Borrower has a Hedge]

order below that can be determined by the Administrative Agent:(a) , the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time}
such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such Interest Period that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the replacement of such Available Tenor of such Benchmark with the applicable]

Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement; 5 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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b) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such Interest Period that would aj

ply to the fallback rate for a derivative transaction|

[Replacement is first set for such Interest Period that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the replacement of such Available Tenor of USD LIBOR with a SOFR-based rate; provided that, (x) in thef
case of clause (1) above, such adjustment is displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such Benchmark Replacement Adi

ustment from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable]
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discretion and (y) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate, more than one tenor of such Benchmark is available as of the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date and the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement that will
replace such Benchmark in accordance with Section 5.8(c)(i) will not be a term rate, the Available Tenor of such Benchmark for purposes of this definition of “Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” shall be deemed to be, with respect tg
leach Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement having a payment eriod for interest calculated with reference thereto, the Avai\able Tenor that has ap roximatel the same Ienth disregarding husiness day ad'ustmems as such aymen

168697773 4
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a) (a) in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of (ai) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (bii) the date on which the administrator of suck

orsuch component thereo 0r7142746705 6 168697773 4]
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right to 8 142746705 6 168697773 4
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laced with, and money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any Statestate thereof that has a combined capital and]

|Agreement” means any agreement to provide cash management services, including treasun itory, overdraft, credit or debit card (including non-card electronic payables and purchasing cards), electronic funds transfer and othe
cash management arrangements. “Cash Management Bank” means any Person that, (a) at the time it enters into a Cash Management Agreement with a Credit Party, is a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender, the Administrative Agent or an}
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Affiliate of the Administrative Agent, or (b) at the time it (or its Affiliate) becomes a Lender (including on the Closing Date), is a party to a Cash Management Agreement with a Credit Party, in each case in its capacil

[Cash Management Agreement. 9 142746705 6 168697773 4
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168697773 4
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Revolving Credit Loans made on the Closing Date for the purposes set forth in the foregoing clauses (a) and (b) shall not exceed $250,000,000. “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and the rules and regulations
. “Commitment Fee” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 5.3(a). “Commitment Percentage” means, as to any Lender, such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage, Term A-1 Loan Percentage,|
Term A-2 Loan Percema e or Incremental Term Loan Percemae as applicable. "Commi!mems" means, collectively, as to all Lenders, the Revolving Credit Commitments, the Term A-1 Loan Commitments, the Term A-2 Loan}

, without duplication, to the extent deducted in determinin

Consolidated Net Income for such period: (i) income and franchise taxes; 11 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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cash gains or non-cash items increasing Consolidated Net Income. For purposes of this Agreement, Consolidated EBITDA shall be adjusted on a Pro Forma Basis. 12 142746705 _6 168697773 4
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“Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratlo" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of four (4) consecutive fiscal quarters ending on or immediately prior to such date to (b Consolldated
Interest Expense for the period of four (4) consecutive fiscal quarters ending on or immediately prior to such date. “Consolidated Interest Expense” means, for any period, the sum of the following determined on a Consolidated basis |
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without duplication, for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP, interest expense (including, without limitation, interest expense attributable to Capital Lease Obligations and all net payment obligations pursuant to|
Hedge Agreements) for such period but excluding, notwithstanding Section 1.3, the non-cash portion of interest expense resulting from the application of FASB ASC 470-20 attributable to theany Permitted Convertible Indebtedness thaf]

Net Leverage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Total Net Indebtedness on such date to (b) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of four (4) consecutive fiscal quarters ending on or immediatel
rior to such date. “Continuing Directors” means the directors (or equivalent governing body) of the Borrower on the Closing Date and each other director (or equivalent) of the Borrower, if, in each case, such other 13 142746705

168697773 4
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failed, within 14 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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manifest error, and such Lender shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender (subject to Section 5.14(b)) upon delivery of written notice of such determination to the Borrower, the Issuing Lender, the Swingline Lender and each Lender

Agent to (or the reguest b 0 Agent to notify) each of the other parties hereto g Doll
credit facilities at such time contain (as a result of amendment or as originally executed) a SOFR-based rate (including SOFR, a term SOFR or any 15 142746705 6 168697773 4
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other rate based

pon SOFR) as a henchmark rate and such syndicated credlt facllmes are |demmed in such notice and are publicly available for review), and b) the joint elecuon h

the Administrative Agent and the Borrower to trigger
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Fargo Securities, LLC. “Environmental Claims” means any and all administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, suits, demands, demand letters, claims, liens, accusations, allegations, notices of noncompliance or violation, investigations

other than internal reports prepared by any Person in the ordinary course of business and 16 142746705 _6 168697773 4
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Payment” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 11.11(a). “Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 11.11(d). “Erroneous Payment Impacted Class” has the meanin asslned
hereto in Section 11.11(d). “Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 11.11(d). 17 142746705 6 168697773 4
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enders, and Wells Fargo 18 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified as of the date hereof. “Extensions of Credit” means, as to any Lender at any time, (a) an amount equal to the sum of (i) the]

1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantlvel comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official

locumentation agent or syndication agent thereto. ‘Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries ending on December 31. “Floor” means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Areement initially]

as of the execution of this Agreement, the modification, amendment or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to USD LIBOR.a rate of interest equal to 0.0%. “Foreign Lender” means (a) if the Borrower is a U.S. Person, 3]

Lender that is not a U.S. Person, and (b) if the Borrower is not a U.S. Person, a Lender that is resident or organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Borrower is resident for tax purposes. “Foreign Subsidiary’}
. “FRB” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.19 142746705 6 168697773 4
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“Fronting Exposure” means, at any time there is a Defaulting Lender, (a) with respect to the Issuing Lender, such Defaulting Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of the outstanding L/C Obligations with respect to Letters off

[Cash Management Bank. “Guaranteed Hedge Agreement” means any Hedge Agreement between or among any Credit Party and any Hedge Bank. 20 142746705 6 168697773 4
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“Guaranteed Obligations” means, collectively, (a) the Obligations and (b) all existing or future payment and other ob ations owing by any Credit Part under i) any Guaranteed Hedge Agreement (other than an Excluded Swaj

[date on or after the date such Hedge Agreements have been closed out and termination value(s) determined in accordance therewith, such termination value(s), and (b) for any date prior to the date referenced in clause (a), the amount(s’

determined as the mark-to-market value(s) for 21 142746705 6 168697773 4
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such Hedge Agreements, as determined based upon one or more mid-market or other readil i i rovided by any recognized dealer in such Hedge Agreements (which may include a Lender or any Affiliate of a Lender).
‘Holdback™ means a portion of the purchase price for a Permitted Acquisition not paid at the closing therefor but held by a Credit Party for satisfaction of indemnification obligations and purchase price adjustments. “IBA” has the meanin

been incurred in reliance 22 142746705 6 168697773
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on clause (b) above prior to the utilization of any amount available under clause (a) above. Furthermore, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, for purposes of calculating the Consolidated Total Net Leverage Ratio, thel
proceeds from any additional Indebtedness incurred pursuant to any Incremental Increase shall not be netted from Consolidated Total Net Indebtedness. “Incremental Increase” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 5.15(a)(ii
“Incremental Lender” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 5.15(a). “Incremental Loan Commi!mem" has the meanin assi ned thereto in Section 5.15(a)(ii

L “Incrememal Revolvin Credit Commilmem OMIES the meaning

Borrower in favor of an Incremental Term Loan Lender evidencing the Incremental Term Loans made by such Incremental Term Loan Lender, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit A-5, and any substitutes therefor, and any]
replacements, restatements, renewals or extension thereof, in whole or in Incremental Term Loan Lender at any time, the percentage of the total outstanding principall

rincipal balance of such Incremental Term Loan Lender’s Incremental Term Loans. “Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person at an

art. “Incremental Term Loan Percentage” means, with respect to an:

balance of the Incremental Term Loans represented b
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uplication, the sum of the following: (a) all liabilities, obligations and indebtedness for borrowed money including, but not limited to, obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments of any such Person; (b
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d) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating such Person to the extent of the value of such property (other than customary reservations or retentions of titlef

142746705 6 168697773 4
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Interest Period with respect to a LIBOR Rate Loan that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interestj

Incremental Loan Commitment hereunder at such time, including the latest matun or expiration date of any Term Loan. “LCA Test Date” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 1.11(a). 25 142746705 _6 168697773 4
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‘Lender” means the Persons listed on Schedule 1.1 and any other Person that shall have become a party to th\s A reemem as a Lender pursuant to an Assit nment and Assumption or pursuant to Section 5.15, other than any Person tha

“Letters of Credit” means the collective reference to letters of cred\t issued pursuant to Section 3.1. “LIBOR" means, subject to the implementation of a Benchmark Re \acement in accordance with Section 5.8(c):

. If, for any reason, such rate is not so published then “LIBOR” for such Base Rate Loan shall be

i il
lentered into in accordance with Sectlon 5.8(c), in the event that a Benchmark Replacement with respect to LIBOR is nnlemented then all references herein to LIBOR shall be deemed references to such Benchmark Re; Iacemem 26

142746705 6 168697773 4
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27 142746705 6 168697773 4 LIBOR “LIBOR Rate” means a rate per annum determined by the Admlmstrauve Agent pursuant to the following formula: 1. 00 Eurodollar Reserve Percentage LIBOR Rate = Notwnhslandln lhe foregoing

'Lien” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, leasehold mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest, hypothecation or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset. For the purposes of this Agreement, a Person shal
be deemed to own subject to a Lien any asset which it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, Capital Lease Obligation or other title retention agreement relating to such
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Document to which it is a party. i i isition” i isition (or series of related Acquisitions) having Permitted Acquisition Consideration in excess of $250,000,000
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“Minimum Collateral Amount” means, at any time, (a) with respect to Cash Collateral consisting of cash or deposit account balances, an amount equal to 105% of the sum of (i) the Fronting Exposure of the Issuing Lender with respect to}
Letters of Credit issued and outstanding at such time and (ii) the Fronting Exposure of the Swingline Lender with respect to all Swingline Loans outstanding at such time and (b) otherwise, an amount determined by the Administrativel

contributions within the preceding seven (7) years.

“Necessary Closing Funds” means the
able, (a) with respect to an ri i

Disposition or Insurance and Condemnation Event, all cash and Cash Equivalents received by an

i ny Asset ior 3
of deferred payment pursuant monetization of, a note receivable or othe

connection with such transaction or event and (iv) all amounts that are set aside as a reserve (A) for adjustments in respect of the purchase
such reserve is required by GAAP or as otherwise reguired pursuant to the documentation with respect to such Asset Disposition or Insurance and Condemnation Event, (C) for the d liabilities relating to the asse
old or otherwise disposed of at the time of, or within 30 days after, the date of such sale or other disposition and (D) for the payment of indemnification obligations; provided that, to the extent and at the time any such amounts are}
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D g seve intained, funded or administered for the employees of any Credit Party or an curent or former lial mitted Acquis ns any Acquisition that meets all of
following requirements (which, in the case of a Limited Condltlon Acquisition, shall be subject to Section 1.11): (&) no less than five (5) Business Days prior to the loosed closing date of such Acuwsmon the Burrower shall have]

eater than $75,000,000, no later than five (5) Business Da or to the ate of such Acg n, the ered to the Administrative Agent an Offi 's Compliance Certificate for tl
most recem ﬂscal quarter end preceding such Acquisition fo which fmanz:lal statements are avanable demonstlatm , In form and substance reasonabl sa‘usfacto 10 the Admmwslrauve Agent, that the BD"OWS[ IS In comhance on a Pro]

hereof copies of substantially final Permitted Acquisition Documents, which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent; and 30 142746705 6 168697773 4
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g) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing both before and after giving effect to such Acquisition and any Indebtedness incurred in connection therewith. “Permitted Acquisition Consideration” means the
laggregate amount of the purchase price, including, but not limited to, any assumed debt, Earn-Outs (valued at the maximum amount payable thereunder), Holdbacks, other deferred pa ity Interests of the Borrower, to be]
paid on a singular basis in connection with any applicable Permitted Acquisition as set forth in the applicable Permitted Acquisition Documents executed by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in order to consummate the applicable]

such Specified Transaction (and all other Specified Transactions that have been consummated during the applicable period) shall be deemed to have occurred as of the first day of the applicable period of measurement and all income]
[statement items (whether positive or negative) attributable to the Property or Person disposed of in a Specified Disposition shall be excluded and all income statement items (whether positive or negative) attributable to the Property o
uired in a Permitted Acquisition shall be included (provided that such income statement items to be included are reflected in financial statements or other financial data reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and|

based upon reasonable assumptions and calculations which are expected to have a continuous impact). 31 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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right or interest in or to property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible, including, without limitation, Equity Interests. “PTE" means a prohibited transaction class]

lexemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time. “Public Lenders” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 8.2. “Qualified Cash and Cash Equivalents” means, as to anyj

Person, as of any date of determination, the aggregate amount of Unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents held by such Person and its Subsidiaries in domestic deposit accounts or securities accounts. For purposes hereof, “Unrestricted’]
means, when referring to cash and Cash Equivalents of any Person, that such cash and Cash E ulvalems a do not appear, or would not be reuwed to appear, as "reslrlcted' on the financial statements of such Person and its]
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of all Revolving Credit Lenders. The unused Revolving Credit Commitment of, and Revolving Credit Exposure held or deemed held by, any Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded in determining Required Revolving Credit Lenders at any]

Lenders at any time. “Resolution Authority” means an EEA Resolu any UK Financial Institution, a UK Resolution Authority. “Responsible Officer” means, as to any Person, the chief executive officer}

of such Person designated in writing by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent; provided that, to
the extent requested thereby, the Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate of such Person certifying as to the incumbency and genuineness of the signature of each such officer. Any document delivered hereunder or under

president, chief financial officer, controller, treasurer or assistant treasur or any other officer

resumed to have been authorized by all necessary corporate, partnershi

odified at any time or from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof (including

without limitation, Section 5.15) and (b) as to all Revolving Credit Lenders, the aggregate commitment of all Revolving Credit Lenders to make Revolving Credit Loans, as such amount may be modified at any time or from time to time}

ursuant to the terms hereof (including

Revolving Credit Lender is set forth opposite the name of such Lender on Schedule 1.1. 33 142746705 6 168697773 4
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Date shall occur on the Springing Maturit Date “Revolving Credit Note means a promissor
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168697773 4
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[means the Federal Reserve lew York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate). ministri e ns the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently a
http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the SeCLIlEd overnight financing rate identified as such b the SOFR Administrator from time IO timeLoan"” means any Loan bearing interest at a rate based on Adjusted Term SOFR]

lothe ey mature in the ordinary course of business. The amount of contingent liabilities at any time shall be computed as the amount that, in the light of all the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represent
he amount that can reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured liability. “S eCIerd DISOSI(IOI’I" means any Asset Dis| OSITIOH having gross sales proceeds in excess of the Threshold Amount. “Specified Transactions” means]

Pro Forma Basis (after giving 35 142746705 6 168697773 4
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leffect to the drawing of Extensions of Credit and the use of proceeds lhereo with the flnanclal covenants set fonh in Sectlon 9 13 based on the financial statements most receml delivered pursuant to Section 8.1(a) or 8.1(b), ag

Ss incurres e Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that is subordinated in right and time of payment to the Obligations on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Administrative ns as to an
any corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity of which more than fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding Equity Interests having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors (or equivalent
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“Term A-1 Loan Commitment” means (a) as to any Term A-1 Loan Lender, the obligation of such Term A-1 Loan Lender to make a portion of the Term A-1 Loan, to the account of the Borrower hereunder on the Closing Date in an|
gregate principal amount not to exceed the amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 1.1, as such amount may be increased, reduced or otherwise modified at any time or from time to time pursuant to the terms|
hereof and (b) as to al\ Term A-1 Loan Lenders, the aggregate commitment of all Term A-1 Loan Lenders to make such Term A-1 Loans The aggregate Term A 1 Loan Commitment with respect to the Term A-1 Loans of all Term A-1 Loan)|
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Date” means the first to occur of (a) April 21, 2024, and (b) the date of acceleration of the Term A-2 Loans pursuant to Section 10.2(a); provided that, if any of the Permitted Convertible Indebtedness remains]
Date, then the Term A-2 Loan Maturity Date shall occur on the Springing Maturity Date. “Term A-2 Loan Note” means a promissory note made by the Borrower in favor of a Term A-2 Loan Lende!
evidencini !he portion of the Term A-2 Loans made b such Term A-2 Loan Lender, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit A-4, and an: substitmes !herefor and any replacements, restatements, renewals or extension thereof, il

Borrower Of the occurrence of a Telm SOFR Transmon Event “Term SOFR Transmon Event” means the determination b the Administrative Aent that a Term SOFR has been recommended for use by the Relevant Governmental Body,

urrent Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 5.8(c) with a Benchmark Replacement the Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement component of which is not Term SOFR. 38

142746705 6 168697773 4]
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[Government Securities Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, as such rate is published by the Term SOFR Administrator; provided, however, that if as of 5:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on any Periodic Term SOFR}
Determination Day the Term SOFR Reference Rate for the applicable tenor has not been I the Term SOFR Administrator and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate has not occurred,|
then Term SOFR will be the Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor as published by the Term SOFR Administrator on the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such Term SOFR Reference Rate for such}

urther, that if Term SOFR determined as provided above (including pursuant to the proviso under clause (a) or clause (b) above) shall ever be less than the Floor, then Term SOFR shall be deemed to be the Floor. “Term SOFR]
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ude transactions of the uses (i) and (iii) above that are not consummated. sac ans, collectively, (a) the consummation of the cquisition, e repayment in full of all Indebtedness outstant
under the Existing Credit Agreement, (c) the entenn into of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and the incurrence on the C\osm Date of the Necessa Closing Funds d) the entering into of the Permitted Convertiblej
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‘United States” means the United States of America. “USD LIBOR" means the London interbank offered rate for Dollars.U.S. Government Securities Business Da)

Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers. SECTION 1.2 Other Definitions and Provisions. With reference to this Agreement and each other Loan Document, unless otherwise specified herein or in such other]
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Loan Document: (a) the definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined, (b) whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and
neuter forms, (c) the words “include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the 41 142746705 6 168697773 4
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“UCC” refers, as of any date of determination, to the UCC then in effect. 42 142746705 6 168697773 4

slide64

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 176/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

ECTION 1.5 Rounding. Any financial ratios required to be maintained pursuant to this Agreement shall be calculated by dividing the appropriate component by the other component, carrying the result to one place more than the numbe

n i med to have occurr as a result of changes in rates ang ring after the time such Indebtedness or Investment is incurred: provided that for the nce of doubt, the foregoing provision:
flhls Sectlon 1 10 shall otherwwse apply to such Sectlons mcludm wnh respect to determlnln whether an Indebtedness or Investment may be incurred at an t|me under such Secnons SECTION il 11 L|m|ted Condltlon Ac ulsmons
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all representations and warranties in this Agreement an
e Effect, which such representation and warranty shall be

lwarrant rrect in al ect: c) any financial ratio test or condition to mited Condition Acquisition and the availability of such Indebtedness wi tested as of the Test Date, in|
leach case, after giving effect to the relevant Limited Condition Acquisition and related incurrence of Indebtedness, on a Pro Forma Basis where applicable, and, for the avoidance of doubt, (i) such ratios and baskets shall not be tested af

q p
such ratios will not be deemed to have been exceeded and such conditions will not be deemed unmet as a result of such fluctuations solely for purposes of determining whether the relevant transaction or action is permitted to be

rior to the earlier of the date on which suc

consummated or taken; an
i it guisiti dition Acquisition, any such ratio or ba:

d (d) except as provided in the next sentence, in connection with any subseguent calculation of any ratio or basket on or following the relevant LCA Test Date and
n is consummated and the date that the definiti r imi ition Acquisition i i r expir ithout con: imi

finitive summation of such Limited Con:

agres S| on Acqu expires without col
shall be calculated (i) on a Pro Forma Basis assuming 44 142746705 6 168697773 4
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such Limited Condition Acquisition and other transactions in connection therewith (including the incurrence or assumption of Indebtedness) have been consummated and (i) assuming such Limited Condition Acguisition and othel
transactions in connection therewith (including the incurrence or assumption of Indebtedness) have not been consummated; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, any calculation of a ratio in connection with determining thej

i i ial covenants set forth in Section 9.13 shall, in each case be calculated assuming such Limited Condition Acguisition and other transactions in
onnection therewith (including the incurrence or assumption of Indebtedness) have not been consummated. The foregoing provisions shall apply with similar effect during the pendency of multiple Limited Condition Acquisitions such thatf

Administration , the administrator of the London interbank off , the regulatory supervisor of IBA, announced in public statements (the “Announcements”
bublication or representativeness date for the London interbank offered rate for Dollars for: (a) 1-week and 2-month tenor settings will be December 31, 2021 and (b) overnight, onth, onth, onth and 12-month tenor settings will

be June 30, 2023. No successor administrator for IBA was identified in such Announcements. As a result, it is possible that commencing immediately after such dates, the London interbank offered rate for such tenors may no longer bej

javailable or may no longer be deemed a representative reference rate upon which to determine the interest rate on LIBOR Rate Loans or Base Rate Loans (when determined by reference to clause (c) of the definition of Base Rate)|

ther then-current Benchmark is no longer available or in certain other circumstances set forth in Section 5.8(c), s!
will notify the Borrower, pursuant to Section 5.8(c), of any change to the reference rate upon which the interest rate on LIBOR Rate Loans and Base Rate Loans (when determine:
is based. However, the Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, (ia) the continuation of, administration of, submission of |
alculation of or any other matter related to the London interbank offered rate or otherTerm SOFR Reference Rate, Adjusted Term SOFR or Term SOFR, or any component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition of}
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JAdministrative Agent and its Affiliates or other related entities may engage in transactions that affect the calculation of the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Adjusted Term SOFR, Term SOFR, any alternative, successor or replacement rate

rower from time to time from the Closing Date to, but not including, the Revolving Credit Maturity Date as requeste e Borrower in accordance with the terms of Section rovided, that (&) the only Revolving Credit Loans m:
on the Closing Date shall be the Closing Date Revolving Credit Loans, (b) after the Closing Date, the Revolving Credit Outstandings shall not exceed the Revolving Credit Commltmem and (c) the Revolving Credit Exposure of anyf

o time from the Closing Date to, bu , the Revolving Credit Maturity Date; provided, that (i) after giving effect to an amount requested, the Revolving ings shall not exceed the Rev
[Commitment and (ii) the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Swingline Loans (after giving effect to any amount requested) shall not exceed the Swingline Commitment. 46 142746705 6 168697773 4
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amount of such Revolving Credit Loan available to the Administrative Agent in immediately available funds at the Administrative Agent’s Office not later than 1:00 p.m. on the day s ecmed in such notice. The proceeds of such Revolving]

ans re uired to be refunded. In addition, the Borrower irrevocal he ent to charge an ine he Borrower with the Swingline Lender (up to the amount available therein
order to immediately pay the Swmcllne Lender the amount of such Swmllne Loans to the extent amounts received from the Revolving Credit Lendels are not sufﬂment to repay in full the outstanding Swingline Loans requested ol

lamount of Swingline Loans then outstanding. Each Revolvin nmediately transfer to the Swingline Lender, in immediately available funds, the amour wingline Participation Amount. Whenever, at any time after]
he Swingline Lender has received from any Revolving Credit Lender such Revolving Credit Lender’s Swmt line Pamuatlon Amount, the Swingline Lender receives any payment on account of the Swmlme Loans the Swingline Lendel

funded and, in the case of principal and interest payments, to reflect such Revolving Credit Lender’s pro rata portion of such payment if such payment is not sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on all Swingline Loans then due);

provided that in the event that such payment received by the 47 142746705 6 168697773 4
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[case of a Revolvin Cfele Loan whether the Loans are to be LIBOR RateSOFR Loans or Base Rate Loans, and E in the case of a LIBOR RateSOFR Loan, the duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto; provided that if thel

[Borrower wishes to request LIBOR Rate Loans having an Interest 48 142746705 _6 168697773 4
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Period of twelve months in duration, such notice must be received by the Administrative Agent not later than 11: 00 a.m. four (4) Business Days prior to the requested date of such borrowing, whereupon the Administrative Agent shall give

npt notice to the Revolving Credit Lenders request ested Interest Period is acceptable to all of them. to specify a type of Loan in a Notice of Borrowing
Loans shall be made as Base Rate Loans If the Borrower reguests a borrowing of LIBOR Rate Loansa SOFR Loan in any such Nouce of Borrowing, but fails to specify an Imerest Penud it will be deemed to have specified an Interes

nt, for the account of the ministrative Ag iately available to the Administrative Agent, suc evolving Credit Commitment Percentage of the Revolving Cr
Loans to be made on such bonowmc date and (i) the Swingline Lender will make available to the Administrative Agent, for the accoum Df the Borrower. at the Administrative Agent's Ofﬂce in funds immediately available to the
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5 Permanent Reducti Credit Commitment.
inistr i remium or Cr t any time or
in exc Revolving Credit Commitment sh:

Administrative Agent, to peri educe, without prem

principal amount not less than $3,000,000 or any whole multiple of $1,000,000

according to its Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage. All Commitment Fees accrued until the effective date of any termination of the Revolving Credit Commitment shall be paid on the effective date of such termination |
notice to reduce the Revolving Credit Commitment delivered in connection with any refinancing

= slide72

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 186/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

A pressl ., cor p i
incurrence or occurrence such identifiable event or condition and may be revoked by the Borrower in the event such contingency is not met (provided that the failure of such contingency shall not relieve the Borrower from its obligations in|
respect thereof under Section 5.9). (b) Corresponding Payment. Each permanent reduction permitted pursuant to this Section shall be accompanied by a payment of principal sufficient to reduce the aggregate outstanding Revolving|
redit Loans, Swingline Loans and L/C Obligations, as applicable, after such reduction to the Revolving Credit Commitment as so reduced, and if the aggregate amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit exceeds the Revolving Credit

[Commitment as so reduced, the Borrower shall be required to deposit Cash Collateral in a Cash Collateral account opened by the Administrative Agent in an amount equal to such excess. Such Cash Collateral shall be applied in|
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Credit Loans and Swingline Loans (and furnishing of Cash Collateral satisfactol
and shall result in the termination of the Revolving Credit Commitment and the Swingline Commitment and the Revolving Credi

laccordance with Section 10.2(b). Any reduction of the Revolving Credit Commitment to zero shall be accompanied by payment of all outstanding Revolvin:

to the Administrative Agent for all L/C Obligations or other arrangements satisfactol

[Termination of Revolvini Date. ARTICLE Il LETTER OF CREDIT FACILITY SECTION 3.1 L/C Facility,
ilabili i r i E it i gate amount not}

a) Availability. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Issuing Lender, in reliance on the agreements of the Revolvini i rth in Section 3.4(a), agrees to issue standby Letters of Credit in an aggre:
0 exceed its L/C Commitment for the account of the Borrower or, subject to Section 3.8, any Subsidiary thereof, Letters of Credit may be issued on any Business Day from the Closing Date to, but not including the thirtieth (30th) Business}

which date shall be no later than the fifth
i i ewith, the laws of the State of New York. The Issuint

eriods pursuant to the terms of the Letter of Credit Application or other documentation acceptable to the Issuing Lender), prior to the Revolving Credif
i rth i r i icati i Issui i shall

aturity Date and (iii) be subject to the ISP98 as set forth in the Letter of Credit Application or as determined by the Issuing Lender and, to the extent not inconsistent ther Issuing Lender
Inot at any time be obligated to issue any Letter of Credit hereunder if (A) any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain such Issuing Lender from issuing sucl
Letter of Credit, or request that such Issuing Lender refrain from, or any Applicable Law applicable to such 51 142746705 6 168697773 4|
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uch Revolving Credit Lender a copy of such Letter of Credit and the amount of such Revolving Credit Le ati er Charges. (a) Letter of Cred ubject to Sectio
5.14(a)(iii))(B), the Borrower shall pay to the Admmwsuauve Ac ent, for the accoum of the Issulnc Lender and the L/C Pamm ants, a Iener of credlt commission with resect to each Letter of Credit in the amount eual 1o the dall amount

lagreed upon between the 52 142746705 6 168697773
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such normal and customary fees, costs, charges and expenses as are incurred or ch: or otherwise administering any Letter of Credit issued b
icipati i ri nd hereby gran rticipant, an e Letters of Credit hereunder, each L/C Participant irrevocably agrees to accept and
purchase and hereby accepts and purchases from the Issuing Lender, on the terms and conditions hereinafter stated, for such L/C Participant’s own account and risk an undivided interest equal to such L/C Participant’s Revolving Credit]

lamount and the Administrative Agent shall notify each L/C Participant (with a copy to the Issuing Lender) of the amount and due date of such required payment and such L/C Participant shall pay to the Administrative Agent (which, in turn|

Il be conclusive in the absence of manif ment to such Issuing Lender of the unreimbursed amounts described in this Section, if the L/C|
pai that any such pa: prior to .m. usiness Day, such pay that Business Day, an after 1:00 p.m. on any Business Day. B
Business Day. () Whenever, at any time after the Issuing Lender has made payment under any Letter of Credit issued by it and has received from any L/C Participant its Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of such payment in

laccordance with this Section, such Issuing Lender receives any payment related to such Letter of Credit (whether directly from the Borrower or otherwise), or any payment of interest on account thereof, such Issuing Lender will distribute]
0 such L/C Participant its pro rata share thereof; provided, that in the event that any such payment received by such Issuing Lender shall be 53 142746705 6 168697773 4
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quil be re d by suc L such L/C Part it shall ref 0 S ssuing Lender the portion thereof previously distribute such Issuing Lender to i Each L/C Participant's obligation to make the Revolvini
[Credit s referred to in Sectiol participating interests pursuant to Section 3.4(a) shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including (i) any setoff, counterclaim|
recoupment, defense or other right that such Revolving Credit Lender or the Borrower may have against the Issuing Lender, the Borrower or any other Person for any reason whatsoever, (ii) the occurrence or continuance of a Default ol
i other Loan Document]

n the event of any drawing under any Letter of Credit, the Borrower
he Issuin ate on which such Issuing Lender notifies the Bori amount of a draft pai it under any Letter of Credit for the amount of (a) such draft so paid an any amounts referred to in Sectio
3.3(c) incurred by such Issuing Lender in connection with such payment. Unless the Borrower shall immediately notify such Issuing Lender that the Borrower intends to reimburse such Issuing Lender for such drawing from other source:
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lits obligation to fund a Revolving Credit Loan in accordance with this Section to reimburse such Issuing Lender for any draft paid under a Letter of Credit issued by it is absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any]

circumstance whatsoever, including, without limitation, non-satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 2.3(a) or Article VI. If the Borrower has elected to pay the amount of such drawing with funds from other sources and shall fail to}
reimburse such Issuing Lender as provided above, or if the amount of such drawing is not fully refunded through a Base Rate Loan as provided above, the unreimbursed amount of such drawing shall bear interest at the rate which would|
be payable on an outslandln Base Rale Loans WhICh were then overdue from the date such amounts become payable (whether at stated maturity, accelerallon or otherwise untll ) ment in full. SECTION 3.6 Obli atlons Absolute.)

he Borrower against any beneficiary of such Letter of Credit or any such transferee. No Issuing Lender shall be liable for any error, omission, interruption or delay in transmission, dispatch or delivery of any message or advice, howevel

transmitted, 54 142746705 6 168697773 4}
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presentment su )stanta conforms to the requirements under such Letter of Credit. t of Letter of Credit ication. To the extent that a sion of any Letter of Credit icati
related to any Letter of Credit is inconsistent with the provisions of this Article IlI, the rovisions of this Article Ill shall appl SECTION 3.8 Letters of Credit Issued f0| SLIbSId\arIeS Notwnhstandm that a Letter of Credit issued or]

[Term A-2 Loan Lender’s Term A-2 Loan Commitment as of the Closing Date. SECTION 4.2 Procedure for Advance of Term Loans. (a) Term A-1 Loan and Term A-2 Loan. The Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent an irrevocabl:
Notice of Borrowing prior to 11:00 a.m. on the Closing Date requesting that (i) the Term A-1 Loan Lenders make the Term A-1 Loan as a Base Rate Loan on such date and (i) the Term A-2 Loan Lenders make the Term A-2 Loan as &
Base Rate Loan on such date (provided that the Borrower may request, no later than three (3) U.S. Government Securities Business Days pri ing Date, that the Lenders make the each of the Term A-1 Loan and the Term A-2]
Loan as a LIBOR RateSOFR Loan if the Borrower has delivered to the Administrative Agent a letter in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent indemnifying the Lenders in the manner set forth in Section 5.9

of this Agreement). Upon receipt of such Notice of Borrowing from the Borrower, the 55 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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set forth in clause (iv) belo gual percent of the aggregate Net Cash Proceeds from an! ebt Issuance ermitted pursuant
0 Section 9.1. Such prepayment shall be made within 1'1[69 3) Business Days aﬁer the date Df IECEII of the Net Cash Proceeds of any such Debt Issuance. (ii) Asset Dispositions and Insurance and Condemnation Events. The Borrower

nt of its intent to reinvest in accor with Section 4.4 Reinvestment Option. Wit ect to Net Cash Proce: or received with tta Asset Disposition or any]
Credit Part of an Sub5|d|ar thereof in each case, to the extent not exc\uded ursuant to Sectlon 4. 4 b)(ii)), at the option of the Borrower. the Credll Pames may reinvest aII or any portion of|

p
Administrative Agent shall promptly so notify the Lenders. Each prepayment of the Loans under 57 142746705 _6 168697773 4
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Fees. The Borrower shall pay to (i) Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and the Administrative Agent, for their own respective accounts, fees in the amounts and at the times specified in the Engagement Letter and (i) each Arranger other than|
ells Fargo Securities, LLC), documentation agent or syndication agent, for their own respective accounts, fees in the amounts and at the times specified in the Fee Letter to which such Arranger (other than Wells Fargo Securities, LLC) |

ocumentation agent or syndication agent is a party thereto. 60 142746705 _6 168697773 4
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ISECTION 5.4 Manner of Payment. Each payment by the Borrower on account of the principal of or interest on the Loans or of any fee, commission or other amounts (including the Reimbursement Obligation) payable to the Lenders unde
this Agreement shall be made not later than 1:00 p.m. on the date specified for payment under this Agreement to the Administrative Agent at the Administrative Agent's Office for the account of the Lenders entitled to such payment in}
Dollars, in immediately available funds and shall be made without any set off, counterclaim or deduction whatsoever. Any payment received after such time but before 2:00 p.m. on such day shall be deemed a payment on such date fo!
the purposes of Section 10.1, but for all other purposes shaII be deemed to have been made on the next succeeding Business Da Any payment received after 2:00 p.m. shall be deemed to have been made on the next succeedm

to so record or any error in doing so shall not, however, limit or otherwise affect the obligation of the Borrower hereunder to pay any amount owing with respect to the Obligations. In the event of any conflict helween the accounts and

Loan Note and/or Term A-2 Loan Note and/or Incremental Term Loan Note, as applicable, which shall evidence such Lender’s Revolving Credit Loans and/or Swingline Loans and/or Term A-1 Loans and/or Term A-2 Loans and/of
Incremental Term Loans, as applicable, in addition to such accounts or records. Each Lender may attach schedules to its Notes and endorse thereon the date, amount and maturity of its Loans and payments with respect thereto. (b;
Participations. In addition to the accounts and records referred to in subsection (a), each Revolving Credit Lender and the Administrative Agent shall maintain in accordance with its usual 61 142746705 6 168697773 4
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lcompensationOvernight Rate and (B) in the case of a payment to be made by the Borrower, the interest rate applicable to Base Rate Loans. If the Borrower and such Lender shall pay such interest to the Administrative Agent for the same]
to the Administrative]

Interest Period and, in the case of clause (ii), the Required Lenders have provided notice of such determination to the Administrative Agent, then, in each case, the Administrative Agent shall promptly give notice thereof to the Borrower]
hereafter, untilUpon notice thereof by the Administrative Agent notifiesto the Borrower that such circumstances no longer exist, theany obligation of the Lenders to make 63 142746705 6 168697773 4
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LIBOR RateSOFR Loans, and theany right of the Borrower to convert any Loan to or continue any Loan as a LIBOR RateSOFR Loan, shall be suspended, and (to the Borrower shall either (A) repay in full (or cause to be repaid in full) thej

hen outstanding principal amount of each such LIBOR Rate Loan to aextent of the affected SOFR Loans or the affected Interest Periods) until the Administrative Agent (with respect to clause (ii), at the instruction of the Required Lenders)

Periods) or, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have converted any such request into a request for a borrowing of or conversion to Base Rate Loans in the amount specified therein and (B) any outstanding affected SOFR Loans]
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will be deemed to have been converted into Base Rate Loan asLoans at the end of the last day of suchapplicable Interest Period. Upon any such prepayment or conversion, the Borrower shall also pay accrued interest on the amount so

p p
shall immediately be converted to a Base Rate Loan for the remainder of such Interest Periodalso pay accrued interest on the amount so prepaid or converted, together with any additional amounts required pursuant to Section 5.9. (c)}

Benchmark Replacement Setti i) (A) 64 142746705 6 168697773 4|
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Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower may amend this Agreement to replace the then-current Benchmark, then (x) if a Benchmar

Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark settingamendment with respect to a Benchmark Transition Event will become effective at or after 5:00 p.m. (New York Ci
ifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Lenders without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan|
DocumentAdministrative Agent has posted such proposed amendment to all Lenders and the Borrower so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark}
[Replacementamendment from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders. (B) Term SOFR Transition Event. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, if a Term SOFR Transition Event and its related
Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then No replacement of a Benchmark with a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to this Section 5.8(c)(i)(A)
ill occur prior to the applicable Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder or under any Loan Document in respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings|
ithout any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document; provided that this clause (B) shall not be effective unless the Administrative Agent has delivered to the Lenderd
and the Borrower a Term SOFR Notice. For the avoidance of doubt, the Administrative Agent shall not be required to deliver a Term SOFR Notice after a Term SOFR Transition Event and may elect or not elect to do so in its sol
discretionTransition Start Date. (i) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make]
Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes]

effectiveness of any 65 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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lanything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, at any time (including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement),

have converted any such request into a request for a borrowing of or conversion to Base Rate Loans and (B) any outstanding affected SOFR Loans will be deemed to have been converted to Base Rate Loans at the end of the applicable]
Interest Period. During any Benchmark Unavailability Period or at any time that a tenor for the then-current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of the Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark or such tenor fol
such Benchmark, as applicable, will not be used in any determination of the Base Rate. (vi) London Interbank Offered Rate Benchmark Transition Event. On March 5, 2021, the IBA, the administrator of the London interbank offered rate|
land the FCA, the regulatory supervisor of the IBA, made the Announcements that the final publication or representativeness date for (1) 1-week and 2-month London interbank offered rate tenor settings will be December 31, 2021 and (Il
overnight, 1-month, 3-month, 6-month and 12-month London interbank offered rate tenor settings will be June 30, 2023. No successor administrator for the IBA was identified in such Announcements. The parties hereto agree and
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loss, cost or expense arising from the liquidation or reemployment of funds obtained by it to maintain a LIBOR Rate Loan or from any fees payable to terminate the deposits from which such funds were obtained) which may arise or, bej

Notice of Conversion/Continuation, (c) any failure of the Borrower to prepay any SOFR Loan on a date specified therefor in any Notice of Prepayment (regardless of whether any such Notice of Prepayment may be revoked under Section
2.4(c) or () due toSection 4.4(a) and is revoked in accordance therewith), (d) any payment, prepayment or conversion of any LIBOR RateSOFR Loan on a date other than the last day of the Interest Period therefor. The amount of such|
loss or expense shall be determined, in the applicable Lender’s sole discretion, based upon the assumption that such Lender funded its Commitment Percentage of the LIBOR Rate Loans in the London interbank market and using anyt

reasonable attribution or averaging methods which such Lender deems appropriate and practical (including as a result of an Event of Default) or (e) the assignment of any SOFR Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period|
lapplicable thereto as a result of a request by the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.12(b). A certificate of such Lender setting forth the basis for determining such amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender shall be forwarded|
to the Borrower through the Administrative Agent and shall be conclusively presumed to be correct save for manifest error. All of the obligations of the Credit Parties under this Section 5.9 shall survive the resignation or replacement of thej
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IAdministrative Agent or any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under any Loan Document. SECTION 5.10

h loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or advances, loans or other credit extended or participated in by, any Lende!
exceptor any reserve requirement reflected in the LIBOR Rate) or the Issuing Lender: (i) subject any Recipient to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Taxes described in clauses (b) through (d) of the definition of Excluded

axes and (C) Connection Income Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto; or 67 142746705 6 168697773 4
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lon such Lender’s or such Issuing Lender’s capital or on the capital of such Lender’s or such Issuing Lender’s holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement, the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender or the Loan:
made by, or participations in Letters of Credit or Swingline Loans held by, such Lender, or the Letters of Credit issued by such Issuing Lender, to a level below that which such Lender or such Issuing Lender or such Lender’s or such

Issuing Lender’s holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration such Lender’s or such Issuing Lender’s policies and the policies of such Lender's or such Issuing Lender's holding company]
with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time upon written request of such Lender or such Issuing Lender the Borrower shall promptly pay to such Lender or such Issuing Lender, as the case may be, such|
additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Issuing Lender or such Lender’s or such Issuing Lender’s holding company for any such reduction suffered. (c) Certificates for Reimbursement. A certificate of a
Lender, or an Issuing Lender or such other Recipient setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or such Issuing Lender, such other Recipient or any of their respective holding companies, as the case mayj
be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section and delivered to the Borrower, shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender or such Issuing Lender or such other Recipient, as the case may be, the}

Lender or any other Recipient pursuant to this Section for any increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than nine (9) months prior to the date that such Lender or such Issuing Lender or such other Recipient, as the case may]
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laccount of any obligation of any Credit Party under any Loan Document shall be made without deduction or withholding for any Taxes, except as required by Applicable Law. If any Applicable Law (as determined in the good faith discretion|

[demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) payable or paid by such Recipient or required to be withheld ol

with any Loan Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to thel
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Administrative Agent the original or a certified cop

lexemption from, or reduction of, United States federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “interest” article of such tax treaty and (y) with respect to any other applicable payments under any Loan Document, IRS Form W-8BEN-E establishin
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and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonabl
by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with thei
obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (D;
“FATCA" shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement. Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall updatej
received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to 71 142746705 6 168697773 4

B
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party, upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (h) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed b

its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations|
hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 5.10 or Section 5.11, as the case may be, in}
the future and (i) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender. The 72 142746705 6 168697773 4
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rees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignmel b Lender requests compensation under Section 5.10, ol
if the Borrower is requi Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to an: Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 5.11, and, in each case, such Lender has declined or is]
unable to designate a different Lending Office in accordance with Section 5.12(a), or if any Lender is a Defaulting Lender or a Non-Consenting Lender, then the Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and|
he Administrative Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in, and consents required by, Section 12.9), all of its interests, rights (other than it

ghts to payments pursuant to Section 5.10 or Section 5.11) and obligations under this Agreement and the related Loan Documents to an Eligible Assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be anothei
Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided that: (i) the Borrower shall have paid to the Administrative Agent the assignment fee (if any) specified in Section 12.9; (i) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount]
lequal to the outstanding principal of its Loans and participations in Letters of Credit, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder and under the other Loan Documents (including any amounts unde

Section 5.9) from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in the case of all other amounts): (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation|

ithout recourse to or warranty by the parties thereto. SECTION 5.13 Cash Collateral. At any time that there shall exist a Defaulting Lender, within one Business Day following the written request of the Administrative Agent, the Issuing
Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent) or the Swingline Lender (with a copy to the Administrative 73 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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Agent), the Borrower shall Cash Collateralize the Fronting Exposure of such Issuing Lender and/or the Swingline Lender, as applicable, with respect to such Defaulting Lender (determined after ng effect to Section 5.14(a)(iv) and any]
[Cash Collateral provided by such Defaulting Lender) in an amount not less than the Minimum Collateral Amount. (a) Grant of Security Interest. The Borrower, and to the extent provided by any Defaulting Lender, such Defaulting Lender|

after giving effect to any Cash Collateral provided by the Defaulting Lender). (b;
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by the termination of Defaulting Lender status of the applicable Lender), or (i) the determination by the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Lender and the Swingline Lender that there exists excess Cash Collateral; provided that, subject to}

Section 5.14, the Person providing Cash Collateral, the Issuing Lender and the Swingline Lender may agree that Cash Collateral shall be held to support future anticipated Fronting Exposure or other obligations; and provided further that]

Administrative Agent for the account of such Defaulting Lender (whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity, pursuant to Article X or otherwise) or received by 74 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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herwise directed by a court of competent jurisdiction; provided that if (1) such payment is a payment of the principal amount of any Loans or funded participations in Letters of Credit or Swingline Loans in|

irrevocably consents hereto. (iii) Certain Fees. (A) No Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receive any Commitment Fee for an

Lender is a Defaulting Lender only to the extent allocable to its Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of the stated amount of Letters of Credit for which it has provided Cash Collateral pursuant to Section 5.13. 75 142746705 6|

168697773 4
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C) With respect to any Commitment Fee or letter of credit commission not required to be paid to any Defaulting Lender pursuant to clause (A) or (B) above, the Borrower shall (1) pay to each Non-Defaulting Lender that portion of any]
such fee otherwise payable to such Defaulting Lender with respect to such Defaulting Lender’s participation in L/C Obligations or Swingline Loans that has been reallocated to such Non-Defaulting Lender pursuant to clause (iv) below, (2
ay to the Issuing Lender and the Swingline Lender, as applicable, the amount of any such fee otherwise payable to such Defaulting Lender to the extent allocable to such Issuing Lender’s or Swingline Lender’s Fronting Exposure to such

land funded and unfunded participations in Letters of Credit and Swingline Loans to be held pro rata by the Lenders in accordance with the Commitments under the applicable Credit Facility (without giving effect to Section 5.14(a)(iv)),

hereunder arising from that Lender's having been a Defaulting Lender. 76 142746705 6 168697773 4
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SECTION 5.15 Incremental Loans. (&) Request for Incremental Increase. At any time after the Closing Date, the Borrower may by written notice to the Administrative Agent elect to request the establishment of: (i) one or more incrementall

term loan commitments (any such incremental term loan commitment, an “Incremental Term Loan Commitment” and, collectively, the “Incremental Term Loan Commitments”) to make one or more additional term loans, including a

IAdministrative Agent) shall specify the time period within which each proposed Incremental Lender is requested to respond, which shall in no event be less than ten (10) Business Days from the date of delivery of such notice to the|

the Increase Effective Date. 77 142746705 6 168697773 4
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d) Conditions to Effectiveness of Incremental Increases. Any Incremental Increase shall become effective as of such Increase Effective Date and shall be subject to the following conditions precedent: (i) no Default or Event of Defauli}

set forth in Section 9.13, in each case based on the financial statements most recently delivered pursuant to Section 8.1(a) or 8.1(b), as applicable, both before and after giving effect (on a Pro Forma Basis) to (A) any Incremental

it pursuant thereto Incremental Loan Commitment being deemed to be full and (C) any Permitted Acquisition consummated in connection therewith; provided that, in thej

requested by Administrative Agent in connection with such Incremental Increase. 78 142746705 6 168697773 4
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licable, for such other Revolving Credit Commitments shall be increased so that the interest rate margins and/or commitment fees, as applicable, are equal to the interest rate margins and/or commitment fees for such Incremental
Revolving Credit Increase; (B) the outstanding Revolving Credit Loans and Revolving Credit Commitment Percentages of Swingline Loans and L/C Obligations will be reallocated by the Administrative Agent on the applicable Increase]
[Effective Date among ing Credit Lenders (including the Incremental Lenders providing such Incremental Revolving Credit Increase) in accordance with their revised Revolving Credit Commitment Percentages (and the
Revolving Credit Lenders (including the Incremental Lenders providing such Incremental Revolving Credit Increase) agree to make all 79 142746705 6 168697773 4}
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ayments and adjustments necessary to effect such reallocation and the Borrower shall pay any and all costs required pursuant to Section 5.9 in connection with such reallocation as if such reallocation were a repayment); and (C) excepf]

Revolving Credit Increase shall receive proceeds of prepayments on the same basis as the other Revolving Credit Loans made hereunder). (f) Incremental Lenders. (i) On any Increase Effective Date on which any Incremental Term Loan|
[Commitment becomes effective, subject to the foregoing terms and conditions, each Incremental Lender with an Incremental Term Loan Commitment shall make, or be obligated to make, an Incremental Term Loan to the Borrower in an|

On any Increase Effective Date on which any Incremental Revolving Credit Increase becomes effective, subject to the foregoing terms and conditions, each Incremental Lender with an Incremental Revolving Credit Commitment shallj

become a Revolving Credit Lender hereunder with respect to such Incremental Revolving Credit Commitment. Incremental Amendments. Each such Incremental Increase shall be effected pursuant to an amendment (an “Incrementall
JAmendment”) to this Agreement and, as appropriate, the other Loan Documents, executed by the Credit Parties, the Administrative Agent and the applicable Incremental Lenders, which Incremental Amendment may, without the consent]

of any other Lenders, effect such amendments to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as may be necessary or appropriate, in the reasonable opinion of the Administrative Agent, to effect the provisions of this Section 5.15 |
ARTICLE VI CONDITIONS OF CLOSING AND BORROWING SECTION 6.1 Conditions to Closing and Necessary Closing Funds. The obligation of the Lenders to close this Agreement and to fund the Necessary Closing Funds is subject]
o0 the satisfaction of each of the following conditions: (a) Executed Loan Documents. This Agreement, a Revolving Credit Note in favor of each Revolving Credit Lender requesting a Revolving Credit Note, a Term A-1 Loan Note in favor off

licable Loan Documents, shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered to the Administrative Agent b parties thereto, shall be in full force and effect and noj
ault or Event of Default shall exist hereunder or thereunder. 80 142746705 6 168697773 4
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b) Closing Certificates; Etc. The Administrative Agent shall have received each of the following in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent: (i) Officer’s Certificate. A certificate from a Responsible Officer off
the Borrower to the effect that (A) all representations and warranties of the Credit Parties contained in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are true, correct and complete in all material respects (except to the extent any suchf

Credit Partyj
plicable, (B) the bylaws or other governing document of

and all amendments thereto, certified as of a recent date by the appropriate Governmental Authority in its jurisdiction of incorporation, organization or formation (or equivalent), as aj
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[Counsel. Opinions of counsel to the Credit Parties addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders with respect to the Credit Parties, the Loan Documents and such other matters as the Administrative Agent shall request (whic
lsuch opinions shall expressly permit reliance by permitted successors and assigns of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders). 81 142746705 6 168697773 4

slide103

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 2271334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

security interests in all assets of such Credit Party, indicating among other things that the assets of each such Credit Party are free and clear of any Lien (except for Permitted Liens). (d) Consents; Defaults. (i) Governmental and Thir

received (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent): (A) with respect to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (other than NIC and its Subsidiaries), (1) audited Consolidated balance sheets and related

hich audited financial statements have been provided and for the most recently completed fiscal quarters ending at least 45 days before the Closing Date, calculated on a Pro Forma Basis after giving effect to the Transactions (in|
laccordance with Regulation S-X under the Securities Act, and all other 82 142746705 6 168697773 4
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dditional amounts of such fees, charges and disbursements as shall constitute its reasonable estimate of such fees, charges and disbursements incurred or to be incurred by it through the closing proceedings (provided that suchi

. (g) Permitted Convertible]
Indebtedness and Committed Bridge Financing. The Administrative Agent shall have received (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) evidence that: (i) the Borrower shall have received the nef
proceeds from the Permitted Convertible Indebtedness of not less than $594,000,000; and 83 142746705 6 168697773 4}
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ii) the commitments in respect of that certain bridge financing facility providing for a senior, unsecured 364-day term loan facility to the Borrower in connection with the NIC Acquisition shall have been terminated without any fundin

thereunder. (h) Miscellaneous. (i) Notice of Account Designation. The Administrative Agent shall have received a Notice of Account Designation specifying the account or accounts to which the proceeds of any Loans made on or after the]
Closing Date are to be disbursed. (ii) Existing Indebtedness. All existing Indebtedness of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (including Indebtedness under the Existing Credit Agreement, but excluding Indebtedness permitted pursuant tol

the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be satisfactory in form and substance to the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall have received copies of all other documents, certificates and instruments reasonabl

0 make or participate in any Extensions of Credit (including the initial Extension of Credit) and/or the Issuing Lender to issue or extend any Letter of Credit are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent on the relevant

borrowing, continuation, conversion, issuance or extension date: (a) Continuation of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be true an

correct in all material 84 142746705 6 168697773
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shall be true and correct in all respects, on and as of such borrowing|
as of an earlier date, which representation and

lcontinuation, conversion, issuance or extension date with the same effect as if made on and as of such date (except for any such representation and warranty that by its terms is made onl
that is qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse Effect, which such representation and

arranty shall remain true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date, except for any representation and warran
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lwarranty shall be true and correct in all respects as of such earlier date). (b) No Existing Default. No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing (i) on the borrowing, continuation or conversion date with respect to
Isuch Loan or after giving effect to the Loans to be made, continued or converted on such date or (ii) on the issuance or extension date with respect to such Letter of Credit or after giving effect to the issuance or extension of such Letter off

[Credit on such date. (c) Notices. The Administrative Agent shall have received a Notice of Borrowing, Letter of Credit Application, or Notice of Conversion/Continuation, as applicable, from the Borrower in accordance with Section 2.3(a)

g
Financial Institution. No Credit Party nor any Subsidiary thereof is a Covered Entity. SECTION 7.2 Ownership. Each Subsidiary of each Credit Party as of the Closing Date is listed on Schedule 7.2. As of the Closing Date, the capitalization]

lof each Credit Party and its Subsidiaries consists of the number of shares, authorized, issued and outstanding, of such classes and 85 142746705 6 168697773 4
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contemplated hereby or thereby do not and will not, by the passage of time, the giving of notice or otherwise, (a) require any Governmental Approval or violate any Applicable Law relating to any Credit Party where the failure to obtain|

Inot, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. SECTION 7.5 Compliance with Law; Governmental Approvals. Each Credit Party (a) has all Governmental Approvals required by anyf

C|
federal, state and other material tax returns required by Applicable 86 142746705 6 168697773 4
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investigation by any Governmental Authority that could be reasonably expected to result in any material tax liability to any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof. No Governmental Authority has asserted any Lien or other claim agains

rights with respect to the foregoing which are reasonably necessary to conduct its business, except to the extent the failure to have any such rights, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expect to have a Materiall

adversely determined, could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect, nor does 87 142746705 6 168697773 4]

slide109

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 234/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Materials at or from properties owned, leased or operated by any Credit Party or any Subsidiary, now or in the past, in violation of or in amounts or in a manner that could give rise to liability under applicable Environmental Laws that coul
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401(b) of the Code has not yet expired and except where a failure to so comply could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Each Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the

[Code has been determined by the IRS to be so qualified, and each trust related to such plan has been determined to be exempt under Section 501(a) of the Code except for such plans that have not yet received determination letters but]

for which the remedial amendment period for submitting a determination letter has not yet expired. No liability has been incurred by any Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate which remains unsatisfied for any taxes or penalties assessed with|
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; (c) As of the Closing Date, no Pension Plan has been terminated, nor has an
Pension Plan become subject to funding based benefit restrictions under Section 436 of the Code, nor has any funding waiver from the IRS been received or requested with respect to any Pension Plan, nor has an
ERISA Affiliate failed to make any contributions or to pay any amounts due and owing as required by Sections 412 or 430 of the Code, Section 302 of ERISA or the terms of any Pension Plan on or prior to the due dates of such|
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d) Except where the failure of any of the following representations to be correct could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect, no Credit Part ili : (i)
lengaged in a nonexempt prohibited transaction described in Section 406 of the ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, (ii) incurred any liability to the PBGC which remains outstanding other than the payment of premiums and there are ng

premium payments which are due and unpaid, (iii) failed to make a required contribution or payment to a Multiemployer Plan, or (iv) failed to make a required installment or other required payment under Sections 412 or 430 of the Code;

in connection with the Loans, the Letters of Credit or the Commitments. SECTION 7.10 Margin Stock. No Credit Party nor any Subsidiary thereof is engaged principally or as one of its activities in the business of extending credit for thej

" or “carryin

p
roceeds of each Extension of Credit, not more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the value of the assets (either of the Borrower only or of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a Consolidated basis) subject to the provisions of Sectiol
9.2 or Section 9.5 or subject to any restriction contained in any agreement or instrument between the Borrower and any Lender or any Affiliate of an

ompany Act of 1940) and no Credit Party nor any Subsidiary thereof is, or after giving effect to any Extension of Credit will be, subject to regulation under the Interstate Commerce Act, or any other Applicable Law which limits its ability to

representative of its employees except as set forth on Schedule 7.12. The Borrower knows of no pending, threatened or contemplated strikes, work stoppage or other collective labor disputes involving its employees or those of 89

142746705 _6 168697773 4
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its Subsidiaries that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. SECTION 7.13 Burdensome Provisions. The Credit Parties and their respective Subsidiaries do not present!

light of then existing conditions except that such financial projections and statements shall be subject to normal year end closing and audit adjustments (it being recognized by the Lenders that projections are not to be viewed as facts and]

[Credit Parties and their Subsidiaries subseguent to such date which dispositions have been in the ordinary course of business or as otherwise expressly permitted hereunder and (b) where the failure to have such title, individuall
regate, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 90 142746705 6 168697773 4|
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Borrower and its Subsidiaries has implemented and maintains in effect policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and Affiliates|

and Affiliate of the]
Borrower and each such Subsidiary, is in compliance with the Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions in all material respects. (d) No proceeds of any Extension of Credit have been used, directly or indirectly, b

(would require any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof to make any payment thereunder prior to the scheduled maturity date therefor that, in any case under this clause (b), could, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be]
lexpected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 91 142746705 6 168697773
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Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries not in accordance with GAAP. 92 142746705 6 168697773 4]

slide114

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

241/334

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

[b) Quarterly Financial Statements. As soon as practicable and in any event within forty-five (45) days (or, if earlier, on the date of any required public filing thereof) after the end of the first three fiscal quarters of each Fiscal Yeal
commencing with the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2021), an unaudited Consolidated and consolidating balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the close of such fiscal quarter and unaudited Consolidated and|
lconsolidating statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows and a report containing management's discussion and analysis of such financial statements for the fiscal quarter then ended and that portion of the Fiscal Year thel
lended, including the notes thereto, all in reasonable detail setting forth in comparative form the corresponding figures as of the end of and for the corresponding
laccordance with GAAP and, if applicable, containing disclosure of the effect on the financial position or results of operations of any change in the application of accountini
chief financial officer of the Borrower to present fairly in all material respects the financial condition of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a Consolidated and consolidating basis as of their respective dates and the results of operations off

the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the respective periods then ended, subject to normal year-end adjustments and the absence of footnotes. SECTION 8.2 Certificates; Other Reports. Deliver to the Administrative Agent (which shall

ny of their respective boards of directors by their respective independent public accountants in connection with their auditing function, including, without limitation, any management report and any management responses thereto; (e;

land copies of all 93 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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land financial condition of any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof as the Administrative Agent or any Lender may reasonably request. Documents required to be delivered pursuant to Section 8.1(a) or (b) or Section 8.2(f) or

contained herein, upon request from the Administrative Agent, the Borrower shall provide paper copies of the Officer's Compliance Certificates required by Section 8.2 to the Administrative Agent. Except for such Officer’s Compliance]

W
minimum, means that the word “PUBLIC" shall appear prominently on the first page thereof; (x) by marking Borrower Materials “PUBLIC,” the Borrower shall be deemed to have authorized the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers, the
Issuing Lender and the Lenders to treat such Borrower Materials as not containing any 94 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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all Borrower Materials marked “PUBLIC” are permitted to be made available through a portion of the Platform designated “Public Investor.”

Borrower Materials constitute Information, they shall be treated as set forth in Section 12.10);

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 244/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

land (2) the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers shall be entitled to treat any Borrower Materials that are not marked “PUBLIC” as being suitable only for posting on a portion of the Platform not designated “Public Investor.” SECTION]

event which makes any of the representations set forth in Article VIl that is not subject to materiality or Material Adverse Effect
ualifications inaccurate in any material respect. Each notice pursuant to Section 8.3 shall be accompanied by a statement of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein and stating whatj
laction the Borrower has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto. Each notice pursuant to Section 8.3(a) 95 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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0 do business in each jurisdiction in which the failure to so gualify could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. SECTION 8.5 Maintenance of Property and Licenses. (a) Protect and preserve all Properties necessary]

maintained with respect thereto in accordance with GAAP and (b) except where the failure to pay or perform such items described in this clause (b) could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, all othe
Indebtedness, obligations and liabilities in accordance with customary trade practices. SECTION 8.9 Compliance with Laws and Approvals. Observe and remain in compliance with all Applicable Laws and maintain in full force and effect|

all Governmental Approvals, in each case applicable to the conduct of its business, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 96 142746705 6 168697773 4
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such additional information about any Employee Benefit Plan as may be reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent. SECTION 8.12 Visits and Inspections. Permit representatives of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, from|
ime to time upon prior reasonable notice and at such times during normal business hours, all at the expense of the Borrower, to visit and inspect its properties; inspect, audit and make extracts from its books, records and files, includini

but not limited to, management letters independent accountants; and discuss with its principal officers, and its independent accountants, its business, assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations and business]
rovided that excluding any such visits and inspections during the continuation of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent shall not exercise such rights more often than once per fiscal year at the Borrower’s expense:}

provided further that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent or any Lender may do any of the foregoing at the expense of the Borrower at any time during normal business hours
ithout advance notice. SECTION 8.13 Additional Subsidiaries. (a) Additional Domestic Subsidiaries. Promptl i event, within ninety (90) days, as such time period may be extended by the Administrative Agent in its sole]
discretion) (x) after the creation or acquisition (including by division) of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary (other than an Excluded Subsidiary) or (y) after any Domestic Subsidiary ceases to be an Excluded Subsidiary, cause such

[Person to (i) become a Subsidiary Guarantor by delivering to the Administrative Agent a duly executed supplement to the Guaranty Agreement or such other document as the Administrative Agent shall deem appropriate for such purpose |

ii) deliver to the Administrative Agent such opinions, documents and certificates referred to in Section 6.1 as may be reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent, (i) deliver to the Administrative Agent such uj
he Loan Documents as requested by the Administrative Agent with respect to such Person, and (iv) deliver to the Administrative Agent such other documents as may be reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent, all in form |
lcontent and scope reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. 97 142746705 6 168697773 4
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2) concurrently with the consummation of each Permitted Acquisitit i b i b h i ify in writing to the Administrative Agent one or more Subsidiaries to be removed from its designation as an Immaterialf
[Subsidiary so that the Subsidiaries constituting Immaterial Subsidiaries account for, in the aggregate, not more than (1

g
including, without limitation, in each case to the extent permitted hereunder, capital expenditures, Permitted Acquisitions and Restricted Payments, of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. (b) Use the proceeds of any Incremental Term Loan}

directors, officers, employees and agents shall not use, the proceeds of any Extension of Credit, directl
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else of value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws or Anti-Money Laundering Laws, (ii) for the purpose of funding, financing or facilitating any activities, business or transaction of or with any Sanctioned Person, or in any]
[Sanctioned Country, (iii) in any manner that would result in the violation of any Sanctions applicable to an hereto or (iv) for purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation T, U or X of the FRB) or for any
purpose which violates the provisions of Regulation T, U or X of the FRB (it being agreed that the Borrower shall promptly furnish to the Administrative Agent and each requesting Lender a statement in conformity with the requirements off

Form G-3 or Form U-1, as applicable, under Regulation U of the FRB). 98 142746705 6 168697773 4
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ISECTION 8.15 Compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions. (a) Maintain in effect and enforce policies and

rocedures designed to ensure compliance by the Borrower, its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers|
lemployees and agents with all Anti-Corruption Laws, An i

Administrative Agent) and (c) provide that its board of directors (or equivalent governing body) will hold all appropriate meetings to authorize and aj

rove such entity’s actions, which meetings will be separate from those of any other entity}

Obligations; (b;

Guaranteed Cash Management Agreements entered into the ordinary course of business; (c) Indebtedness existing on the Closing Date and listed on Schedule 9.1, and an
provided that (i) the principal amount of such Indebtedness is not increased at the time of such refinancing
land expenses reasonabl

refinancings, refundings, renewals or extensions thereof;|
refunding, renewal or extension except by an amount equal to a reasonable premium or other reasonable amount

incurred, in connection with such refinancing and by an amount equal to any existing commitments unutilized thereunder, (i) the final maturi

paid, and fees}
date and weighted average life of 99 142746705 6 168697773 4
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such refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension shall not be prior to or shorter than that applicable to the Indebtedness prior to such refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension and (iii) any refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension of
ny Subordinated Indebtedness shall be (A) on subordination terms at least as favorable to the Lenders, (B) no more restrictive on the Borrower and its Subsidiaries than the Subordinated Indebtedness being refinanced, refunded||

lacquires the assets of such Person) shall have any liability or other obligation with respect to such Indebtedness and (iii) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of such Indebtedness does not exceed $70,000,000 at any time]

any other Non-Guarantor Subsidiary: Non-Guarantor Subsidiary to an: ursuant to Section 9.3(a)(vi); (h) Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial

institution of a check, draft or other similar instrument drawn against insufficient funds in the ordinary course of business; (i) Subordinated Indebtedness of the Borrower and or any Subsidiary Guarantor; provided, that in the case of each|
ncurrence of such Subordinated Indebtedness, (i) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would be caused by the incurrence of such Subordinated Indebtedness and (ii) the Administrative Agent shall have]
received satisfactory written evidence that the Borrower would be in compliance with the financial covenants set forth in Section 9.13 on a Pro Forma Basis after giving effect to the issuance of any such Subordinated Indebtedness; 100

142746705 6 168697773 4
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j) Indebtedness under performance bonds, surety bonds, release, appeal and similar bonds, statutory obligations or with respect to workers’ compensation claims, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of business, and|

lany Subsidiary Guarantor thereof not otherwise permitted pursuant to this Section; provided that (i) the Borrower shall be in compliance with the financial covenants set forth in Section 9.13, in each case on a Pro Forma Basis (based on|

the Closing Date and described on Schedule 9.2, and the replacement, renewal or extension thereof (including Liens incurred, assumed or suffered to exist in connection with any refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension of]
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i) not yet due or as to which the period of grace (notj

c) Liens for taxes, assessments and other governmental charges or levies (excluding any Lien imposed pursuant to any of the provisions of ERISA or applicable Environmental Laws;
, related thereto has not expired or (i) which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings if adequate reserves are maintained to the extent required by GAAP; (d) the claims o

to exceed thirt:
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the ordinary conduct of business; Liens arising from the filing of precautionary UCC financing statements relating solely to personal property leased pursuant to operating leases entered into in the ordinary course of business of the]
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ndebtedness under Section 9.1(e) which is secured by such Liens shall not to exceed $50,000,000 at any time outstanding); (k) (i) Liens of a collecting bank arising in the ordinary course of business under Section 4-210 of the Uniform
[Commercial Code in effect in the relevant jurisdiction and (i) Liens of any depositary bank in connection with statutory, common law and contractual rights of set-off and recoupment with respect to any deposit account of the Borrower of

limitation, the creation or capitalization of any Subsidiary), evidence of Indebtedness or other obligation or security, substantially all or a portion of the business or assets of any other Person or any other investment or interest whatsoevel

Guarantor Subsidiary pursuant to this clause (vi) shall be evidenced by a demand note in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent); 103 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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rovided that, after giving effect to any such Permitted Acquisition and

valu such Investment) less any 104 142746705 6 168697773 4
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lamount realized in respect of such Investment upon the sale, collection or return of capital (not to exceed the o al amount invested). SECTION 9.4 Fundamental Changes. Merge, consolidate or enter into any similar combination wi
or enter into any Asset Disposition of all or substantially all of its assets (whether in a single transaction or a series of transactions) with, any other Person or liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution

he continuing or surviving entity shall become a Subsidiary Guarantor and the Borrower shall comply with Section 8.13 in connection therewith); (b) (i) any Non-Guarantor Subsidiary that is a Foreign Subsidiary may be merged,)

g 5

Borrower may merge with or into the Person such Wholly-Owned Subsidiary was formed to acquire in connection with any acquisition permitted hereunder (including, without limitation, any Permitted Acquisition permitted pursuant to|

i) a Subsidiary Guarantor shall be the continuing or surviving entity or (i) simultaneously with such transaction,|

the continuing or surviving entity shall become a Subsidiary Guarantor and the Borrower shall comply with Section 8.13 in connection therewith; and (f) any Person may merge into the Borrower or any of its Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries in}
onnection with a Permitted Acguisition permitted pursuant to Section 9.3(g); provided that (i) in the case of a merger involving the Borrower or a Subsidiary Guarantor, the continuing or surviving Person shall be the Borrower or sucl
i or surviving Person shall be the Borrower or a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Borrower. SECTION 9.5 Asset Dispositions. Make any Asset Disposition except: (a) the sale of obsolete, worn-

lout or surplus assets no longer used or usable in the business of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; 105 142746705 6 168697773 4
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Asset Dispositions not otherwise permitted pursuant to this Section; provided that (i) at the time of such Asset Disposition, no Default or Event of Default shall exist of]

so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries may pay dividends in shares of its own Qualified Equity Interests; (b) any Subsidiary of thef
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any such Restricted Payment, (i) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (ii) the Borrower shall be in compliance with the financial covenants set forth in Section 9.13, in each case on a Pro Forma Basis|
based on the financial statements for the most recent fiscal quarter end for which financial statements have been provided. SECTION 9.7 Transactions with Affiliates. Directl indi i transaction, including, without}

third party as determined in good faith by the board of directors (or equivalent governing body) of the Borrower; (v) employment and severance arrangements (including equity incentive plans and employee benefit plans and

lany respect which would materially and adversely affect the rights or interests of the Administrative Agent and Lenders hereunder. (b) Cancel, forgive, make any payment or prepayment on, or redeem or acquire for value (including|]

142746705 6 168697773 4
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lany Subordinated Indebtedness made solely with the proceeds of Qualified Equit

become effective any consensual encumbrance or restriction on the ability of any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof to (i) pay dividends or make any other distributions to any Credit Party or any Subsidiary on its Equity Interests o

instrument governing any Permitted Lien (provided that any such restriction contained therein relates only to the asset or assets subject to such Permitted Lien), (E) obligations that are binding on a Subsidiary at the time such Subsidiary]

142746705 6 168697773 4
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109 142746705 6 168697773 4 4.25 to 1.00 Period October 1, 2021 through September 30, 2022 Maximum Ratio 4.00 to 1.00 SECTIO|

11 Nature of Business. En
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Loan or Reimbursement Obligation when and as due (whether at maturity, by reason of acceleration or otherwise). (b) Other Payment Default. The Borrower shall default in the payment when and as due (whether at maturity,

reason of acceleration or otherwise) of interest on any Loan o
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[Effect qualifications, shall be incorrect or misleading in any respect when made or deemed made or any representation, warranty, certification or statement of fact made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Credit Party or anyf

p
i) default in the payment of any Indebtedness (other than the Loans or any Reimbursement Obligation) the aggregate principal amount (including undrawn committed or available amounts), or with respect to any Hedge Agreement, the]

its stated maturity (any applicable grace period having expired). (g) Change in Control. Any Change in Control shall occur. (h) Voluntary Bankruptcy Proceeding. Any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof shall (i) commence a voluntary}

foregoing. 110 142746705 6 168697773 4
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g
[when due of all amounts which, under the provisions of any Pension Plan or Sections 412 or 430 of the Code, any Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate is required to pay as contributions thereto and such unpaid amounts are in excess off

to the contrary notwithstanding. 111 142746705 6 168697773 4]

slide133

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 265/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

b) Letters of Credit. With respect to all Letters of Credit with respect to which presentment for honor shall not have occurred at the time of an acceleration pursuant to the preceding paragray
Collateral account opened by the Administrative Agent an amount equal to the aggregate then undrawn and unexpired amount of such Letters of Credit. Amounts held in such Cash Collateral account shall be applied by the Administrative
Agent to the payment of drafts drawn under such Letters of Credit, and the unused portion thereof after all such Letters of Credit shall have expired or been fully drawn upon, if any, shall be applied to repay the other Guaranteed

art of the Administrative Agent or any Lender in exercising any right, power or privilege shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise

Issuing Lender or the Swingline Lender from exercising the rights and remedies that inure to its benefit (solely in its capacity as an Issuing Lender or Swingline Lender, as the case may be) hereunder and under the other Loan Documents,

Lender may, with the consent of the Required Lenders, enforce any rights and remedies available to it and as authorized by the Required Lenders. 112 142746705 6 168697773 4|
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SECTION 10.4 Crediting of Payments and Proceeds. In the event that the Obligations have been accelerated pursuant to Section 10.2 or the Administrative Agent or any Lender has exercised any remedy set forth in this Agreement ol
any other Loan Document, all payments received on account of the Guaranteed Obligations and all net proceeds from the enforcement of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be applied by the Administrative Agent as follows: First, to]

D
IAgent shall have made any demand on the Borrower) shall be entitled and empowered (but not obligated) by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise: 113 142746705 6 168697773 4
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a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal and interest owing and unpaid in respect of the Loans, L/C Obligations and all other Guaranteed Obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such other documents a:
Imay be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Lenders, the Issuing Lender and the Administrative Agent (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Lenders,
the Issuing Lender and the Administrative Agent and their respective agents and counsel and all other amounts due the Lenders, the Issuing Lender and the Administrative Agent under Sections 3.3, 5.3 and 12.3) allowed in such judiciall

directly to the Lenders and the Issuing Lender, to pay to the Administrative Agent any amount due for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Administrative Agent and its agents and counsel, and|

142746705 6 168697773
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the Lenders as shall be expressly provided for herein or in the other Loan Documents), provided that the Administrative Agent shall not be required to take any action that, in its opinion or the opinion of its counsel, may expose the

any Lender or Participant or any other Person to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (i) the contents of any certificate, report or

other document delivered hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith, (iii) the 115 142746705 6 168697773 4
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notice, request, certificate, consent, communication, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including any electronic message, Internet or intranet website posting or other distribution) believed by it to be genuine and to havej
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it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel,|

pursuant to which it is to become a Lender or Issuing Lende!

consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected b
laccountants or experts. Each Lender and Issuing Lender that has signed this Agreement or a signature page to an Assignment and Assumption or any other Loan Document
hereunder shall be deemed to have consented to, approved and accepted and shall deemed satisfied with each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to, approved or accepted by such Lender or Issuing Lendel

i to such Lender or Issuing Lender. SECTION 11.5 Delegation of Duties. The Administrative Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder or under anyj
other Loan Document by or through any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent may

hrough their respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of this Article shall a) such sub-agent and to the Related Parties of the Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply to their respective]
activities in connection with the syndication of the Credit Facility as well as activities as Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any sub-agents except to the extent thatj
jurisdiction determines in a final and nonappealable judgment that the Administrative Agent acted with gross negligence or willful misconduct in the selection of such sub-agents. SECTION 11.6 Resignation of]

Administrative Agent. () The Administrative Agent may at an: ive notice of its resignation to the Lenders, the Issuing Lender and the Borrower. Upon receipt of any such notice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the]

right, in consultation with the Borrower and subject to the consent of the Borrower (provided no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing at the time of such resignation), to appoint

ndicated bank facilities with an office in the United States, or an Affiliate of any such bank or financial institution with|

successor, which shall be a bank or financial institution reasonably experienced in serving as administrative agent on s\
lan 116 142746705 6 168697773 4]

not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed
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pffice in the United States. If no such successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Administrative Agent gives notice of its resignation

JAdministrative Agent as of the Resignation Effective Date or the Removal Effective Date, as applicable), and the retiring or removed Administrative Agent shall be discharged from all of its duties and obligations hereunder or under the
other Loan Documents. The fees payable by the Borrower to a successor Administrative Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor. After the retiring
or removed Administrative Agent's resignation or removal hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, the provisions of this Article and Section 12.3 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring or removed Administrative]

Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while the retiring or removed Administrative Agent was acting as Administrative Agent. (d g
i) such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Issuing Lender, if in its sole discretion it elects to, and Swingline Lender, (ii
land Swingline Lender shall be discharged from all of their respective duties and obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, and (iii) the successor Issuing Lender, if in its sole discretion it elects to, shall issue letters of
lcredit in substitution for the Letters of Credit, if any, outstanding at the time of such succession or make other arrangements satisfactory to the retiring 117 142746705 6 168697773 4
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Issuing Lender to effectively assume the obligations of the retiring Issuing Lender with respect to such Letters of Credit. SECTION 11.7 Non-Reliance on Administrative Agent and Other Lenders. Each Lender and the Issuing Lender]

as a Lender for the purpose of making, acquiring, purchasing and/or holding the commercial loans set forth herein as may be applicable to it, and not for the purpose]

0 extend credit hereunder and thereunder. Each Lender and the Issuing Lender also acknowledges that (i) it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, any Arranger or any other Lender or any of thei
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from its obligations under the Subsidiary Guaran

Agreement pursuant to this Section 11.9. In each case as specified in this Section 11.9, the Administrative Agent will, at the Borrower’s expense, execute and deliver to the applicablel

Hedge Agreements in the case of the Revolving Credit Maturity Date, the Term A-1 Loan Maturity Date or the Term A-2 Loan Maturi licable. SECTION 11.11 Erroneous Payments. (a) (&) Each Lender and, the Issuin
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Lender, each other Guaranteed Party and any other party hereto hereby severally agrees that if (i) the Administrative Agent notifies (which such notice shall be conclusive absent manifest error) such Lender or the Issuing Lender or an
lother Guaranteed Party (or the Lender Affiliate of a Guaranteed Pal or any other Person that has received funds from the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates, either for its own account or on behalf of a Lender, the Issuing Lendel
or any other Guaranteed Par ipi “Payment Recipient”) that the Administrative Agent has determined in its sole discretion that any funds received by such Lender or Issuing Lender from the Administrative Agent o

repayment sent by the Administrative Agent (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such payment, prepayment or 119 142746705 6 168697773 4
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provided that nothing in this Section shall require the Administrative Agent to provide any of the extent permitted by Applicable Law, such Lender or Issuing Lendernotices specified in clauses (i) or (i) above. Each Payment Recipient

g p
behalf to), promptly, but in all events no later than one (1) Business Day thereafter, return to the Administrative Agent the amount of any such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made in same da

funds (and in the currency so received), together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Lender or Issuing LenderPayment Recipient to|

hereto and without any payment by the Administrative Agent or its applicable lending affiliate as the assignee of such Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment. The parties hereto acknowledge and 120 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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lagree that (1) any assignment contemplated in this clause (d) shall be made without any requirement for any payment or other consideration paid by the applicable assignee or received by the assignor, (2) the provisions of this clause (d

hereto hereby agrees that (x) in the event an Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) is not recovered from any Lender or Issuing LenderPayment Recipient that has received such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) for any reason)|

p
repayment, discharge or otherwise satisfyother satisfaction of any Obligations owed by the Borrower or any other Credit Party, except, in each case, to the extent such Erroneous Payment is, and solely with respect to the amount of such|

Payment. ARTICLE XIl MISCELLANEOUS SECTION 12.1 Notices. (a) Notices Generally. Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and except as provided in paragraph (b)

below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by facsimile as follows: 121 142746705 _6

168697773 4
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a) ved by the Administrative 122 142746705 _6 168697773 4
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IAgent, provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender or the Issuing Lender pursuant to Article Il if such Lender or suchthe Issuing Lender, as applicable, has notified the Administrative Agent that is incapable of]
, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant

receiving notices under such Article by electronic communication. The Administrative Agent or the Borrower ma
0 procedures approved by it, provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications. Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e
the “return receipt requested” function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), and|

mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender’s receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as b
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ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that suchf
Inotice or communication is available and identifying the website address therefor; provided that, for both clauses (i) and (ii) above, if such notice, email or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient,

lsuch notice, email or other communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient. (c) Administrative Agent's Office. The Administrative Agent hereby designates its office}
located at the address set forth above, or any subsequent office which shall have been specified for such purpose by written notice to the Borrower and Lenders, as the Administrative Agent’s Office referred to herein, to which payments|

land the other Lenders by posting the Borrower Materials on the Platform. (i) The Platform is provided “as is” and “as available.” The Agent Parties (as defined below) do not warrant the accuracy or completeness of the Borrower Materials|

designees or contacts of any Lender or Issuing Lender that are provided access to the Platform and that there may be confidentiality and other risks associated with such form of distribution. Each of the Borrower, each Lender and the
Issuing Lender party hereto understands and accepts such risks. In no event shall the Agent Parties have any liability to any Credit Party, any Lender or any other Person or entity for losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses of any]

kind (whether in tort, contract or otherwise) arising out of any Credit Party’s or the Administrative Agent’s transmission of communications through the Internet (including, without 123 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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limitation, the Platform), except to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable jud

Required Facility Lenders, and not the Required Lenders) (or by the Administrative Agent with the consent of the Required Lenders or the Required Facility Lenders, as applicable) and delivered to the Administrative Agent and, in the

[Commitment of any Lender (or reinstate any Commitment terminated pursuant to Section 10.2) or increase the amount of Loans of any Lender, in any case, without the written consent of such Lender; (d) waive, extend or postpone anyj
date fixed by this Agreement or any other Loan Document for any payment or mandatory prepayment of principal (it being understood that a waiver of a mandatory prepayment under Section 4.4(b) shall only require the consent of the]

Required Term A-1 Loan Lenders and the Required Term A-2 Loan Lenders), interest, fees or other amounts due to the Lenders (or any of them) hereunder or under any other Loan Document without the written consent of each Lende!
directly and adversely affected thereby; 124 142746705 6 168697773 4

slide146

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 282/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

(e) reduce the principal of, or the rate of |merest specified herein on, any Loan or Reimbursement Obllat\on, or (subject to clause (iv) of the proviso set furth in the paragraph below) any fees or other amounts a) able hereunder or undei

ig
Section 9.4), in each case, without the written consent of each Lender; or () change Section 4.4(b)(iv) (or amend any other term of the Loan Documents that would have the effect of changing Section 4.4(b)(iv)) in a manner that would|
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ecte pei
of the affected Class of Lenders that would be required to consent thereto under this Section if such Class of Lenders were the only Class of Lenders hereunder at the time, and (vii) the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall be]
ermitted to amend any provision of the Loan Documents (and such amendment shall become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to any Loan Document) if the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shal

g
lamendments to this Section 12.2) or any of the other Loan Documents or to enter into additional Loan Documents as the Administrative Agent reasonably deems appropriate in order to effectuate the terms of Section 5.15 (including as|

licable thereto); provided that no amendment or modification shall result in|
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increase in the amount of any Lender’s Commitment or any increase in any Lender's Commitment Percentage, in each case, without the written consent of such affected Lender and (3) to make amendments to any outstanding
ranche of Term Loans to permit any Incremental Term Loan Commitments and Incremental Term Loans to be “fungible” (including for purposes of the Code) with such tranche of Term Loans, including increases in the Applicable Margin ol

slide148

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 285/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

rights (A) in connection with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including its rights under this Section, or (B) in connection with the Loans made or Letters of Credit issued hereunder, including all such out of pocket expenses|

ransactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including, without limitation, the Transactions), (i) any Loan or Letter of Credit or the use or proposed use of the proceeds therefrom (including any refusal by the Issuing Lender to honor

other Loan Document, or an: 5
without limitation, reasonable attorneys and consultant's fees, provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined by a

168697773 4
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[Setoff. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each Lender, the Issuing Lender, the Swingline Lender and each of their respective Affiliates is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, after obtaining thef
rior written consent of the Administrative Agent, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final, in whatever currency) at any time held|
time owing by such Lender, such Issuin ’ ingli r such Affiliate to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower or any other Credit Party against any and all
of the obligations of the Borrower or such Credit Party now or hereafter existing under this Agreement or any other Loan Document to such Lender, such Issuing Lender or the Swingline Lender or any of their respective Affiliates
irrespective of whether or not such Lender, such Issuing Lender, the Swingline Lender or any such Affiliate shall have made any demand under this Agreement or any other Loan Document and although such obligations of the Borrower o
lsuch Credit Party may be contingent or unmatured or are owed to a branch or office of such Lender, such Issuing Lender, the Swingline Lender or such Affiliate different from the branch, office or Affiliate holding such 128 142746705

168697773
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Agent for further application in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.4 and, pending such payment, shall be segregated by such Defaulting Lender or Affiliate of a Defaulting Lender from its other funds and deemed held in trust foi

or any other Loan Document (except, as to any other Loan Document, as expressly set forth therein) and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State off

to the fullest extent permitted by]

Applicable Law, in such federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action, litigation or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any othe

irrevocably]
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land unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or an

Document in any court referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such|

laction or proceeding in any such court. 129 142746705 6 168697773 4

slide151

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 289/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

d) Service of Process. Each part 0 ces in Section 1. No Ag 2l

lequitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement. 130 142746705 6 168697773 4
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obligations under this Agreement with respect to the Loan or the Commitment assigned; (iii) Required Consents. No consent shall be required for any assignment except to the extent required by paragraph (b)(i)(B) of this Section and, i

; 131 142746705 6 168697773 4
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share of Loans previously requested, but not funded by, the Defaulting Lender, to each of which the applicable assignee and assignor hereby irrevocably consent), to (A) pay and satisfy in full all payment liabilities then owed by such]

articipations in Letters of Credit and Swingline Loans in accordance with its Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any assignment of rights and obligations of an
hereunder shall become effective under Applicable Law without compliance with the provisions of this paragraph, then the assignee of such interest shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender for all purposes of this Agreement until sucl
lcompliance occurs. Subject to acceptance and recording thereof by the Administrative Agent pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption, the assigned]
hereunder shall be a party to this Agreement and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such 132 142746705 6 168697773 4
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affected parties, no assignment by a Defaulting Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of an:

arty hereunder arising from that Lender's having been a Defaulting Lender. Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or}
obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this paragraph shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with

urported assignment to a natural Person or the Borrower or any of the Borrower’s Subsidiaries or Affiliates, which shall be null and void.
agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices in Charlotte, North Carolina, a co
hames and addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitment of, and prini

aragraph (d) of thi
c) Register. The Administrative Agent, acting solel

of each Assignment and Assumption and each Incremental Amendment delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the]
pal amounts of (and stated interest on

the Loans owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “Register”
hall be conclusive, absent manifest error, and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes|
of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower and any Lender (but onl

. The entries in the Registel

reasonable prior notice. (d) Participations. An

to the extent of entries in the Register that are applicable to such Lender), at any reasonable time and from time to time upor
Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to, the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, sell

articipations to any Person (other than a natural Person, or a holding company|
investment vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of, a natural Person, or the Borrower or any of the Borrower's Subsidiaries or Affiliates) (each, a “Participant”
pbligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and/or the Loans owing to it);

in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/ol
rovided that (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged,

ii) such Lender shall remain solelyf

modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument ma

provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to an

amendment, modification or waiver
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letters of credit or its other obligations under any Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, letter of credit or other obligation is in registered form under|

compulsory process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies under this Agreement, under any other Loan Document or under any Guaranteed Hedge 134 142746705 6 168697773 4|
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subsidiaries or affiliates, (I) to the extent that such information is independently developed by such Person, or (m) for purposes of establishing a “due diligence” defense. For purposes of this Section, “Information” means all informatior

g It
pbligations under this Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents shall be performed by such Credit Party at its sole cost and expense. SECTION 12.12 All Powers Coupled with Interest. All powers of attorney and other
lauthorizations granted to the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and any Persons designated by the Administrative Agent or any Lender pursuant to any provisions of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents shall be deemed|

representations and warranties set forth in Article VIl and all representations and warranties contained in any certificate, or any of the Loan Documents (including, but not limited to, any such representation or warranty made in or in}
connection with any amendment thereto) shall constitute representations and warranties made under this Agreement. All representations and warranties made under this Agreement shall be made or deemed to be made at and as of the]
Closing Date (except those 135 142746705 6 168697773 4
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made as of a specific date), shall survive the Closing Date and shall not be waived by the execution and delivery of this Agreement, any investigation made by or on behalf of the Lenders or any borrowing hereunder. (b
Notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement, the indemnities to which the Administrative Agent and the Lenders are entitled under the provisions of this Article Xl and any other provision of this Agreement and the other Loan|

Documents shall continue in full force and effect and shall protect the Administrative Agent and the Lenders against events arising after such termination as well as before. SECTION 12.14 Titles and Captions. Titles and captions of]
Articles, Sections and subsections in, and the table of contents of, this Agreement are for convenience only, and neither limit nor ampli provision of thig]
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Agreement or any other Loan Document which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remainder of sucl

Execution. The words “execute,” “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” “deliven

slide158

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 298/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

enforcement of remedies, bankruptc
the Lenders and any of the Credit Parties, electronic images of this Agreement or any other Loan Document (in each case, including with respect to any signature pages thereto) shall have the same legal effect,

g
hen due) arising hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall have been indefeasibly and irrevocably paid and satisfied in full, all Letters of Credit have been terminated or expired (or been Cash Collateralized or otherwise satisfied|

g under anyf
covenant contained in Articles VIII or IX, before or after giving effect to such transaction or act, the Borrower shall or would be in breach of any other covenant contained in Articles VIl or IX. SECTION 12.20 No Advisory or Fiducial

related arranging or other services in connection therewith (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or of any other Loan Document) are an arm's-length commercial transaction between the|
Borrower and its Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and the Lenders, on the other hand, and the Borrower is capable of evaluating and understanding and understands and accepts the terms, risks and|
conditions of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Loan Documents (including any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or thereof), (ii) in connection with the process leading to such transaction, 137]

142746705 6 168697773 4
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connection with the exercise of the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of the applicable Resolution Authority. SECTION 12.23 Certain ERISA Matters. (a) Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became
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behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and perform the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the]

Letters of Credit, the Commitments and this Agreement satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part | of PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best knowledge of such Lender, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part | of PTE 84
14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments and this Agreement; or (iv) such other representation, warranty and|
ovenant as may be agreed in writing between the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, and such Lender. (b) In addition, unless either (1) sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true with respect to a Lender or (2

Lender has provided another representation, warranty and covenant in accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the inmediatel

Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, 139 142746705 6 168697773 4]
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[Support (and any such interest, obligation and rights in property) were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. In the event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered Pa

accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party. “Covered Entity” means any of the followin: a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b); (i) a “covered bank” as that term i
efined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 47.3(b); or (iii)) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b). 140 142746705 6 168697773 4
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‘Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. 8§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable. “OFC” has the meaning assigned to the term “qualified financial contract” in, and|
Ishall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D). [Signature pages to followintentionally omitted.] 141 142746705 6 168697773 4]

slide163

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 304/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

169124271 3 ANNEX B AMENDED EXHIBITS]
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. Inc., as Borrower, the lenders party thereto, as Lenders, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associal

[FORM OF NOTICE OF BORROWING
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Exhibit B Form of Notice of Borrowing 169124271 3 NOTICE OF BORROWING Dated as of: Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent 2450 Colorado Avenue Suite 3000W Santa Monica,|
California 90404 Attn: Tyler Technologies Relationship Manager Ladles and Gentlemen: This irrevocable Notice of Borrowin i ursuant to Section 2. 3 of the Credit Agreement dated as of April 21, 2021 (as amended,)
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jsuch Loan. [Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]
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Exhibit B Form of Notice of Borrowing 169124271 3 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Notice of Borrowing as of the day and year first written above. TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC. By: Name: Title:|
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, Inc., as Borrower, the lenders pal

[FORM OF NOTICE OF PREPAYMEN

thereto, as Lenders, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent
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EXthIt D Form of Notice of Prepa mem 169124271 3 NOTICE OF PREPAYMENT Daled as of: Wells Faro Bank National Association, as Admlmstrallve Agent 2450 Colorado Avenue Suite 3000W. Sanla Monica,]
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[Exhibit D Form of Notice of Prepayment 169124271 3 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Notice of Prepayment as of the day and year first written above. TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC. By: Name: Title:|
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21 by and among Tyler Technologies, Inc., as Borrower, the lenders party thereto, as Lenders, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agen

[FORM OF NOTICE OF CONVERSION/CONTINUATION
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Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent 2450 Colorado Avenue

Exhibit E Form of Notice of Conversion/Continuation 169124271 3 NOTICE OF CONVERSION/CONTINUATION Dated as of:
Suite 3000W Santa Monica, California 90404 Attn: Tyler Technologies Relationship Manager Ladies and Gentlemen: This irrevocable Notice of Conversion/Continuation

[Credit Agreement dated as of April 21, 2021 (as amended, restated, extended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, h
‘Borrower"), the Lenders party thereto and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Administrative Agent. Capitalized terms used herein and not

Requested effective date of conversion: Requested new Interest Period:
Last day of the current Interest Period: Reguested effective date of conversion:
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Principal amount to be continued: $
day of the current Interest Period: Requested effective date of continuation: 3. The aggregate principal amount of all Loans and L/C Obligationd]
outstanding as of the date hereof does not exceed the maximum amount permitted to be outstanding pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement. 4. All of the conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement have been satisfied or waived|

as of the date hereof and will remain satisfied or waived to the date of such conversion or continuation. [Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]
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is Notice of Conversion/Continuation as of the day and year first written above. TYLER TECHNOLOGIES)
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[FORM OF OFFICER’'S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATH]
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Exhibit F Form of Officer's Compliance Certificate 169124271 3 OFFICER'S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE Dated as of:

Association, as Administrative Agent. Capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the Credit Agreement. 2. | have reviewed the financial statements of the Borrower and it

las of April 21, 2021 (as amended, restated, extended, supplemented or otherwi
and for the i

justments and the absence of footnotes. 3|
| have reviewed the terms of the Credit Agreement, and the related Loan Documents and have made, or caused to be made under my supervision, a review in reasonable detail of the transactions and the condition of the Borrower and its}
Subsidiaries during the accounting period covered by the financial statements referred to in Paragraph 2 above. Such review has not disclosed the existence during or at the end of such accounting period of any condition or event that
constitutes a Default or an Event of Default, nor do | have any knowledge of the existence of any such condition or event as at the date of this certificate [except, if such condition or event existed or exists, describe the nature and period off
in Section 9.13 of the Credit Agreement as shown on such Schedule 1(a), the Applicable Margin and calculations determining such figures are set forth on the attached Schedule 1(b), and the Borrower and its Subsidiaries are inf
compliance with the other covenants and restrictions contained in the Credit Agreement. 5. [The attached Schedule 2 sets forth (a) the names of each Immaterial Subsidiary as of the date of this certificate and (b) calculations|

that c
which calculations, for any Immaterial Subsidian ired since the end of such period or such date, as the case

e Borro laries, taken as a whol Ch Of , | organized or acquired 3
[determined on a pro forma basis as if such Subsidiary were in existence or acquired on such date) and (i) that Immaterial Subsidiaries do not account for, in the aggregate, more than (A) fifteen percent]
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Exhlbn F Form of Offu:er 5 Comhance Certlflcate 169124271 3 (15%) of the aggregate net book value of the assets of the Borrower and its Subsldlanes or (B) twenty percent (20%) of the Consolidated revenue of the Borrower and |ts

reement.
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Exhibit F Form of Officer's Compliance Certificate 169124271 3 IN WITNESS W i icer’ il i above. TYLER T|
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169124271 3 Schedule 1(a) to Officer's Compliance Certificate For the Quarter/Year ended the “Statement Date”) I. Consolidated EBITDA. A. Consolidated Net Income:[1] $

af‘ler the Closing Date that have been consummated during the applicable erlod C Iease lermlnatlon payments made W|th|n 12 months of an Permmed Acu\swtlon any Specified Disposition and/or any other restructuring or other|
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period of determination shall no

: $ D. The sum of the following, without]
Consolidated Net Income: $

B. Consolidated EBITDA for the period of four (4) consecutive fiscal quarters ending on the Statement Date (Line |.F above): $

Fﬁ slide181

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 325/334

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

lidated Total Net Leverage Ratio
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169124271 3 IIl. Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio. A. Consolidated EBITDA for the period of four (4) consecutive fiscal quarters ending on the Statem ine |. : $ B. Consolidated Interest Expense for thej
beriod of four (4) consecutive fiscal guarters ending on the Statement Date: $ C. Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio (Line IIl.A [ Line l1I.B): 0 1. ini i I i i
Section 9.13(b) of the Credit Agreement: 3.00 to 1.00 E. In Compliance? Yes/No
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169124271 3 Schedule 1(b) to Officer's Compliance Certificate Revolving Credit Loans and Term A-1 Loans Term A-2 Loans Pricing Level Consolidated Total Net Leverage Ratio Commitment Fee Adjusted Term SOFR + Base Rate
Adjusted Term SOFR + Base Rate + | Less than to 1.00 to 1.00 0.15% 1.125% 0.125% 0.875% 0.00% I Greater than or equal to 1.00 to 1.00, but less than 1.50 to 1.00 0.20% 1.25% 0.25% 1.00% 0.00% Il Greater than or equal to 1.50|
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raph 2 of the Officer’s Compliance Certificate, has assets that constitute less than seven ai

i
idiarie:

whole of which calculations, for any Immaterial Subsidiary organized or acquired since the end of such period or such date, as the case may be, shall be determined on a pro forma basis as if such Subsi
or acquired on such date) and (i) that Immaterial Subsidiaries do not account for, in the aggregate, more than (A) fifteen percent (15%) of the aggregate net book value of the assets of the Borrower and its Subsi
percent (20%) of the Consolidated revenue of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.] 1 Such Immaterial Subsidiary calculations to be provided at each time financial statements are delivered pursuant to Sections 8.1(a) or (b) of the Credi]

reement.

F-39
Exhibit 21.1
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All corporations are subsidiaries of Tyler Technologies and, if indented, subsidiaries of the company under which they are listed.

Subsidiaries

SUBSIDIARIES OF TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

As of February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024

Organized Under the Laws of:

Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC
Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC
Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD
Cavu Corporation
Tyler Federal, LLC
Harris Custom Programming, LLC
MicroPact Philippines, Inc.
ARInspect, LLC
ARInspect India Pty Ltd.
Computing System Innocations, LLC
NIC Inc.
National Online Registries, LLC
NIC Federal, LLC
NIC Services, LLC
NIC Solutions, LLC
NICUSA, Inc.LLC
Alabama Interactive, LLC
Arkansas Information Consortium, LLC
Colorado Interactive, LLC
Connecticut Interactive, LLC
Hawaii Information Consortium, LLC
Idaho Information Consortium, LLC
Illinois Interactive, LLC
Indiana Interactive, LLC
Kansas Information Consortium, LLC
Kentucky Interactive, LLC
Local Government Online Indiana, LLC
Louisiana Interactive, LLC
Maine Information Network, LLC
Maryland Interactive, LLC
Michigan Interactive, LLC
Mississippi Interactive, LLC
Montana Interactive, LLC
Nebraska Interactive, LLC
New Jersey Interactive, LLC
New Mexico Interactive, LLC
NIC Healthcare Solutions, LLC
NIC lowa, LLC (fka lowa Interactive, LLC)
NIC Licensing Solutions, LLC
Oklahoma Interactive, LLC
Oregon Information Consortium, LLC
Pennsylvania Interactive, LLC
Rhode Island Interactive, LLC
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Delaware
Canada
Australia
North Carolina
Virginia
Georgia
Philippines
Delaware
India
Delaware
Delaware
Colorado
Kansas
Colorado
Colorado
Kansas
Alabama
Arkansas
Colorado
Connecticut
Hawaii
Idaho
lllinois
Indiana
Kansas
Kentucky
Indiana
Louisiana
Maine
Maryland
Michigan
Mississippi
Montana
Nebraska
New Jersey
New Mexico
Kansas
lowa
Colorado
Oklahoma
Oregon
Pennsylvania
Rhode Island

Exhibit 21.1
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Pennsylvania Interactive, LLC Pennsylvania

Rhode Island Interactive, LLC Rhode Island
South Carolina Interactive, LLC South Carolina
South Dakota Interactive, LLC South Dakota
Texas NICUSA, LLC Texas
Utah Interactive, LLC Utah
Construction Registry Services, LLC Utah
Vermont Information Consortium, LLC Vermont
Virginia Interactive, LLC Virginia
West Virginia Interactive, LLC West Virginia
Wisconsin Interactive Network, LLC Wisconsin
Delaware Interactive, LLC Delaware
Florida Interactive, LLC Florida
New York Information Consortium, LLC New York
North Carolina Interactive, LLC North Carolina
Tennessee Information Consortium, LLC Tennessee
Washington Interactive, LLC Washington
Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC Utah
Software Exchange, LLC Kansas
Tsunami Surf Riders, LLC Kansas
US eDirect Inc. LLC New York
US eDirect Canada Inc. Canada
US eDirect Australia PTY LTD Australia
VendEngine Inc. Tennessee

The names of certain subsidiaries are omitted, as such subsidiaries in the aggregate would not constitute a significant subsidiary.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-225011) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Option Plan,
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-182318) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

Exhibit 23

of our reports dated February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Tyler Technologies, Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting of Tyler Technologies, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Tyler Technologies, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31,

2023.

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 202321, 2024

CERTIFICATIONS
1, H. Lynn Moore, Jr., certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tyler Technologies, Inc.;
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2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Tyler and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (The
registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.
Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: /s/ H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
1, Brian K. Miller, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tyler Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Tyler and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
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accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (The
registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.
Date: February 22, 2023 February 21, 2024 By: /s/ Brian K. Miller
Brian K. Miller

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

H. Lynn Moore, Jr., President and Chief Executive Officer of Tyler Technologies, Inc., (the “Company”) and Brian K. Miller, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, each certify pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation.

Date: February 22, 2023 February 21,
2024 By: /s/ H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
By: /s/ Brian K. Miller
Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Tyler Technologies, Inc. and will be retained by Tyler Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY'S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT
OR OTHER DECISIONS.
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